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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution 
 
Relating to regulation of physician assistants (PA’s).  
 

Minutes 
                                  

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12 

 
Chairman Weisz: Opened hearing.  
 
Supportive testimony.  
 
Representative Devlin: (See attachment 1) 

 
Duane Houdeck, ND Academy of PAs:  Introduced Dr. Leingang.  
  
Dr. Gordy Leingang: (See attachment 2) 
 
Mr. Houdek: (See attachment 3) 
 
Representative Rohr: Section 2 excluding imaging, does that include chest X-rays or determine 
fractures?  
 
Mr. Houdek: I better differ to the PA’s here.  
 
Representative Porter: You talked about the continuing education (CE) requirements. Typically, we 
have put that in the Century Code because some boards we’re not going to impact.  Do we need to 
reference back to maintain certification at national boards level?  Their CE and those kinds of things 
like we’ve done with other professions as we have morphed them out onto their own.  
 
Mr. Houdek: I believe it’s already covered.  In order to get a ND state license, you have to be 
nationally certified. And in order to be nationally certified you have to take the exams and do the CE.  
 
Representative Porter: We have had issues in the past where we have expanded practitioners and 
then the board decides to break ties and continuing education is not being done because of the 
recertification requirements were to much.  I feel due to history; we are leaving a lot of the rules part 
out. 
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Mr. Houdek: This is how it’s been at the board forever, since the licensure.  The CE is far greater for 
PA’s than doctors or nurse practitioners, and I don’t see anything on the horizon would cause them 
to look the other way. I know that doesn’t address the future, but that hasn’t been the position of the 
board.    
 
Representative Porter: I appreciate that.  The problem is when the move is happening to make the 
profession independent, then they used to be under the physician and under that umbrella, even 
though the national boards are still a requirement, it probably wasn’t as important because the PA 
was under someone else. Now that we are moving towards the independence, the tie back top that 
national standard and CE needs to be independent as well.  
 
Mr. Houdek: This bill, although it is seeking to get rid of that supervisory contract to one specific 
physician, is not seeking independent practice. It states that they will practice within a physician 
owned facility or within an institution that has a credential. The one exception to that is if the board of 
medicine finds an area of unmet or underserved and they find a PA to provide under met needs, they 
can specifically approve an independent practice. That will be very rare though. Otherwise they have 
to remain in the credential organized practice.  
 
Representative Skroch: Section 4 pg. 4 describes PA and how they may describe themselves, I’m 
confused as to the wording in lines 30 and 31 on page 4 and lines 1 and 2 on page 5, can you explain 
those please? 
 
Mr. Houdek: Understand your view.  I believe it would be explained as someone who is not a licensed 
PA can’t put themselves out to public as a practicing one or act as a PA or use that abbreviation. If 
someone is not licensed, but meets the qualifications, they can use the title of PA, but not act or 
practice. It was giving them the ability to cite their degree, but not practice.  
 
Representative Skroch: What problem is this addressing? 
 
Mr. Houdek: I don’t know of any problem of abuse of title, but maybe one of the PAs can give us an 
example.  
 
Representative Westlind: Right now they have to be supervised for 4000 hours? Correct? How 
many hours then, or how does this bill reduce the requirement? 
 
Mr. Houdek: No, it doesn’t reduce any requirement, that part was put in at the request of ND Medical 
Association. This is for that context of having an exceptionally approved independent practice for the 
underserved areas. And the hour requirements are for that situation so that a brand new graduate 
can’t go practice in the unmet areas alone.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken, Board of Medicine: Our board looked at the language and unanimously 
approved and stand in support of HB1175.  To answer Representative Porter’s question regarding 
the requirements for practice, PA’s may not practice unless they are nationally accredited, and they 
have to have 100 CE hours to renew the license.  
 
Jay Metzger, PA, President of ND Academy of Physician Assistant: (See attachment 4) 
 
Representative Rohr: Is there any performance chart reviews that will be in this law? 
 
Dr. Metzger: No.  If I may answer a question from earlier about the PA title. It is more so a national 
thing than a state thing. If someone comes into the state saying that they are a PA, but not licensed, 
they can say they are a PA. It isn’t a huge issue for us though.  
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Representative Rohr:  When a PA is through with the didactic, is there a length of time before 
graduation and the licensing exam? 
 
Dr. Metzger:  Yes, PA students have to put PA Student for that as their title. It is mores to keep 
imposters out of the mix. 
 
Kate Larson, PA: (see attachment 5)  
 
Representative Porter: Being on the board of medicine and a PA, explain to me the steps that need 
to be taken for a PA to be licensed to be able to do a needle biopsy for a computed tomography (CT) 
scan or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)?  
 
Dr. Larson: We cannot receive certification in that area. We can order X-ray and we can look at them, 
but those films are also sent to a radiologist asking for those results. We may assist in those 
procedures. Never intended to look at those things but to help primary care, not to do our own 
procedures. 
 
Representative Porter:  Section 3 doesn’t say what you just said. Even up through subsection 3 Pg. 
3.  I understand you aren’t saying you are expanding into these procedures now, but nowhere in here 
does it say you can’t either.  
 
Dr. Larson:  We have not ever been involved in actually performing MRIs. We can’t perform x-rays 
because we are not licensed to do them.  
 
Representative Rohr: Reimbursement change same level as Physicians? 
 
Dr. Larson: National Level we will have a problem, until some things change nationally. 
 
Representative Porter:  What about ND Medicaid?  Are those patients fully reimbursable for your 
services? 
 
Dr. Larson: I would have to rely on Jay to answer the question.  
 
Shirley Porter, President of the ND Medical Imaging and Radiation Therapy Board: (see 
attachment 6) 
 
Ms. Porter: If a PA were interested in performing imaging, they could request to be limited x-ray 
operators.  
 
Representative Rohr:  Remove preforming, concerned about strep tests, stool cultures, those kinds 
of things that they can do in small clinics that they won’t be able to do it we took out that word. 
 
Ms. Porter: Noted. 
 
Dr. Luke Roller, Bismarck Rad Associates, Independent: (See attachment 7) 
 
Danielle Goetz, Vice President of the ND Society of Radiologic Technologists: (see attachment 
8) 
 
Carmen Barrios, Radiologist Assistant: (See attached 9) 
 
Opposed Testimony.  
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Dr. Edward Fogarty, Chair of Radiology for the School of Medicine for University of ND: This 
is a scope of practice bill. I believe there has been a misrepresentation as to what goes on inside 
medicine.  Brain tapping to help those that are not licensed as Radiologists and are specialized. Rural 
Hospitals where PAs are managing the care of patients and aren’t as educated.  With PAs they have 
2 years of training VS. Physicians 7-11 years, if specialized.  There could potentially be Medicare 
issues that arise when billing individuals for some of the procedures that are being done by a PA 
when they need to be done by a licensed physician instead.  Our attorneys do not have the big picture 
as to how liable we are for certain Medicare billing violations.  If PA is bending the rules, there much 
greater repercussions than if a licensed physician would. We need to have an opportunity to put 
language into the bill that protects the specialists.  These are just some of the things that we need to 
pay close attention to when deciding if this bill should or shouldn’t be passed. A PA doesn’t have the 
same amount of knowledge or training as a physician does, yet this bill would allow them to run their 
own rural practice right out of school, while many of my own students wouldn’t be able to do that 
because they are required to go to a residency before they can practice independently.  
 
Testimonies 10-12 were handed in after the hearing was closed, and were not discussed.  
 
No further testimony or questions.  
Meeting closed.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to regulation of Physician assistants 
 

Minutes:                                                  

 
Opened hearing.  
 
Representative Porter: After the hearing, the board of radiology brought in the amendment 
that they thought would work. The board of medical examiners looked at the amendment and 
said they were in agreement with it, but would want to add “real time visual guidance for 
another procedure.” That would be in the case of putting in an advanced airway using 
sonography or a different tool. That was then agreed upon and all other agreed upon 
language discussed in the hearing. I motion to move the amendment.  
 
Representative Ruby: Second.  
 
Representative Rohr: So if we remove the word performing, that doesn’t disallow them to 
be doing blood tests or that kind of thing?  
 
Representative Devlin: From the PA standpoint, they were okay with that, so I am okay with 
it.  
 
Representative Weisz: Ok so it would read, “ordering and evaluating a diagnostic study and 
therapeutic procedure?  
 
Representative Devlin: Correct.  
 
Representative Weisz: Then add the new language after procedure.  
 
Voice Vote. Motion carried.  
 
Representative Devlin: Motion for a do pass as amended.  
 
Representative Rohr: Second. 
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Representative Skroch: I’m wondering if anyone visited with Dr. Fogerty to see if he is ok 
with the changes?  
 
Representative Porter: I believe that with the amendment, even though Dr. Fogerty went to 
along was to get to his opposition, I think the amendment, his concern would be addressed.  
 
Representative Weisz: His other concern isn’t addressed with this bill, which is in fact that 
any doctor should be allowed to practice without residency. That is a whole other issue.   
 
Roll call vote: 12 Yes, 0 No, 2 Absent. Motion passed.  
 
Representative Porter has floor assignment.  
 
Meeting closed.  
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Adopted by the Human Services Committee 

January 28, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1175 

Page 2, line 30, remove ", performing," 

Page 2, line 30, replace "interpreting" with "evaluating" 

Page 3, line 1, after the underscored closing parenthesis insert: "Performing a diagnostic study 
or therapeutic procedure not involving the use of medical imaging as defined in section 
43-62-01 or radiation therapy as defined in section 43-62-01: 

.(fil Performing limited sonography on a focused imaging target to 
assess specific and limited information about a patient's medical 
condition or to provide real-time visual guidance for another 
procedure: 

.{fil" 

Page 3, line 2, replace ".(fil" with "ill" 
Page 3, line 3, replace ".{fil" with ".(fil" 

Page 3, line 5, after "measures" insert "not involving the use of medical imaging as defined in 
section 43-62-01 or radiation therapy as defined in section 43-62-01" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.0736.01001 
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Module ID: h_stcomrep_ 17 _004 
Carrier: Porter 

Insert LC: 19.0736.01001 Title: 02000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1175: Human Services Committee (Rep. Weisz, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS 
(12 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 2 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1175 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 2, line 30, remove ", performing," 

Page 2, line 30, replace "interpreting" with "evaluating" 

Page 3, line 1, after the underscored closing parenthesis insert: "Performing a diagnostic 
study or therapeutic procedure not involving the use of medical imaging as defined in 
section 43-62-01 or radiation therapy as defined in section 43-62-01: 

.(fil Performing limited sonography on a focused imaging target to 
assess specific and limited information about a patient's 
medical condition or to provide real-time visual guidance for 
another procedure: 

@" 

Page 3, line 2, replace ".(fil" with "ill" 
Page 3, line 3, replace "@" with ".(fil" 

Page 3, line 5, after "measures" insert "not involving the use of medical imaging as defined 
in section 43-62-01 or radiation therapy as defined in section 43-62-01" 

Renumber accordingly 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to regulation of Physician assistants. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments #1-8 

 
Madam Chair Lee opens the hearing on HB 1175. 
 
(00:55-02:31) Representative Bill Devlin, District 23 introduces HB 1175 and provides 
testimony to the committee. Please see Attachment #1 for written testimony.  
 
(03:31-09:53) Dr. Gordy Leingang, Emergency and Trauma Physician for the Mid-
Dakota Clinic. Testifying in support of HB 1175. Testimony is as follows: My entire physician 
career I have been a very active mentor, teacher, and recruiter with clinical faculty and 
physician assistants. I work with and teach both physician assistants and nurse practitioners. 
In fact, I had the pleasure of marrying a nurse practitioner, my wife Jackie. I have to say for 
the record that my personal doctor is a physician assistant and I can get my medical care 
wherever I want to and it happens to be someone I helped train. Some of the PA’s in the 
room were some of my students. I believe that I can offer some help when it comes to 
considering this important bill. As you consider this bill please understand that particularly in 
smaller 38 rural hospitals and 50 clinics in North Dakota, physician assistants are grouped in 
with primary and emergency care seeing patients of all ages. It’s a for one conclusion that 
we could not provide these services if it were not for our physician assistants. They are 
absolutely the front line in our smaller communities as well as our larger cities. Physician 
assistants direly need to free themselves from the outdated rules that accomplish nothing 
and make it more difficult for PA’s to do what it is they do and in particular it makes it very 
difficult for them to appeal to employers because the statute makes it quite burdensome. The 
original 1975 statute has been rendered obsolete. The younger nurse practitioners saw how 
such a model significantly encumbers the practice and early on sought and gained 
independent practice in 2001. I can cite several examples from clinics and hospitals that have 
passed on hiring excellent and high skilled physician assistants because (inaudible). The law 
is simply out of date. I can share numerous anecdotes from physician assistants who were 
sidelined and simply not hired because the hospitals and clinics didn’t want to jump through 
the hoops that existed. Ultimately a little pushing and shoving St. Alexius of hiring physician 
assistants in the emergency department and we have hired some absolutely stellar clinical 
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physicians. The same is true for Mid Dakota Clinic and they are aligned in support with this 
bill. Time permitting, I could tell you about the stories of working with PA’s in my Bismarck 
practice and working with them during my military appointments overseas. PA’s often have 
skill sets that superior to the physicians that they are working with. Some of my best teachers 
were PA’s and that by the way is why I decided to be here I wanted to give back. Today you 
are going to hear from a couple of PA’s who I have had the privilege of accepting patients 
from, so I get to witness the exceptional care that they give every single day. You will meet 
Kate Larson who is well seasoned and a superb clinician PA who sends me patients all the 
time. It is no exaggeration when I say you hope that Kate is looking after you if you get hurt 
or sick in your community and she is just a small example of what goes on day by day in 
North Dakota. PA’s and nurse practitioners are the front line. The point is that the safety net 
that ensures PA’s is supervised or accountable with the care that they deliver is well in place 
by the rules established by the North Dakota Board of Medical Examiners. The 44-year-old 
statue does not facilitate that, it hinders that. Please understand that PA’s get their 
supervision from the credentialing and privileging process through their employer. The 
supervisory contract is burdensome to doctors and causing employers hesitation in hiring 
PA’s, the scope of practice for PA’s stays the same it is determined by credentialing. You will 
see that the PA’s have an exceptionally strong track record in our state. This bill is long 
overdue, well thought out, and well written. I hope the committee will give this a pass vote.  
 
Senator Anderson: Talk to us about the program that you have where the PA would need 
to have contract of supervision up to the 4,000 hours, process for that, and why that is. 
 
Dr. Leingang: I think that seeks to understand that all of the medical providers deserve a 
little bit of time to get their feet wet. Students right out of school need a little bit of TLC if you 
will to get started in their practices and that seeks to protect our citizens.  
 
Senator Anderson: Originally most of our PA’s came from a solid military training talk about 
the transition from that training that they had to the training that we have today.  
 
Dr. Leingang: I have 44 years of military service and that is where I became to know PA’s. 
They were birthed out of Vietnam where very seasoned medics were doing things that 
doctors wouldn’t even do. That became the birthplace of PA’s. You should also know that 
PA’s in the military take care of the majority of medical care that is given in the combat setting. 
Half the time I would work in the trauma bay who were doing things that I just assumed were 
doctors but they were PA’s.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: You may be interested to know that there is a bill working its way through 
the legislature that will make it much easier for military veterans and spouses to be able to 
be licensed through reciprocity in a variety of occupations.  
 
(13:39) Duane Houdek, representing the ND Academy of Physician Assistants. 
Testifying in support of HB 1175. Please see Attachment #2 for written testimony.  
 
Duane Houdek: I just want to clarify the question to Dr. Leingang about the 4,000 hours. 
When the bill was presented and gone through with the Board of Medical Examiners they 
were unanimously in favor of the removal of the supervisory contract and the PA’s were stuck 
on not having their own private practice, they are trained to collaborate with physicians and 
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they intend to keep doing that. an exemption was made where on a case by case basis that 
if the Board of Medicine determines that there is an underserved area that can’t otherwise 
be served then a PA could set up an independent practice to serve that area. It is that area 
you need the 4000 hours.  
 
(25:00) Senator K. Roers: I am lax in my own knowledge about how it works today, what 
will really be the difference besides you not having to sign the contract if we pass this.  
 
Duane Houdek: I’ve thought about that a lot; I don’t think there will be any difference. They 
group PA’s and NP’s together right now. They are called advanced practice providers or 
allied health providers they do the same thing with both of them but they say you’re not 
trained enough to do this so you can’t do this and the bill re-enforcing that. There still must 
be that same collaboration.  
 
Senator K. Roers: So there is no co-signing required with a PA.  
 
Duane Houdek: When this all started cosigning had to be everywhere, chart review, on site 
presence. There is no cosigning they right their own scripts, they may want to be on under 
supervision for billing. it is not like any of those things that I talked about in the emergency 
room being done and co-signed by the physician.  
 
Senator K. Roers: Do you know state by state comparison who has this and etc.  
 
Duane Houdek: I do not, I know that there is a wide smattering of the way both NP’s and 
PA’s are treated in other states. I know there are other states where PA’s can have their own 
clinics but I don’t know if they have that specific supervisory contract.  
 
Senator Anderson: Your description about the PA and how they work, we have a federally 
qualified health clinic in turtle lake, they have most of the time one physician who covers 
those 8 different branches I’m not sure if they have the same credential approval process. 
Do you see any impediments about the PA’s working in that environments under your current 
criteria? 
 
Duane Houdek: I really don’t, when you look at most of the facilities in the state, they’re 
either connected to a larger hospital somewhere and if there are smaller ones they would still 
have a credentialing process that says what all their employees can do. Let’s say they don’t, 
the rest of this bill addresses not only the collaboration but it also addresses the limitation on 
the ability to practice where they do not have adequate training and experience. Will everyone 
follow that exactly, I don’t know. NP’s have been practicing in those same places with the 
independence that they have and the sky hasn’t fallen. We don’t hear lots of cases about this 
where someone has suffered by the hands of a NP. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Their education is different as well.  
 
Senator Anderson: I’m not saying that these PA’s aren’t qualified, I’m just wondering if your 
description having to work in this place where they have all this will be an impediment for 
them working in one of those eight federally qualified clinics that we have because there is 
only one physician who’s had as I said sometimes there is one position the way the 
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government works of course somebody has to sign the paperwork. Previously we had a semi-
retired physician and now we have one in Rolette long ways from all the other clinics but 
there it’s one. 
 
Duane Houdek: I’m sorry I misunderstood. No, I think this is what it could do they could be 
liberated where they could serve in those types of hospitals.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I also question your statement about them being affiliated with a hospital 
because at least in Fargo at the family healthcare center does not have a connection with 
just one hospital. If an individual wanted to go to a hospital or the other, it is up to the patient. 
I’m a big fan of FQHC’s for a while and I don’t think that there is any necessary tie because 
it’s particularly looking at the circumstance that Senator Anderson was talking about, some 
of those outlined rural FQHC’s satellites that you have are closer to one hospital than the 
other. I don’t think it is there. 
 
Duane Houdek: I may have used that hospital as too big a word, if you replace that with 
facility they are going to have those and I think we got a lot of support from those very 
institutions that we are talking about that will say this will make it better for us.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: And we want that. Any more questions for Mr. Houdek? If not, thank you.  
 
(33:40-39:03) Jay Metzger, Physician Assistant and President of the North Dakota 
Academy of Physician Assistants (NDAPA). Testifying in support of HB 1175. Please see 
Attachment #3 for written testimony. Please see Attachment #4 for additional written 
testimony provided by Jay Metzger from multiple medical organizations and physicians 
supporting HB 1175. 
 
(39:52) Bonnie Storbakken, representing the North Dakota Board of Medicine. 
Testifying in support of HB 1175. Testimony is as follows: We had folks provide us with a 
draft of this and our board unanimously stated that we support this bill. When we receive 
complaints on any of our licensees, PA’s in particularly though it’s a little bit different because 
we look at the complaint not only on the side if the PA violated our practices act but also if 
the supervising position violated the practices act.  I will tell you that historically since I have 
been there, it has been the focus of our board to look at the PA’s behavior rather than the 
supervising physician. I believe there are times, prior to my time, where that supervising 
physician may have been disciplined for not supervising properly. That in and of itself speaks 
to why the PA’s bring forward this bill and how our board looks at the supervising role and 
those documents that have to be filed with every renewal and any time that supervision 
changes, with that I would stand for any questions the committee may have. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any questions, if not, thank you.  
 
(42:18-45:25) Kate Larson, Physician Assistant. Testifying in support of HB 1175. Please 
see Attachment #5 for written testimony.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: The uniform interstate compact that passed the senate and believe was 
voted out of the house, does that include PA’s? 
 



Senate Human Services Committee  
HB 1175 
3/19/2019 
Page 5  
   

Kate Larson: It does not.  
 
(46:59-47:22) Aaron Birst, North Dakota Association of Counties. Testifying in support 
of HB 1175. Testimony is as follows: All the testimony has been great. I will just start off by 
saying the Association of Counties as you know has significant amount of member who are 
rural and we feel that this will impact our rural areas and we agree with this bill and 
recommend a do pass.  
 
(47:40-49:51) Shirley Porter, President of the North Dakota Medical Imaging and 
Radiation Therapy Board (NDMIRT). Testifying in support of HB 1175. Please see 
Attachment #6 for written testimony.  
 
Senator Anderson: I noticed in the bill there were some exclusions. My understanding is 
PA’s can order X-rays but they can’t read them  
 
Shirley Porter: PA’s can more than certainly review images in their scope, it is the 
performance of the x-ray that they can’t do.  
 
Senator K. Roers: How many states have gotten rid of the supervisory contract? There are 
five states that are working on getting rid of them so is definitely the beginning stage. 
 
(52:00-55:09) Stacy Pfenning, Executive Director for the North Dakota Board of 
Nursing (NDBON). Offering neutral testimony on HB 1175. Please see Attachment #7 for 
written testimony.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I’m very appreciative of you both working on this because I think it is very 
interesting to see that it doesn’t mean that two different disciplines can’t do much of the same 
thing but we may have some differences as well.  
 
Stacy Pfenning: I think was of the differences too that was interesting was, we have an 
eight-page scope of practice within our rules and I don’t know if that is something that they 
will be doing but in our practices act we are required to do rules to implement. I can tell you 
the rules that we have help us a lot in the regulatory world, making sure everyone is staying 
in their lanes and doing what they are supposed to do. We also have the privilege of 
credentialing through the facilities that are required to do.  
 
Madam Chair Lee closes the hearing on HB 1175.  
 
Additional supporting testimony was provided to the committee from Carla Barrios, 
Radiologist Assistant (RA). Please see Attachment #8 for written testimony.  
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Minutes:                                                 No Attachments 

 
Madam Chair Lee opens the discussion on HB 1175. 
 
Senator Anderson: I move a DO PASS on HB 1175.  
Seconded by Senator O. Larsen 
 
Senator O. Larsen: I can remember that Dr. Wilson took care of me on the reservation and 
delivered my First Lady of district 3 and her other brothers and sisters and he was a Harvard 
graduate and did a wonderful job in New Town and that area. He is now gone, he was helping 
with the information area here and did some other things in his retirement. Now my nephew’s 
wife is a PA at the farmstead and she reached out to me about this bill and I just think it was 
a great idea and I’m glad it passed.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Remarkable man, he was the doctor of the day here many times and a 
special person to a lot of us.  
 
(01:44-03:05) The committee engages in an informal discussion. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: Anything further before we move on with our vote on HB 1175? If not, 
please call the roll.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN 
6 YEA, 0 NAY, 0 ABSENT 
MOTION CARRIES DO PASS 
Senator Anderson will carry HB 1175 to the floor.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: We will be hearing all of our bills by the end of the day tomorrow. Next 
week we will be on the floor until about 3:15 p.m. so that appropriations can go to work. We 
really need to get our ducks in a row so that we can get things done.  
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Madam Chair Lee closes the discussion on HB 1175. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE 
ROLL CALL VOTES 

BILL/RESOLUTION NO. I 17 t 

Senate Human Services 

D Subcommittee 

Amendment LC # or Description: 

Date: 3/JtJt./lq 
Roll C all Vote #: J 

Committee 

-----------------------
Recommendation: D Adopt Amendment 

§Z. Do Pass D Do Not Pass D Without Committee Recommendation 

Other Actions: 

D As Amended D Rerefer to Appropriations 
D Place on Consent Calendar 
D Reconsider D 

Motion Made By Sln · �IS f> fl Seconded By Ge, \II . (J. L61U n 

Senators 
Sen. Judy Lee 
Sen. Oley Larsen 
Sen. Howard C. Anderson 
Sen. David Clemens 
Sen. Kristin Roers 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 

Floor Assignment 

ln .... 

Yes No 
l( 
J( 

o( 

,I_ 

No 

D 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Senators Yes 
Sen. Kathy HoQan 

No 



Com Standing Committee Report 
March 19, 2019 4:06PM 

Module ID: s_stcomrep_ 48_023 
Carrier: Anderson 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1175, as engrossed: Human Services Committee (Sen. J. Lee, Chairman) 

recommends DO PASS (6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). 
Engrossed HB 1175 was placed on the Fourteenth order on the calendar. 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_ 48_023 



 

 

2019 TESTIMONY 

HB 1175 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Rep. Bill Devlin Testimony- House Human Services Committee - HB 1175 

/-[B//75 
1/78/�lq 

:# I 

Good morning, Chairman Weisz and esteemed members of the House Human 

Services Committee. For the record, I am Rep. Bill Devlin of District 23. Our district 

is a rural legislative district in eastern North Dakota. 

I am proud to introduce HB 1175 at the request of Physician Assistants from my 

area and across the state for your consideration. 

As I have watched medicine evolve to meet the needs of North Dakota citizens 

there is one undisputable fact that jumps out at me and everyone else observing. 

The practice of medicine in many rural areas of the state would not be possible 

without Physician Assistants. Without those highly trained professionals 

practicing medicine, many clinics and even hospitals would have a difficulty if not 

impossible time providing care to our residents and the facilities might not even 

survive. 

The other fact that is undisputable is that we have come to recognize that 

certain practitioners of medicine do not need some of the over-sight originally 

spelled out in code to practice within their scope of practice, safely and effectively 

and to provide the best possible care for our citizens. 

HB1175 recognizes that fact and calls for changes in the direct oversight of 

Physician Assistants by physicians. It was my understanding until 6:00 this 

morning that these changes were supported by everyone involved. I understand 

now there are concerns being expressed by some of the registered rad techs 

about part of this bill and I believe we can work through that after the completion 

of testimony. 

The bill will not change how Physician Assistants already collaborate with 

physicians and other providers but will remove some of the unnecessary 

restrictions I want to you to know the proposed changes in HB 1175 were 

unanimously approved by the N.D. Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 

2018, meeting. 

Committee members, I know some of you might have questions but prefer to let 

you hear from the experts that will follow me to the podium. If there is specific 

information needed later, I can obtain it for the committee. 
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For now, I urge your thoughtful consideration of HB1175 and I hope eventually a 
unanimous do pass recommendation. Thank you, Chairman Weisz and esteemed 
members of the House Human Service Committee. 
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House Bill 1175 
House Human Services Committee 

Testimony of Dr. Gordon Leingang in support of Proposed House Bill 1175 
January 28, 2019 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Dr. Gordy Leingang from 

Bismarck. 

I'm residency trained and board certified in Emergency Medicine and have been in the 

practjce of Emergency, Trauma, and Urgent Care Medicine since 1991. I'm also the 

recently retired State Flight Surgeon for the N. D. Army National Guard. 

My entire Physician career, I've been a very active mentor, teacher, recruiter and clinical 

faculty of Physician Assistant Programs in North and South Dakota, Iowa, Michigan, and 
Ohfo. 1 work with both Physician Assistants and Nurse Practitioners every day. In fact I 

have the good fortune of being married to a Physician Assistant, Jackie, who works for 

the Veteran's Administration. My personal "doctor" is a Physician Assistant. 

I believe that I can offer some helpful information as you consider this very imperative 

bill. .... 

As you consider this bill, please understand that, particularly in the smaller rural 

hospitals and clinics in North Dakota, Physicians Assistants are who provide primary 

and emergency care of patients of all ages. It's a foregone conclusion that we could not 

provide these services without our midlevels, PAs and NPs. They are absolutely the 

"front line" there, and in our bigger city hospitals and clinics. 

Mr. Houdek will bring perspective and history to how it is that we've come to this place, 

where Physician Assistants direly need to untether themselves from the antiquated and 

outdated rules that accomplish nothing but make it more difficult for PAs to do what they 

do, and in particular has now made it more difficult for them to appeal to employers 

because the statute on the books make it burdensome. The original 1975 statute has 

been rendered obsolete. The younger Nurse Practitioner profession saw how such a 

model significantly encumbers a practice, and early on fought for, and gained 

independent scope of practice in 2011. 

I can cite several examples of clinics or hospitals who passed on hiring an otherwise 

excellent, highly skilled Physician Assistant because of the tedium in the rules that 

actually don't even provide a meaningful safety tool anymore. The law is simply out-of­

date. I could share numerous anecdotes about Physician Assistants, my wife among 

them, who were s·1de-rmed or not hired because the hospital or clinic didn't want the 

hassle of jumping through these additional hoops, ostensibly denying a highly skilled 

Physician Assistant a job, and our patients the talents, training and experience of the 
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Physician Assistant. My own experience locally was the same. Ultimately, with a little 
pushing and shoving, St. Alexius began to see the huge benefit of hiring Physician • 
Assistants in the Emergency Trauma Center and we've hired some absolutely stellar 
clinicians. The same is true of Mid Dakota Clinic, who is fully aligned with the bill and 
supports it 100%. 

Time permitting, I could regale you with tales of the incredible talents and training of 
many of the PAs that I've worked with in my Bismarck practice, and in my multiple· 
miUtary depJoyments where PAs often have skill sets superior to the physicians they're 
working with. Some of my best teachers in my formative years as a Doctor were 
Physician Assistants. 

Today, you're going to hear from a couple of PAs who I have the privilege of accepting 
patients trom, ·m the·ir rural/smaller clinics or hospitals, so 1 get to witness the 
exceptional care that's being delivered by these PAs. You'll meet Kate Larson, for 
example, a highly seasoned and superb clinician PA who sends me patients all the time. 
You'd better hope that Kate is looking after you if you ever get sick or injured in her 
community. And this plays itself out thousands of times in our North Dakota 
communities, big and small, where PAs are very, very often the front line. 

ihe point 1s·. ihe "safety net" that ensures that the Physician Assistant is supervised or 
accountable for the care that they deliver, is well-in-place with the rules established by • 
the N. D. Board of Medical Examiners, and the credentialing processes that each clinic 
or hospital, or physician who hires the Physician Assistant goes through. The old 
statute does NOT faciUtate that. It hinders it. Physician Assistants go through rigorous 
training, take rigorous boards, have to recertify their boards every 6 (now 10) years, 
have rigorous CME requirements, and are accountable to employers in credentialing. 

This bill is long overdue. It's well thought out. It's well written. I'm hoping for the benefit 
of our North Dakota patients you'll give it a "pass" vote. 

Thank you. Please call on me if you have questions. 

Gordon Leingang, DO, FACEP, FACOEP 
Colonel (Ret), Medical Corps, Senior Flight Surgeon, USA 
e.mail: dopa@bis.midco.net Personal cell: 701-220-8029 
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North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

January 28, 2019 

Chairman Weisz, Members of the House Human Services Committee, my 
name is Duane Houdek. I am representing the ND Academy of Physician 
Assistants with regard to HB 1175. 

To accommodate the schedule of one of our presenters, Dr. Gordon 
Leingang, I would ask that I be permitted to introduce him to testify now, and 
resume my testimony when he is done. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Dr. Leingang is especially able to provide testimony regarding the training 
and regulation of Physician Assistants. He is an award-winning professor of 

• 
Physician Assistants' courses at Des Moines University - Osteopathic Medical 
Center. He has also taught at the University of Mary in the Nurse Practitioner 
program. Additionally, he is a former member of the North Dakota Board of 
Medicine and has served two tours in Iraq as a flight surgeon for the North 
Dakota National Guard. 
*** 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, this bill does two things: 
1. It removes the requirement of a written supervisory contract 

between a physician and a physician assistant. 
2. It ensures that, unless specifically approved by the Board of 

Medicine, no physician assistant will practice independently. 

:II 3 

• 

It does not enlarge the current scope of practice of physician assistants or 
affect in any way the current manner in which health care organizations regulate 
the practice of physician assistants in their employ . 

1 
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The statute HB 1175 seeks to amend was enacted in 1975, 44 years ago . 

Then, the legislature was dealing primarily with corpsmen who had returned 
from Viet Nam with extensive field medical skills which were being utilized by 
physicians in North Dakota by hiring the corpsmen as assistants. Prior to the 
1975 statute, these assistants had no legal status in North Dakota, they were not 
licensed, they had no educational requirements. They could do nothing in their 
own name. 

It was in this context that the language we still have in state law today was 
written, that their medical service to the public must be "rendered under the 
supervision, control, and responsibility of a licensed physician". 

As we have seen with nurses, the training and practice of physician 
assistants has evolved to a greater extent than I believe anyone foresaw in 1975. 
Today, as Mr. Metzger will flesh out, physician assistants are trained at the 
University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences, with 
thousands of hours of didactic and clinical training. They are licensed and 
disciplined by the Board of Medicine. They are, after extensive testing, certified 
nationally, as a condition of state licensure. To keep their state license, they 
must re-certify every 10 years. They are required to obtain 100 hours of 
continuing medical education every two years, most of which is provided by 
physicians. They practice in every aspect of medicine in North Dakota, from 
harvesting veins for heart bypass surgery to working in ER's and as hospitalists. 
They have full prescriptive authority. 

In recognition of these advancements, and as they proved themselves, the 
Board of Medicine has, over time, eased its rules regarding their supervision. 
Once, chart reviews had to be conducted, supervision had to be on-site and 

personal. Today, none of that is true. By rule, PA's may practice in remote 
locations as long as they have a means to communicate, electronically or 
otherwise, with a physician. This type of collaboration is something PA's are 
trained to do from the outset of their education, regardless of rule. They are 
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• taught to practice, and continue to practice, the collaborative team approach 
that we see occurring more and more in medicine today. They do not seek 

independent practice. 

/fB/175 
1 /d'd/dOIC/ 

ifs 

But because the legal requirement for a supervisory relationship and 
physician responsibility remains in statute, we see, as others will testify, that 
hiring of PA's is chilled. Some institutions will not advertise to hire them because 
they do not want to incur the potential legal responsibility for their physicians. 

The supervisory relationship is not what it once was, nor is it as 
meaningful or necessary to ensure public safety. We see instances where as 
many as 30 physicians will have to sign on to a supervision contract, as they 
interact with a physician assistant. Other instances where the supervising 
physician is a temporary /ocums physician, who might be gone the next week. 
This is done to comply with the law. It does not improve practice or protect 
patients. 

• The truth is that all healthcare providers' practice - doctors, physician 

• 

assistants, nurse practitioners - all of them are determined by the privileging 
process at the institution for whom they work. That determines who they will 
work with, how they will interact with them and to whom they report. This will 
not be changed by HB 1 175. 

In sum, it appears to me that we have an antiquated statute that is 
limiting access to proven, competent providers - especially in rural areas where 
we disparately need them - with no offsetting safety benefit to the public. 

With that, I would like to introduce Jay Metzger, President of the NDAPA, 
and Kate Larson, who will provide testimony from the perspective of practicing 
physician assistants . 

3 
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WEST RIVER HEALTH S ERVICES 

January 1 7 , 2 0 1 9  

DUA .. NE HOU[)EK 
4 4 0 0  ALAMO DRIVE 
B I SMARCK , ND 5 8 5 0 4 

RE : Support for House  B i l l  1 1 7 5  regarding the 
supervi sory regulat i on of phys i c ian as s i s tant s . 

Dear Mr . Houdek and Members of  Leg i s lat ive Commi ttee , 

Thi s  i s  a letter o f  support in favor of  propo s e d  House  
B i l l  11 7 5  to revi s e  superv i s ory condit ions of  phys t c i an 
as s i s tant s in North Dakota . 

We s t  River Cl inic s in Het t inge r , North Dakota , has a long 
hi s tory of  incorporat ing phys i c ian as s i s tant s as team 
members for care o f  pat ients  in  the We s t  River area s ince 
the early 1 9 8 0 s  when S i s te r  Michae l Emond was the f i rst 
PA to work at Wes t  River . We have a l s o  been ac t ive in 
training and supervi s ing phys i c i an as s i s tant s and have 
incorporated phys i c ian as s i s tant s in our sate l l i t e  sys tem 
fer opt imum care and ac c e s s  for  our pat i ent s . 

As s tated in the b i l l , i t  doe s  make s ense that di re c t  
supervi s ion of  phys i c ian as s i s tant s should be based on 
s i te and scope of prac t i c e  as de t e rmined by the i r  place  
of  employment and prac t i c e . Thi s  is  much more dire c t  and 
app l i cable  to each s i tuat ion as opposed to the broadly 
s tated rul e s  that exi s t  current ly . As medi c ine has 
evolved to ut i l i z e  the e l e c t roni c  health rec ord , there i s  
more emphas i s  on pat ient •· management based on a team 
concept . As such , a s ingle phys i c i an i s  superv i s ing a 
number o f  PAs to better  de legate re spons ibi l i t i e s  and 
care of the pat ient to mee t  qua l i ty me tri c s . 

1 0 0 0  H I G H WAY 1 2  - ._ HETT I N G E R ,  N D  5 8 6 3 9 - 7 5 3 0  - ..,_ 7 0 1 5 6 7 - 4 5 6 1  - ,_ w w w . w rh s . c o m  

OUR MISSION: TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH AND WELLNESS SERVICES TO THE RESIDENTS AND VISITORS OF THE REGION. 
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I appre c iate the governance o f  the Board of  Medi c ine as  a 
previous member of  the board in reviewing any s cope of  
prac t i c e  by a phys i c i an as s i stant that would indicate 
s o l o  prac t i c e  and be approved by the board . 

Thank you for  your cons iderat ion . 

KRH/ l e s  
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OUR MISSION: TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH AND WELLNESS SERVICES TO THE RESIDENTS AND VISITORS OF THE REGION. 
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Chairman Weisz, Mem bers of the House Human Services Com mittee, my 

name is Jay Metzger and I am a physician assistant ( PA) and current president of 

the North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants ( N DAPA) . I am speaking on 

behalf of our mem bers asking for your support on HB 1175 . 

As Mr. Houdek and Dr. Leingang have already mentioned, HB 1175 

addresses some wel l  overdue changes to the regulation of PAs in North Dakota. 

Our profession was created a mere 52  years ago. I n  the grand scheme of 

medicine, we are relative newcomers . Our profession has significantly evolved 

over the years and there have been hundreds of studies that prove our ability to 

safely practice medicine and fi l l  a much-needed role in the care of our citizens. 

Most recently, the U . S. Department of Hea l th and Human Services released a 

report detai ling many comp lex issues within our health care system and 

specifical ly recom mended the changes we are seeking. I have enclosed a few of 
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• these studies for your review and list of others that may be of interest . I would be 

• 

happy to provide fu l l  copies of any of these studies if you wish . 

The intent of the bil l is for PAs to practice where they are needed. As others 

testifying have and wi l l  exp lain, there are positions in numerous settings where 

em p loyers wi l l  not consider hiring a PA because of the supervisory requirements . 

Administrators are becoming reluctant to even pursue PAs to practice in their 

c l inics and hospitals because of the administrative burden supervision entai ls .  

P hysicians are reluctant to sign supervisory agreements that say they wi l l  take fu l l  

responsibility for the PAs act ions even if they are not always working directly with 

the PAs they supervise. 

PAs are trained in a medical model, simi lar to that of a p hysician but in a 

more condensed version. PA programs have a strong preference for students with 

previous experience in health care. I personal ly was an Army medic and 

paramedic for a total of nine years before I became a PA. There is a wide variety 

of backgrounds represented in the PA profession such as former respiratory 

therapists, nurses, paramedics, radio logy technicians, and ath letic trainers to just 

name a few. National ly, PA students come into their PA training with an average 

of 8000 hours or approximately four years of fu l l -time health care experience . 

North Dakota has only one PA program with an average of 12,000 hours of prior 
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healthcare experience or approximately six years of ful l -time health care 

experience. PA program length averages 28  months national ly and students 

com p lete approximately 2000 hours of c lassroom instruction and 2000 hours of 

clinical experience. 

PAs practice in numerous settings from family medicine to sub-specialty 

surgery environ ments .  The scope of our practice can differ significant ly in each 

setting, but one thing remains constant throughout al l areas; PAs on ly practice 

what they are educated, trained and privi leged to do. I f  a PA does not meet those 

requirements, they can not, and wi l l  not, be ab le to provide those services. This is 

the way it is now and wi l l  not change with this bi l l .  HB 1175 requires that PAs 

practice within their training and that if there is something they need further 

assistance with, the PA must col laborate with physicians or appropriate members 

of the health care team . 

Before I started as Board Member on the N DAPA, I had heard anecdotal 

stories of PAs not being ab le to practice in their communities because their 

supervising physician moved, retired, or beca me unab le to practice themselves 

for whatever reason .  These wel l  trained and experienced PAs al l of sudden could 

not take care of the patients they had hel ped for years. As a member of the 

• 
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N DAPA Board of D irectors, I now regu lar ly hear f irsthand of these actual 

occurrences . 

HB/175 
1/28/;lC/q 

# L/ 

HB 1175 was carefu l ly drafted by the N DAPA with cons iderab le i nput from 

the N D  Board of Medic ine, ND  Medical Association, and the American Academy of 

PAs . The b i l l  addresses al l concerns  that have brought forward to ensure that PAs 

wi l l  practice withi n their scope and be respons i b le for their action s .  PAs wi l l  st i l l  

have to col laborate with physic ian s and others to assure they are providi ng the 

best care poss i b le. The i ntent of the b i l l  i s  not for PAs to pract ice i ndependent ly .  

Provis ions withi n HB 1175 assure that if  a PA i s  cons ideri ng a stand-a lone cl i n ic, 

the must f irst prove they are adequately trai ned and u lt imately have the approval 

of the N D  Board of Medici ne to do so. I n  a l l honesty, we do not antic ipate that 

many PAs wi l l  even cons ider their own pract ices as it i s  diff icu lt even for 

phys ic ians to do so i n  our health care environment. I have a l so provided letters of 

support from phys ic ians i n  North Dakota. 

PAs are not phys icians and we do not pretend to be. I n  our SO-p l u s  years of 

ex istence, we have proven that we are rel iab le, competent and val uab le members 

of the health care team. We are wel l trai ned i n  the areas that we pract ice and 

know when to consu lt with our phys ic ian col leagues . With more phys ic ians goi ng 

i nto non-primary care pract i ces, PAs are especial ly needed to help al leviate access 

5 



to care issues . Chairman Weisz and Mem bers of the House Human Services 

Com mittee, I and the mem bers of the N DAPA ask for your s upport in passing HB 

1175 . 

Thank you for your time. 

Jay R. Metzger, PA-C 

President, North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

N DAPAboard@gmai l . com 
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#L/ Physician Assistants ("PAs") are one of three professions providing primary care in the United States, 
along with physicians and advanced practice registered nurses .  The National Rural Health Association 
(NRHA) recognizes that, despite 50 years of high-quali ty cost-effective practice, there remain state and 
federal laws and regulations that prevent P As from practicing to the fullest extent of their education and 
experience .  Likewise, new and emerging models of care sometimes fail to fully recognize PAs, 
diminishing the value they could bring to rural patients and communities that are currently suffering from 
a dire shortage of qualified medical care . 

As health care evolves into a system of vertical and horizontal integration with new focus on team-based 
care, P As-working at the top of their licenses-will be indispensable providers in rural areas .  
Modernizing of regulations restricting practice privileges, mental health laws and payer policies that 
unnecessarily restrict PA practice will increase PA value to employers and enable PAs to more efficiently 
contribute to ending the shortage of health care professionals accessible to rural patients and 
communities . 

Introduction 
Analysts' predictions of physician workforce shortages paint a dire picture for rural America. For 
decades, rural communities have fought to maintain health care services .  Even recent federal efforts to 
improve access to care by improving insurance coverage did not get to the heart of the rural access 
issue-a shortage of providers . 

The number of physicians practicing in rural areas has been steadily declining for decades .  1 While the 
supply of doctors in rural areas have drained into more urban settings, the rural populations they've left 
behind have become increasing less healthyi i  and less wealthy;;; than their urban counterparts .  This has 
created an increasing demand for medical care and a diminished ability to pay for it. Supply of medical 
care has decreased and demand for that care has increased, but much of the population cannot afford 
medical services at the new equilibrium price point, creating a massive shortage in care . Today, twenty 
percent of the U .S .  population is rural, but only 1 1  percent of physicians practice in rural settings . ; 

Existing federal programs do not do enough to close this physician shortfall . Additional actions must be 
taken to increase the supply of medical professionals in rural areas as the demand for their services is 
projected to increase in the future . Estimates predict that America' s rural population will continue to grow 
in both age and number in the coming years, further widening the gap between the amount of providers 
and the demand for services iv _ 

PAs are one of three professions providing primary care in the United States ,  along with physicians and 
advanced practice registered nurses .  Despite 50 years of high-quality, cost-effective practice, there are 
still state and federal laws and regulations that prevent PAs from practicing to the fullest extent of their 
education and experience. Likewise, new and emerging models of care sometimes fail to fully recognize 
PA contributions, diminishing the value they could bring to rural patients and communities .  Fifteen 
percent of P As already practice in rural areas/; positioning them to make an immediate and substantial 
impact on the supply of care if these regulations can be lightened. 

As healthcare evolves into a system of vertical and horizontal integration with a new focus on team-based 
care PAs working at the top of their licenses will be indispensable providers in rural areas. 

PA Education, Certification, and Licensure 
A large , well-qualified applicant pool allows PA programs to be very selective . Typical PA program 
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appli-cants hold a bachelor's degree and have completed courses in the basic sciences and behavioral 
sciences as prerequisites to entering a program. iii This is analogous to the premedical studies required of 
medical students. 
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Comprehensive master' s  degree programs provide PAs with a broad, generalist medical education. 
Programs typically last 27 months iv and employ an intensive curriculum modeled on medical school. The 
classroom phase covers basic medical sciences, including anatomy, physiology, pharmacology, physical 
diagnosis, behavioral sciences, and medical ethics . PA students take more than 75 hours in pharmacology, 
1 75 hours in behavioral sciences, more than 400 hours in basic sciences, and nearly 580  hours of clinical 
medicine . This is followed by clinical rotations in family medic ine, internal medicine, general surgery, 
pediatrics, obstetrics and gynecology, emergency medicine, and psychiatry. vp A students complete at least 
2,000 hours of supervised clinical practice by the time they graduate.vi 

After graduation, PAs must pass a national certifying exam and obtain a state license . To maintain 
certification, PAs must complete 1 00 hours of continuing medical education ( CME) every two years and 
must pass a national recertification exam every 1 0  years .vi i 

PA Scope of Practice 
Their broad, generalist medical education prepares P As to take medical histories, perform physical 
examinations, order and interpret laboratory tests, diagnose illness, develop and manage treatment plans 
for their patients, prescribe medications, and assist in surgery.viii In rural practices, PAs are likely to take 
call ; provide home, nursing home, and hospital visits; provide direct emergency and urgent care services; 
perform office procedures; and provide after-hours telephone and internet/email consults . ix 

State laws that include a broad scope of practice and allow specifics for each PA to be decided at the 
practice level are best for patients and providers .  Studies show that the quality of care provided by PAs 
remains high when PA scope of practice is determined at the practice level by the collaborating physician 
( S) , X,X l ,X I I  

It has been demonstrated when State Laws which include a broad scope of practice and allow the specific 
duties and activities of specific PA to be determined by the collaborating physician within the 
collaborating physician's  capabilities and PA abilities are best for the patients, providers and community. 
The scope of practice is then determined by the local practice level and the needs of the community and 
the local providers . This provides variance for specific privileges, years of experience, advanced 
education and local needs as Rural environments are widely variable and local needs are widely 
inconsistent. 
In some rural communities, a PA i s  the only provider. Unnecessary restrictions increase costs, burden 
physicians and P As, make recruiting physicians more difficult, and reduce patient access to care . 

PA Workforce 
The shortage of primary care physicians is  expected to exceed 1 24,000 by 2025 ,  while the PA profession 
has doubled every decade since the 1 980s, reaching 1 1 5 , 500 in 20 1 7  _xiii 

Fifteen percent of PAs in clinical practice ( 1 7,000 PAs) practice in rural or frontier counties .xivstudies in 
Iowa, Texas, California, and Washington state have shown a higher proportion of PAs practice in rural 
areas than the percentages of other primary care providers .xv ,xvi,xvii 

The median age of certified PAs is 3 8  and the mean years since graduation is 1 0 .6 ,  indicating that the PA 
retirement rate will likely remain far less than the rate of production of new P As for many years to come. 
The PA profession continues to be recognized as one of the most desirable professions in the U .S .  and has 
top ratings for job market outlookwhich attracts a large quantity of high quality program 
applicants .xviii ,xix,xx 

As the PA profession grows, incentives are needed to ensure that adequate numbers of PAs are available, 
that laws allow providers to work at the top of their education and experience, and practice laws must 
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consider the needs of rural communities with inadequate access to medical care . 

Barriers to Optimal Team Practice 
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There are many well-known factors impacting rural health care-provider shortage and maldistribution, 
aging of the workforce, long hours, lower pay than urban or specialty providers , professional isolation, 
and poor infrastructure such as schools, lack of broadband internet, fewer social opportunities and other 
issues around spouses' and children' s  needs . These affect every type of rural provider. 

For PAs, there is an additional burden of outdated state and federal laws. For example: 
• Medicare does not allow PAs to certify the need for hospice care or to provide or manage it, creating 

an obvious continuity issue for rural patients .  
• PAs are not allowed to order or certify the need for home health services .  
• PAs are the only professionals who are restricted from directly receiving payment for the services 

they deliver to Medicare beneficiaries .  This restriction limits the flexibility of PAs to participate in 
various employment arrangements and obscures the volume and quality of services PAs provide . 

• Medicare requires a physician co-signature for certain orders and services provided by PAs including 
inpatient hospital admission orders and hospital discharge summaries .  This is a burden on physicians, 
obscures accountability, causes  delays, and adds unnecessary steps and costs .  

• Although state workers ' compensation programs in all fifty states cover care provided by P As, the 
Federal Employees' Compensation Act (FECA) has not been updated in over 40 years and will not 
permit PAs to diagnose and treat federal employees who are injured on the job .  

• PAs diagnose and treat i llnesses, manage complex medical care, prescribe medications in all states ,  
and assist in surgery-but Medicare rules do not allow P As to order diabetic shoes .  

• 

• Medicare law requires P As to practice "under the supervision" of a physician. This language inhibits 
• PA inclusion in team-based care innovations . 

A cost analysis  conducted in Alabama in 20 1 5  found that even modest improvements in restrictive 
Alabama PA and NP laws would result in a net savings of $729 million over 10 years. "Underutilization of 
PAs and NPs by restrictive licensure inhibits the cost benefits of increasing the supply of PAs and NPs and 
reducing the reliance on a stagnant supply of primary care physicians in meeting society 's  health care 
needs."Xxi 

Modernizing laws and policies that unnecessarily restrict PA practice will make PAs more attractive to 
employers and will enable PA to more efficiently contribute to the health of rural patients and rural 
communities .  

Improved Payment Policies Critical 
A lack of transparency in billing and payment for services delivered by PAs obscures the PA contribution 
to care . Payers who do not enroll PAs but accept "incident to" billing or pay for PA-provided care under a 
physician' s  name and National Provider Identifier ("NPI") mask PA contributions to patient care . PA­
provided services should be identifiable as such and should be measured in the same manner as that of 
other health care providers . 

Greater transparency of data regarding medical care provided by PAs will improve understanding of 
workforce issues within the health care delivery system and may be achieved by: 
• Modernizing Medicare payment practices to reimburse PAs directly for patient care in the same 

manner as all other Medicare providers. 
• Requiring the identification of P As as the rendering professionals for Medicare services they provide . 
• Tracking PAs contributions and involvement in services billed "incident to" physicians as shared 

visits services that are billed under the physicians ' names .  
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• Encouraging public and private payers to adopt standards of transparency and accountability by 
identifying PAs when they deliver care to patients . Enrolling and credentialing PAs as rendering 
providers for tracking purposes will enhance the availability of health care data for meeting quality 
and outcomes metrics which will lead to improved care . 
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Permitting PAs to order and provide hospice and home health carefor their patients and to be held 
directly accountable for that care, therebyeliminating the current practice of requiring physician 
certification or co-signature for hospice, home health care and hospital admissions. 
Repealing Medicare statutory language requiring that PAs practice "under the supervision of a 
physician," allowing state law to regulate PA practice .  

Mental Health Coverage Lagging 
There is a significant need for mental health services in rural America. While the prevalence of mental illness 
is similar between rural and urban populations, access is very different. Rural residents travel long distances 
to access mental health care and face a chronic shortage of mental health professionals .  With few provider 
choices, the stigma ofreceiving care is heightened, creating another barrier.xxii 

There are about 1 ,000 PAs practic ing with psychiatrists nationwide . In addition, 1 4,000 PAs practice 
primary care in rural and frontier areas, many of whom routinely provide mental healthcare to their 
patients .  Another 2 ,000 PAs practice rural emergency medicine, seeing many patients with mental 
healthcare needs . 

The greatest hurdle is the need for more providers of mental health services in rural and frontier 
areas . xxiiiThe most significant barrier to PAs collaborating with psychiatrists is lack of third party payment . 
While Medicare includes PAs among the health professionals eligible to furnish outpatient diagnosis and 
treatment for mental disorders, many private behavioral health companies do not recognize or reimburse 
PAs.xxiv 

Improving Rural Deployment 
It is essential to attract and retain health care providers in rural areas if rural residents are to fully benefit 
from the transformation in health care delivery underway in the U. S .  Varied strategies, from recruiting 
health professions students from rural areas and helping to fund their education to pooling community 
resources to create attractive recruitment packages, will help to increase the presence of rural providers, 
including PAs. 

There are many federal programs that seek to ensure the availability of medical care to underserved rural 
communities, including the National Health Service Corps, federally certified Rural Health Clinics, 
Federally Qualified Health Centers, and Critical Access Hospitals ,  to name a few .  It i s  essential that all 
federal programs supporting rural health care workforce--existing or yet to come-fully include PAs in 
their policies .  

Scholarships and loan forgiveness programs offered at the state level and by the federal National Health 
Service Corps (NHSC) are examples of means to attract medical professionals to practice in rural 
medically underserved areas . 52 % of NHSC participants remain in the rural area in some capacity for up 
to 1 5  years after their commitment .xxv Other states offer grants and forgiveness loans to new attract 
students if they participate in a rural location for a designated amount of time based on the forgiveness 
loan requirement. 

A new rural health care infrastructure model , the Community Outpatient Hospital, as proposed in the 
Save Rural Hospitals Act legislation, would be an innovative delivery model that will ensure emergency 
access to care for rural patients and which could also provide primary care services through a FQHC . This 
new model would have a new Medicare payment designation and could provide opportunities  for PA 
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employment in areas where traditional rural hospitals may be in j eopardy. 

Federal Policies and Programs 
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The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), enacted in 20 1 0, encourages the use of PAs in 
rural areas in order to realize value and quality improvements . The ACA recognized PAs as a primary 
health care profession and furthermore provided financial support for the education of rural P As, initiated 
temporary Medicare incentives for PA primary care services and integrated PAs into new value-based 
payment models including Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs) and Patient Centered Medical Homes 
(PCMH) .xxvi 

Federal programs have been utilized to improve both the supply and the distribution of PAs in the U .S ,  
but are annually vulnerable to  reductions in federal budget proposals. Better recognition of these 
programs importance during the budget appropriations process could impact the number of PAs 
practicing in rural areas . Programs and initiatives include : 
• Title VII of the Public Health Service Act funding through the federal Health Resources and Services 

Administration (HRSA) 
• Area Health Education Centers (AHEC) 
• National Health Service Corps (NHSC) 
• Medicare' s  Critical Access Hospital Flex program 
• Rural Health Clinics Act (RHC) 

The programs are part of the solution to the problem of appropriate distribution of health care providers . 
For example, from 1 990 to 2009, Title VII funded PA grads were 47% more likely to work in rural health 
clinics .  xx vii 

In addition to burdensome laws, a lack of transparency in billing and payment for services delivered by 
P As obscures the PA contribution to care . Payers who do not enroll P As but accept "incident to" billing 
or pay for PA-provided care under a physician ' s  name and NPI mask PA contributions to patient care . 
PA-provided services should be identifiable as such and should be measured in the same manner as that 
of other health care providers . Arguably, the greatest hurdle is the need for more providers of mental 
health services in rural and frontier areas . The most significant barrier to P As collaborating with 
psychiatrists is lack of third party payment. While Medicare includes PAs among the health professionals 
eligible to furnish outpatient diagnosis and treatment for mental disorders , many private behavioral health 
companies do not recognize or reimburse P As .  

Encouragingly, Congress has recently removed one such unnecessary barrier to PAs providing care . The 
opioid abuse epidemic across the U. S .  has severely impacted rural America. Until recently PAs could 
only legally prescribe buprenorphine for pain management but could not prescribe it for treatment of 
opioid addiction. Since the opioid abuse epidemic has hit rural America disproportionately hard, that 
regulation had been particularly problematic in rural areas that only had PA providers available . In July 
20 1 6 , however, the passage of the Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (P .L .  1 1 4- 1 98)  legislation 
changed federal law to provide PAs the legal authority to prescribe buprenorphine as an opioid addiction 
treatment. 

A disproportionately higher number of Medicare beneficiaries in rural areas vs. urban areas makes it even 
more important to take into account reimbursement levels and particularly differences in rural versus 
urban actual costs for services in the move to new value-based payment models .  

State Policies and Programs 
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State legislatures across the country modernize PA laws and regulations every year. Key areas of 
modernization include laws governing efficient collaboration between PAs and physicians, patient access 
to PAs, and enrollment of PAs as providers in state Medicaid programs . 

Despite advances, improvements can still be made . Rural patients would particularly benefit from updated 
laws allowing practices to decide an individual PA' s  scope; e liminate legal requirements for PAs to have 
a specific relationship with a physician in order to practice and leave decisions about the necessary level 
of collaboration with a physician up to each practice .  

All  states have laws and regulations that explic itly authorize physicians to collaborate with PAs through 
electronic c01mnunication, but some states couple that authorization with requirements that a physician 
vis i t  at pa11icular intervals or be within a certain travel time or distance. Statutes and regulations that 
impose these types of restrictions interfere with patient access and provider availabi l ity . 

For example, in Missouri , unti l  20 1 3 , the state required a physician to be onsite 66 percent of the time a 
PA spent with patients and had to otherwise be within 3 0  miles . The 20 1 3  law reduced those requirements 
so that a physician must be onsite for a half-day every two weeks and must otherwise be within 50 miles .  
While this change is a laudable improvement, the law still imposes an unnecessary burden on physicians 
and PAs in a state where 97 percent of the land and 30 percent of the residents are ruraJ . Xxviii 

In addition to removing barriers from PA practice laws, each state must define the regulatory agency 
responsible for implementation of those laws . The preferable regulatory structure is a PA licensing board 
composed of a majority of PA, and other members who are knowledgeable about PA education, 
certification, and practice. If regulation is administered by a multidisciplinary healing arts or medical 
board, the full voting membership must include PAs and physicians who practice with PAs _xxix 

Team practice-with the ability to make referrals or collaborate and consult with physicians-is central to 
PA practice .  However, state laws that require a PA to have a specific association with a designated 
physician or group of physicians limits both P As and physicians, which are constraints rural communities 
cannot afford. 

Summary 
Providing adequate health care services in rural America is a complex challenge . Workforce analyses and 
recommendations should include every type of medical professional who can serve rural communities . 
Increased numbers and better distribution of P As in rural areas can be achieved if practice barriers are 
removed and reimbursement and incentives payments are appropriate . 

Many factors affect whether or not providers choose rural practice .  The NRHA provides a neutral , 
collaborative setting where different interest groups can come together to discuss solutions to the 
challenges of delivering health care services in rural settings .  NRHA's  goal in the U. S .  health care 
delivery system of the future is to ensure access to quality health care for all rural residents. To enable 
P As to maximize their contribution toward achieving that goal, we offer the following recommendations . 

1 .  National and state workforce policies should ensure adequate supplies o f  P As and other 
providers to improve access to quality care and to avert anticipated provider shortages. 

2. All new and emerging care models and payment systems should fully recognize PAs as 
providers of medical services. 

3. Laws and regulations should allow scope of practice details for individual PAs to be decided at 
the practice level. 

• 
4. PAs should be included in programs to recruit and retain rural providers. 

5. Regulatory and policy updates are needed to remove barriers to optimal PA practice in rural 
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communities. Public and private agencies and organizations, including NRHA, should work 
• together to ensure that regulatory changes in publicly funded programs have a positive impact 

and do not adversely affect access to health care in rural areas . 

6. Public and private payers should adopt standards of transparency and accountability, 
credentialing and enrolling P As so that PA performance can be, and further, PAs should be 
eligible for direct payment from all public and private payers. 
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7. Public and private payers should cover mental health care services provided by PAs, which will 
help to increase access to mental health care for rural patients. 

8. Health care workforce development programs should recognize and support PAs. 

9. State legislatures and regulatory agencies should modernize PA practice laws by removing 
barriers to optimal team practice and ensure PA representation on regulatory boards. 

• 

• 

/l, 
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Reforming America 's  Healthcare System Through Choice and Competition 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEAL TH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 

The President 
The White House 
Washington, DC 20500 

Dear Mr. President : 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR 

On October 1 2 , 20 1 7, through Executive Order 1 3 8 1 3 , you directed the Administration, to 
the extent consistent with the law, to facilitate the development and operation of a health 
care system that provides high-quality care at affordable prices for the American people by 
promoting choice and competition. We are pleased to provide you with this report, 
prepared by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) in collaboration with 
the Departments of the Treasury and Labor, the Federal Trade Commission, and several 
offices within the White House. This report describes the influence of state and federal 

• laws, regulations, guidance, and polices on choice and competition in health care markets 
and identifies actions that states or the Federal Government could take to develop a better 
functioning health care market. 

As health care spending continues to rise, Americans are not receiving the commensurate 
benefit of living longer, healthier lives . Health care bills are too complex, choices are too 
restrained, and insurance premiums and out-of-pocket costs are climbing faster than wages 
and tax revenue. Health care markets could work more efficiently and Americans could 
receive more effective, high-value care if we remove and revise certain federal and state 
regulations and policies that inhibit choice and competition. 

The Administration has already taken significant steps to improve health care markets by 
addressing government rules and programs that limit choice and competition and produce 
higher prices for the American people. Among the most significant actions : 

• In October 20 1 8 , the Departments of HHS, the Treasury, and Labor proposed a 
rule that would provide employers with significant new flexibility in how they 
fund health coverage through Health Reimbursement Arrangements (HRAs) . If 
finalized, this flexibility would empower individuals to take greater control over 
what health insurance benefits they receive. The Treasury estimates that more 
than 1 0  million employees would benefit from this change within the next decade . 

• 
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Section 3 :  
Government Healthcare Policies and Their 

Effect on Competition 

Healthcare Workforce and Labor Markets 
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In competitive markets, suppliers o f  goods or services respond to market signals that 
suggest growing demand for the goods or services by increasing prices, which provides 
incentives to increase the supply of goods and services. Government policies that reduce 
the available supply of qualified healthcare service providers or the range of services they 
may safely offer can increase the prices paid for healthcare services, reduce access to care, 
and suppress the benefits of competition and innovation in healthcare delivery. Such 
regulations can also unnecessarily limit the types or locations of providers authorized to 
practice or the range of services they can provide. 

Government rules restrict competition if they keep healthcare providers from practicing to 
the "top of their license"- i.e., to the full extent of their abilities, given their education, 
training, skills, and experience, consistent with the relevant standards of care . Such rules, 
including restrictions on the appropriate use of telehealth technologies, unnecessarily limit 
the types or locations of providers authorized to practice, or the range of services they can 
provide, in contrast to regulations tailored to address specific and non-speculative health 
and safety concerns . 

With respect to physicians in particular, certain policies relating to graduate medical 
education (GME), as well as significant restrictions on the ability of foreign-trained doctors 
to practice in the United States may also unnecessarily limit the supply of physicians 
available to provide care to Americans. Reduced competition among qualified physicians 
inevitably leads to higher prices for physician services and generally reduces the quality of 
care . Consistent with overarching patient health and safety concerns, the discussion below 
examines potential benefits of more flexible approaches to GME and the treatment of 
foreign-trained doctors that could increase physician supply and promote additional 
competition and consumer choice . 
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State licensing and scope-of-practice (SOP) restrictions are common components of state 
licensure statutes and regulatory codes for healthcare professions . 85 Licensure regulates 
entry into an occupation since a worker must obtain the permission of a government agency 
or government-authorized regulatory board before providing certain services . 86 For 
numerous healthcare occupations, a state licensing authority stipulates minimum 
education, training requirements, and certification, among other criteria, for those who seek 
to acquire or maintain a license to practice a given profession or provide certain services. 87 

SOP regulations "describe the metes-and-bounds of licensure-what a given professional 
license permits a person to do and, often, prohibits others from doing."88 

SOP laws and regulations, like other health and safety regulations, may be justified when 
there are substantial risks of consumer harm. 89 These regulations may be especially 
important with respect to certain healthcare professions, where consumers might be at risk 
of serious harm if they were treated by unqualified individuals ,  and where patients might 
find it difficult (if not impossible) to assess quality of care at the time of delivery. 90 Still, 
even well-intentioned regulations may impose unnecessary restrictions on provider supply 
and, therefore, competition. Oftentimes, too, SOP restrictions limit provider entry and 
ability to practice in ways that do not address demonstrable or substantial risks to consumer 

85 Occupational licensing: a framework for policy makers. U.S .  Department of the Treasury, Council of Economic 
Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 2 0 1 5 ,  at 3 1 -32 .  
https : /  /obamawhitchousc.arch ivcs. gov/s i tcs/dcfau l t/fi lcs/docs/1 icens ing report final noncmbargo. pdf. Accessed 
August 25 , 20 1 8 . 
86 Stigler GJ. The theory of economic regulation. Bell J Econ Man Sci. I 97 1 Spring;2( 1 ) : 1 8 -20; Kleiner MM. 
Occupational licensing. J Econ. Persp 2000; 1 4 :  1 89 , 1 9 1 .  
87 Sec Joint Hearing on Health Care and Competition Law and Policy Before the FTC and Department of Justice, 3 3 -
34  (Jun. J O, 2003) ,  (statement of Dr. Morris Kleiner). 
http://www. ftc.gov/si tcs/dcfault/fi lcs/documcnts/pub l i c  cvcnts/hcalth -carc-competition-law-pol icy­
hcarings/0306 1 0ftctrans .pdf.  Accessed August 22 ,  20 1 8 .  
8 8  Gilman DJ, Fairman J. Antitrust and the future of nursing: federal competition policy and the scope of practice . 
Health Matrix. 20 1 4;24: 1 43 , 1 6 3 ;  Occupational licensing: a framework for policy makers. U .S .  Department of the 
Treasury, Council of Economic Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 20 1 5 ,  at 7 n.6, 3 1 -34. 
Imps : /  /obamawhitchouse .arch i vcs .  gov/s i tes/dcfau lt/fi !es/docs/I icensing report final nonembargo .pdf. Accessed 
August 25 ,  20 1 8 . 
89 Occupational licensing: a framework for policy makers. U .S .  Department of the Treasury, Council of Economic 
Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 20 1 5 .  
h ttps : //obamawh itehouse .archi  ves. gov/s i tes/defau I t/fi ! es/docs/I icensing report final noncmbargo. pd f. Accessed 
August 25 ,  20 1 8 ; Cox C ,  Foster S .  Bureau of Economics, Federal Trade Commission. The Costs and Benefits of 
Occupational Regulation 4- 1 6 . 1 990. http://www. ramblemuse.com/art ic les/cox foster.pdf. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . 
90 See, e .g . ,  Prepared Statement of the Federal Trade Commission on Competition and Occupational L icensure, Before 
the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, Subcomm. on Regulatory Reform, Commercial, and Antitrust Law, I 1 5 th Cong. ,  7-8 
(Sept. 1 2 , 20 1 7) .  
https : //www. ftc .gov/systcm/filcs/documen ts/publ ic statements / 1 253073/house testimonv l i censing and rb i  act  sept 
20 l 7 vote .pdf Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 ; FTC Staff Policy perspectives : competition and the regulation of advanced 
practice nurses. Federal Trade Commission . March 7, 20 1 4. https ://www. ftc .gov/rcports/pol icy-perspectivcs­
compet i tion-regulat ion-advanced-pract icc-nurses. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . 
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health and safety. 9 1  When this happens, these undue restrictions are likely to reduce ·' \ J817ill 
healthcare competition and harm consumers-including patients, and taxpayers more j: \...\ 
generally. 92 

When state regulators impose excessive entry barriers and undue restrictions on SOP for 
particular types of providers , they often are not responding to legitimate consumer 
protection concerns . There is a risk that healthcare professionals with overlapping skill sets 
will seek these restrictions ; they view SOP restrictions as an easy, state-sanctioned 
opportunity to insulate themselves from competition. 93 The risk of anti-competitive harm 
may be even greater when the regulatory board that imposes SOP restrictions on one 
occupation is controlled by members of another, overlapping occupation that provides 
complementary or substitute services,94 and the board members are themselves active 
market participants with a financial stake in the outcome. 95 

91 Occupational l icensing: a framework for policy makers. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Council of Economic 
Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 20 1 5 ,  at 1 2- 1 3 ; Cox C ,  Foster S. Bureau of Economics, Federal Trade 
Commission. The Costs and Benefits of Occupational Regulation, at 3 .  1 990 .  
http://www.ramblemuse.com/art i c les/cox foster.pdf. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . Policy perspectives :  competition and 
the regulation of advanced practice nurses. Federal Trade Commission. March 7, 20 1 4, at 1 4- 1 5 .  
h ttps : //www. ftc. gov /reports/po I i  cy-perspecti ves-compet i tion -regulation-advanced-practice-nurses . Accessed August 
22, 20 1 8 .  
92 Id. Policy Perspectives: Competition and the Regulation of Advanced Practice Nurses, supra note 86, at 14. ; 
Prepared Statement of the Federal Trade Commission on Competition and the Potential Costs and Benefits of 
Professional L icensure, Before the H. Comm. on Small Business, I 1 3 th Cong. (July 1 6, 20 1 4), 
https ://www.ftc .gov/system/files/documents/publ i c  statcments/568 l 7 l / l 407 1 6professional l iccnsurehouse.pdf. 
Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 .  Correspondingly, the adoption of regulations that recognize new provider categories can 
sometimes lower the average regulatory burden placed on certain healthcare services, to the extent that these newly 
licensed workers may compete with professionals in established licensure categories. 
93 Stigler GJ. The theory of economic regulation. Bell J Econ Man Sci. 1 9 7 1  Spring;2( l ) :  1 8 -20; Kleiner MM. 
Occupational l icensing. J Econ. Persp . 2000; 14: 1 3 - 14 .  By restricting the entry of competitors, licensure can restrict 
supply, which can increase the income of incumbents (at consumer expense) or decrease the pressure on incumbents to 
improve non-price aspects of their services, such as quality or convenience. See also Kleiner MM, Krueger AB . 
Analyzing the extent and influence of occupational l icensing on the labor market . 3 1  J Lab Econ . 20 1 3  Apr;3 l S l ,  Part 
2 : 73 ,75 . 
94 Occupational licensing: a framework for policy makers. U .S .  Department of the Treasury, Council of Economic 
Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 20 1 5 , at 30 .  
llltps:/ /obamawhitehouse.arch i ves .  gov/sites/defau lt/fi ! es/docs/l icensing report final nonembargo. pd f. Accessed 
August 25 ,  20 1 8 ; Gilman DJ, Fairman J. Antitrust and the future of nursing: federal competition policy and the scope 
of practice . Health Matrix. 20 1 4;24: 1 57 .  
95 License l o  Compete: Occupational Licensing and the Stale Action Doctrine, Hearing Before the S. Comm. on  the 
Judiciary, Subcomm. on Antitrust, Competition Pol y and Consumer Rights, 1 1 4th Cong. ,  I (Feb. 2, 20 1 6) ;  cf N. C. 
Stale Bd. of Dental Exam 'rs v. FTC, 1 3 5  S. Ct. l 1 O J , 1 1 1 4 (20 1 5) .  
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For example, advanced practice registered nurses (APRNs),96 physician assistants (PAs),97 

pharmacists,98 optometrists, 99 and other highly trained professionals can safely and 
effectively provide some of the same healthcare services as physicians, in addition to 
providing complementary services . S imilarly, dental therapists and dental hygienists can 
safely and effectively provide some services offered by dentists, as well as complementary 
services. 1 00 

SOP statutes and rules often unnecessarily limit the services these "allied health 
professionals" 1 0 1  can offer. A 20 1 1  Institute of Medicine (IOM) report surveyed 
"[ e ]vidence suggest[ing] that access to quality care can be greatly expanded by increasing 

96 See, e .g . ,  fnstitute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences. The Future a/Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing 
Health. Washington DC: National Academies Press; 20 1 1 :98- 1 03 ,  1 57- 1 6 1 ,  annex 3 - 1 ;  Eibner CE, Hussey PS,  Ridgely 
MS, McGlynn EA. Control l ing healthcare spending in Massachusetts :  an analysis of options. RAND Health Report 
Submitted to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. August 2009. 
http://www . rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/technical reports/2009/RAND TR 733 .pdf. Accessed August 22,  20 1 8 ; 
National Governors Association (NGA). The role of nurse practitioners in meeting increasing demand for primary care. 
20 1 2 :7-8 ( study funded by U .S .  Department of Health and Human Services, reviewing literature pertinent to nurse ­
practitioner (NP) safety and concluding: "None of the studies in the NGA 's l iterature rev iew rai se concerns  about the 
quality of care offered by NPs .  Most studies showed that NP-provided care is comparable  to physician-provided care 
on several process and outcome measures.") 
97 U.S .  Congress, Office of Technology Assessment. Nurse Practitioners, Physician Assistants, and Certified Nurse­
Midwives: A Policy Analysis. Health Technology Case Study 37 .  OTA-HCS-37 .  Washington, DC: U. S .  Government 
Printing Office; December 1 982 : 39 .  h ttps ://www.princeton.edu/-ota/disk2/ l 986/86 1 5/86 I 5 .PDF .  Accessed August 22, 
2 0 1 8 .  ("Most observers conclude that most primary care traditionally provided by physicians can be delivered by 
[nurse practitioners and physician assistants] .") 
98 Jorgenson D, Dalton D, Farre l l  B,  Tsuyuki RT, Dolovish L. Guidelines for pharmacists integrating into primary care 
teams. Can Pharm. J. 20 1 3  Nov; 1 46(6) :342-352 ;  Durham MJ, Goad JA, Neinstein LS, Lou M. A comparison of 
pharmacist travel-health specialists' versus primary care providers' recommendations for travel-related medications, 
vaccinations, and patient compliance in a college health setting. J Travel Med. 20 1 1 Jan-Feb; 1 8( 1 ) :20-25 ; Hecox N. 
Tuberculin skin testing by pharmacists in a grocery store setting. J Am Pharm Assoc. 2008 Jan-Feb;48 ( 1  ) : 86-9 1 .  
99 FTC, Bureau of Consumer Protection. Staff Report on Advertising of Ophthalmic Goods and Servs and Proposed 
Trade Reg Rule, 1 6  CFR Part 456,  1 7- 1 9  ( 1 977). 
For example, dental hygienists can provide preventive dental care, while dental therapists can provide limited 
restorative services as well as preventive services. Dentists can provide these services as well as the full range of more 
complex dental services . See, e .g . ,  FTC Staff Comment to the Ohio State Senate Regarding the Competitive Effects of 
SB 330 in Increasing Access to Quality Dental Care (20 1 7), 
h ttps :/ /www. ftc. gov /sys tem/fi I es/documents/advocacy d ocumen ts/ftc -s ta ff-comment-oh i o-sta re-senate-re!!ard in  g­
co mpetitive-effects-sb-330- i  ncreasi n g-access-
gual ity/v 1 70003 ftc staff comment to oh io  state senate re ohio sb 330 re dental therapists and hygienists .pdf 
(accessed September 26, 20 1 8) ;  FTC Staff Comment Before the Commission on Dental Accreditation Concerning 
Proposed Accreditation Standards for Dental Therapy Education Programs (20 1 3  ). 
h ttps : //www. ftc.gov/sites/defaul t/fi les/documents/advocacv documents/ftc-staff-comment-commission-dcntal­
accreditat ion-concerning-proposed-accreditation-standards-dental/ 1 3 l 204codacommcnt .pdf. Accessed September 20, 
20 1 8 . 
1 0 1  We use the term broadly, acknowledging that " [t]he allied health workforce includes hundreds of professionals 
employed in different professions with different job duties and different levels of preparation, but there is  no single 
definition of "allied health" or list of all ied health occupations .  All formulations exclude physicians and dentists, and 
most exclude nurses .  Others exclude pharmacists, physician assistants, and more." IOM (Institute of Medicine). A/lied 
Health Workforce and Services: Workshop Summary. Washington, D .C. : The National Academies of Sciences 
Engineering Medicine; 20 1 1 .  
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the use of . . .  APRNs in primary, chronic,  and transitional care," 1 02 and expressed concern 
that SOP restrictions "have undermined the nursing profession' s  ability to provide and 
improve both general and advanced care." 1 03 In fact, research suggests that allowing allied 
health professionals to practice to the full extent of their abilities is not a zero sum game 
for other medical professionals ,  and may actually improve overall health system 
capacity. 1 04 The previously mentioned IOM report found that APRNs' scope of practice 
varies widely "for reasons that are related not to their ability, education or training, or safety 
concerns, but to the political decisions of the state in which they work." 1 05 

State decisions about scope of practice and reimbursement can also affect the development 
and utilization of allied health professionals, particularly in public programs . Private 
insurance has the flexibility to incentivize patients to find lower-cost, higher-quality 
provider alternatives when feasible. Public programs, more restricted by state regulations, 
can be less responsive to such changes in the healthcare workforce, even after scope of 
practice regulations accommodate them. Currently, for example, states vary widely in the 
degree to which they permit their Medicaid programs to reimburse allied health 
professionals directly for services. Services provided under the direct supervision of a 
physician are reimbursed as if the physician provided those services . State Medicaid 
programs can also pay for PA, nurse practitioner, and certified nurse midwife (CNM) 
services provided outside of a physician' s office, but only if state scope-of-practice laws 
do not require onsite supervision by physicians. Some states allow allied health 
professionals to bill Medicaid directly, while other states require them to bill under the 
physician' s number. For patients to realize the benefits of changes to state SOP restrictions, 
state Medicaid programs would need to reimburse allied health professionals 
independently for their services . 

As noted by FTC staff, "when APRN access to the primary care market is restricted, 
healthcare consumers-patients and other payers-are denied some of the competitive 

1 02 Institute of Medicine, National Acad. of Sciences. The Future of Nw:5ing: Leading Change, Advancing Heallh. 
Washington DC: National Academies Press ;  20 1 1  :27 ;  see also TOM (Institute of Medicine) . Allied Health Workforce 
and Services: Workshop Summary. Washington, D .C . :  The National Academies of Sciences Engineering Medicine; 
2 0 1 1 : 88 ("Given current concerns about a shortage of primary care health professionals, the committee paid particular 
attention to the role of nurses, especially APRNs, in this area."). The extent to which APRNs and other professionals 
might augment the primary care workforce has been of policy interest for some time. See, e .g . ,  U .S .  Congress, Office 
of Technology Assessment. Nurse Practitioners, Physician Assistants, and Certified Nurse-Midwives: A Policy 
Analysis. Health Technology Case Study 37 .  OTA-HCS-37 .  Washington, D .C . :  U .S .  Government Printing Office; 
December 1 986.  ("Most observers conclude that most primary care traditionally provided by physicians can be 
delivered by [nurse practitioners and physician assistants] .") 
1 03 Inst i tute of Medic ine, National Academy of Sciences. The Future of Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing Health. 
Washington D.C . : National Academies Press; 20 1 1 :4. 
1 04 Improving efficiency in the healthcare system: removing anti-competitive barriers for advanced practice registered 
nurses and physician assistants. The Hamilton Project. Policy brief 20 1 8 -08 .  June 20 1 8 . 
http://www.hami l tonproject .org/asscts/files/AM PB  0608 .pdf. Accessed August 22,  20 1 8 .  
1 05 Institute o f  Medicine, National Academy o f  Sciences. Th e  Future of Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing Health . 
Washington D.C . : National Academies Press ;  20 1 1 : 5 .  
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benefits that APRNs, as additional primary care service providers, can offer." 1 06 Slightly 
more than half the states require supervision and "collaborative practice" requirements, 
which can operate as de facto supervision requirements. These are a particular source of 
concern to the extent that they raise the cost of APRN-provided services . 1 07 In addition, 
rigid "collaborative practice agreement" requirements can impede collaborative care rather 
than foster it because they limit the ability of healthcare professionals to adapt to varied 
healthcare demands, thereby constraining provider innovation in team-based care . 1 08 

Economic analysis indicates that expanding APRN SOP, consistent with APRN education, 
training, and experience, would have clear consumer benefits, particularly in rural and 
poorer areas : 

In underserved areas and for underserved populations, the benefits of expanding 
supply are clear :  Consumers will have access to services that were otherwise 
unavailable. Even in well-served areas, the supply expansion will tend to lower 
prices for any given level of demand, thus lowering healthcare costs . 1 09 

Similar concerns about the competitive impact of supervision and "collaborative practice" 
requirements can apply to other healthcare occupations . Even when some form of 
collaboration or superv1s10n might be desirable, particular requirements might be 
unnecessary, over-rigid, and costly barriers to the efficient delivery of healthcare 
services . 1 1 0 

Extremely rigid collaborative practice agreements and other burdensome forms of 
physician and dentist supervision are generally not justified by legitimate health and safety 
concerns . Thus, many states have granted full practice authority to APRNs, but there is 
significant room for improvement in other states and for other professions . 1 1 1  Emerging 

1 06 FTC Staff Policy perspectives : competition and the regulation of advanced practice nurses. Federal Trade 
Commission. March 7, 20 14 .  h ttps : //www. ftc.gov/reports/po l i cy-perspectives-competit ion-rcg11 lat ion-advanced­
practi ce-nurses. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . 
1 07 Dep't  Veterans Affairs, Economic Impact Analysis for RIN 2900-AP44, Advanced Practice Registered Nurses, 
attachment I ,  5-7 (Nov. 9, 20 1 6), 
>https ://www. va.gov/OR PM/docs/Re11:Mgmt T mpactAnalvsis A P44(F) AdvanccdPract iceRegisteredNurses.docx< . 
1 08 Id. at 20. 
1 09 Id. at 27 .  
1 1 0 See generally, e .g . ,  FTC Staff Policy perspectives : competition and the regulation of advanced practice nurses. 
Federal Trade Commission. March 7 ,  20 1 4. https : //www. ftc.gov/rcports/policy-perspectives-compet i tion-regu lation­
advanced-practicc-nurses . Accessed August 22 ,  20 1 8 , (regarding APRNs); FTC Sta.ff Comment to the Ohio State 
Senate Regarding the Competitive Effects of SB 330 in Increasing Access to Quality Dental Care (20 1 7). 
https :/ /\',WW. fie. gov/pol i cy/advocacy/advocacy-fi l ings/20 I 7 /03/ftc-staff-commcn t-ohio-statc-senate-regardin11:­
competit i  ve . Accessed August 22, 20 1 8  (regarding dental therapy) ; FTC Sta.ff Comments to the Iowa Board of 
Physician Assistants on Proposed New Rules: 645-32 7. 8: Definition of Physician Supervision of a Physician Assistant 
(20 1 6) .  https ://w,vw. ftc .gov/system/fi !es/documents/advocacy documents/ftc-sta ff-comment-profess ional- l i censure­
d ivis ion- iowa-department-pub l  i c-health-regardi ng-
proposed/v 1 70002 ftc staff comment to i owa dept of pub l i c  health 1 2 -2 1 - 1 6 .pdf. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8  
(regarding physician assistants). 
1 1 1  According to the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 22 states plus the District of Columbia now grant full 
practice authority to APRNs. h ttps ://www.aanp.org/lcgi slation-rcgulation/state- legis lation/state-practicc-env i ronmcnt. 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

Reforming America's Healthcare System Through Choice and Competition 

healthcare occupations, such as dental therapy, can increase access and drive down costs 
for consumers , while still ensuring safe care . States should be particularly wary of undue 
statutory and regulatory impediments to the development of such new occupations . 

Recommendations: Broaden Scope of Practice 

• States should consider changes to their scope-of-practice statutes to allow all 
healthcare providers to practice to the top of their license, utilizing their full skill 
set. 

• The federal government and states should consider accompanying legislative and 
administrative proposals to allow non-physician and non-dentist providers to be 
paid directly for their services where evidence supports that the provider can 
safely and effectively provide that care. 

• States should consider eliminating requirements for rigid collaborative practice 
and supervision agreements between physicians and dentists and their care 
extenders (e .g . ,  physician assistants, hygienists) that are not justified by legitimate 
health and safety concerns. 

• States should evaluate emerging healthcare occupations, such as dental therapy, 
and consider ways in which their licensure and scope of practice can increase 
access and drive down consumer costs while still ensuring safe, effective care . 

Workforce Mobi l ity 

State-based licensing requirements , by their nature, inhibit provider mobility. 1 1 2 These 
requirements add time and expense when healthcare providers seek to move or work across 
state lines . Markets cannot be as responsive to economic change when workers cannot 
easily move to meet the demand for their services . 1 1 3 

Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . For examples of state restrictions on SOP besides supervision requirement see, e .g . ,  
Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences. The Future of Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing Health . 
Washington, D .C . : National Academies Press; 20 1 1 :  I 00- 1 02, Box 3 - 1  Variation in State Licensure Requirements; FTC 
Staff Policy perspectives :  competition and the regulation of advanced practice nurses .  Federal Trade Commission. 
March 7 ,  20 14 .  https : //www. fie.gov/reports/pol i cy-pcrspecti ves-competit ion-regl1 l ation-advanced-practice-nurses. 
Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 , at notes 35 -37 and accompanying text. 
1 1 2 Licensing rules are almost always state-based. See, e .g . ,  Dent v. West Virginia, 1 29 U .S .  1 1 4 ( 1 8 89) (upholding the 
authority of the State of West Virginia to license physicians) ;  Health Resources and Services Administration, U .S .  
Department of Health and Human Services . Telehealth licensure report. Report 1 1 1 -66.  Special Report to  the  Senate 
Appropriations Committee (Requested by Senate). 20 10 .  ("For over 1 00 years, health care in the United States has 
primarily been regulated by the states .  Such regulation includes the establishment of licensure requirements and 
enforcement standards of practice for health providers, including physicians, nurses, pharmacists, mental health 
practitioners, etc.") 
1 1 3 See, e.g. , Occupational Licensing: Regulation and Competition: Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Regulatory 
Reform, Commercial and Antitrust Law of the House Comm. on the Judiciary, I 1 5 th Cong. l ,  8-9 (20 1 7) (statement of 
Maureen K. Ohlhausen, Acting Chairman, Federal Trade Commission) . 
bttps ://w�vw. ftc.gov/system/fi lcs/documents/publ ic statements/ 1 253073/bouse testimony l icensing and rbi act sept 
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State-based licensing also often inhibits delivery of healthcare services across state lines 
by making it more difficult for qualified healthcare professionals licensed in one state to 
work in another state, even though most healthcare providers complete nationally certified 
education and training programs and sit for national qualifying exams . 1 1 4 Appropriate 
standards of care do not differ from state to state. Yet, even when a profession' s underlying 
standards are national in scope, and when state licensing requirements are similar 
throughout the United States, the process of obtaining a license in another state is often 
slow, burdensome, and costly. 1 1 5 There is little economic justification for the redundant 
licensing processes that many states impose on licensed, out-of-state applicants . Even when 
there may be plausible consumer-protection concerns, the harm to consumers likely 
outweighs any benefits . 1 1 6 

The effects of state-based licensing are especially apparent in fields where providers 
routinely communicate electronically and provide services in multiple states .  For this 
reason, state-based licensing requirements can inhibit the efficient development and use of 
telehealth ( discussed below), as well as in-person services. 1 1 7 

Interstate compacts and model laws can mitigate the effects of state-based licensing 
requirements by enhancing license portability. Professional associations and associations 

20 l 7 vote .pdf. Accessed August 22 ,  20 1 8 ; Occupational licensing: a framework for policy makers. U .S .  Department of 
the Treasury, Council of Economic Advisors, and the Department of Labor. July 20 1 5 ,  at 1 2 - 1 6 . 
h ttps ://obamawhi tchousc.arch ives .  gov/s ites/defau l t/fi !es/docs/I i cens ing report final nonembargo. pdf. Accessed 
August 25 ,  20 1 8 . 
1 1 4 See, e .g . ,  Health Resources & Services Administration, U .S .  Department of Health & Human Services. Special 
Report to the Senate Appropriations Committee, Telehea/th Licensure Report, Requested by Senate Rep 't 1 1 1 -66 
(20 1 0), at 9, ("The basic standards for medical and nursing licensure have become largely uniform in all states .  
Physicians and nurses must graduate from nationally approved educational programs and pass a national medical and 
nursing licensure examination.") 
1 1 5 See, e.g., American Medical Association. Obtaining a medical license. h ttp://www.ama­
assn.org/ama/pub/education-careers/becoming-phys i cian/med i cal- l i censure.page. Accessed August 22 ,  20 1 8 . ("The 
process of obtaining a medical license can be challenging and time consuming . . . .  Physicians seeking initial licensure or 
applying for a medical license in another state should anticipate delays due to the investigation of credentials and past 
practice as well as the need to comply with licensing standards."); U. S .  Department of the Treasury and U. S .  
Department of Defense, Supporting our military families: best practices for streamlining occupational licensing across 
state lines. February 20 1 2 : 1 2- 1 3 .  
http://arch i ve . defense. gov/home/pdf/Occupationa l  L icensing and M i l i tary Spouses Report vFlNAL.PDF . Accessed 
August 22, 20 1 8 .  ("Nurses moving across state lines must apply for licensure by endorsement and pay any applicable 
fees.") 
1 1 6 See, e .g . ,  Nicholson S, Propper C. Medical workforce. In Handbook of Health Economics . Vol. 2 .  I st ed. Waltham, 
MA: North Holland; 20 12 :885 .  (In medical labor markets, " [l]icensing is associated with restricted labor supply, an 
increased wage of the licensed occupation, rents, increased output prices, and no measurable effect on output quality.") 
1 1 7 See, e.g., Comment from FTC Staff to Department of Veterans Affairs, 3 (Nov. I, 20 1 7), 
h ttps : /  /\V\V\V. ftc . gov /svs tem/fi I es/documents/advocacy documents/ftc -sta ff-comment-department -veterans-affairs­
rcgard in g-i ts-p roposed-te lehca l th-m I e/v 1 8000 I vate l chcalth .pdf Accessed August 22, 2018 .  ("State laws and 
regulations that require licensure of telehealth providers licensed in another state inhibit VA employees from delivering 
telehealth services to beneficiaries in states in which they are not licensed.") 
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of licensing boards typically draft model laws, which may be passed with minor variations 
between jurisdictions . Almost all states and other United States jurisdictions have adopted 
model laws with license portability provisions in other professions such as accountancy 
and pharmacy. 1 1 8 By contrast, interstate compacts, which are binding contracts between 
two or more states authorized by the United States Constitution, must be identical and have 
been used only recently to improve licensure portability. 1 1 9 The first interstate licensure 
compact, on nurse licensure, was initially implemented in 1 999 and has been adopted by 
30 states . 1 20 Other licensure compacts in the health professions are in the early stages of 
implementation. 1 2 1  Federal grants to state professional licensing boards have encouraged 
the development and implementation of various licensure compacts in several 
professions . 1 22 

Model laws and interstate compacts typically use one of two approaches to enhance 
licensure portability. One is reciprocity as practitioners licensed by one state are able to 
practice in other states without obtaining another license. Second, some states require a 
license in each state of practice but expedite the process . 1 23 By making it easier to practice 
in multiple states ,  interstate compacts and model laws can enhance access to healthcare 
services and improve provider mobility . 

1 1 8 See, e .g . ,  American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and National Association of State Boards of 
Accountancy. Uniform Accountancy Act: Standards for Regulation . 8th ed. Nashville, TN: American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants; 20 1 8 . https ://nasba.org/app/uploads/20 1 8/02/Un iform-Accountancy-Act-%E2%80%93 -
Eighth-Edi tion-%E2%80%93-Januaty-20 I 8 .pdf. Accessed August 22,  20 1 8 ;  Streamlining licensing across state lines : 
initiatives to enhance occupational licensing portability. FTC Economic Liberty Taskforce. July 27,  20 1 7 ,  at 1 9 . 
https : //www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/publ ic events/ l 224893/ftc economic l iberty roundtable -

l icense portab il ity transcript.pdf. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8  (transcript of roundtable). (UAA mobi lity provisions 
adopted by 53 jurisdictions.) See also National Association of Boards of Pharmacy ("NABP"). Comment to the FTC 
(20 1 7), at 1 -2, https ://www.ftc.gov/systern/files/documents/pub l ic comments/20 1 7  /07/000 1 6 - 1 4 1 084.pdf. Accessed 
August 22, 20 1 8 . ("As required by the NABP Constitution and Bylaws, all NABP members participate in e-L TP and 
the NABP Clearinghouse.") The number of model laws with license portability provisions is unknown because they are 
not tracked by any organization. 
1 1 9 U .S .  Constitution Art. I, § I 0, cl .  3 .  
1 20 See FTC Staff Policy perspectives :  options to enhance occupational license portability. Federal Trade Commission. 
September 24, 20 1 8 ,  at 9- 1 0 . https: //www.ftc.gov/system/fi les/documents/reports/opt ions-cnhance-occupati onal­
l icense-pottabi l ity/l icense portabil itv pol i cy paper.pdf. Accessed September 26, 20 1 8 .  
1 2 1 See, e .g . ,  Interstate Medical Licensure Compact. http://www. imlcc . org/. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 ,  (adopted by 22 
states); Physical Therapy Licensure Compact. 
h ttp://ww,v.fsbpt . org/FreeResourccs/PhysicalTherapyLiccnsurecompact. aspx. Accessed August 22,  20 1 8 ,_Jadopted by 
1 6  states). 
1 22 See 42 U.S .C.  §254c- 1 8 ; Office for the Advancement of Telehealth, U .S .  Department of Health and Human 
Services. Funding Opportunity Announcement HRSA- 1 6-0 1 4. 20 1 6 .  
https://grants .hrsa.gov/20 I 0/Web2External/Interface/Common/EHBDisplayAttachment.aspx'!dm rte= l 6&dm attid=2 f 
098c80-40a0-43ec-b4e7-2002033a03 l a. Accessed August 22 ,  20 1 8 .  
1 23 See, e.g., Streamlining l icensing across state lines : initiatives to enhance occupational licensing portabi lity. FTC 
Economic Liberty Taskforce. July 27, 20 1 7 , at 1 1 - 1 2 ,  1 6, 1 8 - 1 9 . 
h ttps : //www. ftc.gov/system/fi les/documents/publ i c  events/ 1 224893/ftc economic  l iberty roundtable -

l i cense potiabi l ity transcript.pdf. Accessed August 22, 20 1 8 . 
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HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE :Ji� 
NORTH DAKOTA PHYSICIANS IN  SUPPORT OF HB  1 175 

JAN UARY 28, 2019 

Physician Name Location 

Adam Nicholson, M D  Grand Forks 

Andres Makarem, M D  Grand Forks 

Anthony Chu, M D  Grand Forks 

Anthony Johnson, M D  Mandan 

Attas Boutrous, M D  Bismarck 

Casey Ryan, M D  Grand Forks 

Casmair Nwaigwe, M D  Minot 

Chenel le Joseph, M D  Grand Forks 

Cordel l  Davis, DO Grand Forks 

Corey Dean Arcelay, M D  Belcourt 

Douglas Hess, DO Fargo 

Emmanuel A. Gaid, M D  Belcourt 

Eric Johnson, M D  Grand Forks 

Eric Tee, M D  Fargo 

Frederick K .  Ness, M D  Belcourt 

• 

• 

• 
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Jon W. A l len, M D  Grand Forks \ \ Q�\  i}O\ C\ 

-{:k t..\ 
Kate Kess ler, DO West Fargo 

Kulvinder Sumra, M D  Cavalier 

Lara Lunde, M D  Fargo 

Mark Langmuir, M D  Stanley 

Patrick Kane, M D  Grand Forks 

Paula Bercier, M D  Belcourt 

Richard Larson, M D  Belcourt 

Ronald Knutson, M D  Bismarck 

• 
Ryan Hoovestol, M D  Bismarck 

Sara Nausheen, M D  Grand Forks 

Shannon Mark Sel l, DO Fargo 

Shanta Gautha m, M D  Grand Forks 

Sreejith Gopi, M D  Fargo 

Stefan Johnson, M D  Grand Forks 

Steven Meek, M D  Fargo 

Susan Thom pson, M D  Cavalier 

Tom Thorson, M D  Mandan 

• 
Wil liam Zaks, M D  Grand Forks 
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Unanimous Approval by ND  Board of 

Medicine Physicians on 11/18/2018 

Robert J .  O lson, M D, Chair 

Genevieve Gaven, M D, Vice Chair 

Rupkumar Nagala, M D, Treasurer 

Brenda Mi l ler, M D  

Wi l l iam Haug, Jr . , M D  

Sara Sol berg, M D  

Thomas Carver, DO 

Robert Sticca, M D  

Catherine Houle, M D  

Gopal Chemiti, M D  

Location 

Fargo 

Val ley City 

Oakes 

Bismarck 

Grand Forks 

Wi l l iston 

• 
Minot 

Grand Forks 

Hettinger 

Fargo 
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HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 
HB 1175 

Testimony of Kate Larson, PA-C 
January 28, 2019 

Chainnan Weisz, Members of the House Human Services Committee, thank 
you for the opportunity to provide testimony on this important bill . My name is  
Kate.-Lar on and I am a physician assistant (PA) and I am speaking in support on 
HB 1 175 . 

I have been a physician assistant for the past 23 years, practicing for 2 1  
years in rural health care in ND, and currently practice for the Veteran's Health 
Administration. I am also currently a Board Member on the North Dakota Board of 
Medicine. I am here representing North Dakota physician assistants . 

This bill is an important step in improving access to care for patients in 
North Dakota. Currently, we are required to have a supervisory contract with a 
physician. HB 1 1 7 5 would eliminate this contract and allow us to work with the 
healthcare team at the practice level . When working in rural health, this contract 
creates many difficulties. There may only be one physician in some rural areas or 
no physician at some satellite clinics . Physicians are sometimes supervising 
multiple providers and this creates an unnecessary burden for them. It also creates 
difficult situations when supervising physicians are on vacation, leave the country, 
or have their own emergent situations. 

HB 1 1 75 will also improve practice opportunities for physician assistants in 
North Dakota. This will improve patient access to the care they need. There have 
been recent instances where physician assistants were not considered for practice 
positions that they were more than qualified to fill due to the required supervisory 
contract obligation. There are physician assistants that are qualified to practice in 
rural emergency rooms, urgent care cliuics, and hospitals, and the changes 
proposed in HB 1 1 75 would provide opportunities for PAs to be considered for 
these open positions. 

I believe we have proven ourselves as a profession and will continue to work 
collaboratively at the practice level with physicians and other members of the 
health care team. 

Thank you again for this opportunity, your consideration for this bill, and for 
your service to North Dakota. 

S incerely, 
Kate Larson, PA-C 
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ND Med ica l I maging and  Radiation Therapy Board testimony 

P resented by Boa rd President Shi rley Porter 

House Human Services Committee 

HB 1175 

January 28, 2019 

Cha i rman Weisz and Members of the House Human  Services Com mittee, I am Sh i r ley Porter and  I serve a s  

President o f  the  North Dakota M ed ica l Imaging and  Rad iat ion Thera py Boa rd ( N D M I RT) . 

The North  Dakota Med ica l Imaging and Rad iat ion Thera py Boa rd has the responsib i l ity to protect the pub l ic 

by l icens ing and  regulat ing personne l  performing med ica l imag ing procedu res and  rad iat ion thera py 

treatments. This respons ib i l ity inc ludes sett ing m in imum standards  for l i censure, estab l i sh ing scopes of 

practice, enforc ing d iscip l i na ry actions, further deve lop ing standards, and  adopt ing rules for the 

improvement of the adm in istrat ion of med ica l imag ing o r  rad iat ion thera py procedu res in North Da kota . As 

of J anuary 2019 we currently have about 1500 medica l  imaging and rad i at ion therapy 

professiona ls  l icensed. 

The performance of medica l  imag ing or rad iat ion thera py is safe ly accomp l ished by Registered rad io logic 

techno logists - known as "R .T.s" - they must com plete at least two yea rs of forma l  education  in a n  

• 
accred ited hospita l-based program or a two- o r  fou r-yea r  educat iona l  p rogram at a n  academic i nstitut ion 

and m ust pass a nat iona l  certification exam i nat ion .  To rema i n  registered, they m ust earn conti nu i ng 

education cred its. To briefly summarize, they a re educated i n  a natomy, patient posit ion ing, exam i nat ion 

techn iq ues, equ ipment protoco ls, rad iat ion safety, rad iat ion protect ion a nd bas ic pat ient ca re .  They a re 

respons ib le for accurately posit ion ing pat ients a nd  ensuri ng that a qua l ity d iagnostic  image is produced . To 

further br iefly exp la i n  a Registered rad iat ion thera pist is tra ined to perform rad iat ion thera py, usua l ly on  

cancer patients a im ing h igh doses of  prec is ion rad iat ion at the affected a rea, wh i le  a lso be i ng requ i red to  

ea rn cont inu i ng education credits. Cont i nu i ng educat ion a l l ows imaging p rofessiona l s  to  stay flu i d  with the 

ever-changing practice of med ica l imaging and rad iat ion thera py as  new a reas evolve and other a reas  may 

phase-out with the a rriva l of new techno logies. 

We a ppea r before you today i n  support of the sp i rit of HB 1175. We understand the need for prov iders in 

our rura l  commun ities and offer  our assista nce i n  making a ccess easier and more conven ient for ou r  

patients. When  the  Boa rd reviewed HB 1175 we viewed i t  as  overly broad i n  scope i n  order to  ach ieve the 

goa ls of access. We fee l  there a re some concerns with pat ient safety i n  the a reas of med ica l imag ing, 

specifica l ly ion iz ing rad iation .  We would l i ke to c la rify some confl ict ing l a nguage on page 2, l i nes 13-17 

• 
with in  sect ion 2 i n  rega rds to the i ntent of "perform i ng" . This sect ion a ppea rs to be i n  confl i ct with sect ion 

3, l ines 30-31 and page 3, letter c. , l i nes 5-6. 
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ND Medica l Imaging a nd Radiation Therapy Board testimony 

Presented by Board President Shi rley Porter 

It a ppears in section 2,  page 2,  l i nes 13-17 that PAs a re not a uthorized to perform a ny services that 

m ust be perfo rmed by persons l icensed pu rsuant to chapters 43-12 .1  which is the Nu rse Practices Act, 43-

13 Optometrists, 43-15 Pharmac ists, and 43-28 Dentists and -th is is the patient safety concern and 

concerning confl ict language; "or services otherwise regulated by licensing laws, notwithstanding medical 

doctors need not be licensed specifically to perform the service contemplated under such chapters or 

licensing laws". 

Th is l a nguage appears to a lso confl ict with l anguage in section 3, page 2, l ines 30-3 1 numbe r  ( 3 )  

which states :  "(3} Ordering, performing, and interpreting a diagnostic study and therapeutic procedure;" as  

wel l  a s  page 3,  l i n e s  5-6, letter c .  which states: "Supervise, delegate, and assign therapeutic and diagnostic 

measures to licensed or unlicensed personnel;". 

Attached to th is  testimony a re proposed a mendments prepared by the Board 's  assistant attorney genera l  

t o  a ssist i n  c l a rifying the a bove confl ict ing l anguage a n d  patient safety concerns of the Med ica l Imaging and  

Rad iation Thera py Board .  

Brief overview of proposed amendments to HB 1175: 

Page 2, l ine 30, removes ", perform ing," and rep lace the word "interpreting" with "eva l uat ing" . 

Page 2, l ast l i ne  3 1, after the word "procedu res;" i nserts "not involving the use of medical imaging as 

defined in  section 43-62-01 or rad iation therapy as defined in section 43-62-01." 

• This insert ion of l a nguage c lea rly defines that PAs a re not a uthorized to perform a ny 

services otherwise regu lated by l i cens ing laws, such as medica l  imaging a nd rad iat ion 

thera py, as  stated i n  sect ion 2,  page 2, l ines 15-17 and reso lves the patient safety concerns 

and l anguage confl icts. 

Last ly page 3,  l i ne  5, letter c .  after the word "measures" inse rts the same language of "not i nvolving the 

use of medical imaging as defined in  section 43-62-01 or radiation therapy as defined in  section 43-62-

01." 

• Aga in  th is insert ion of l a nguage resolves the patient safety concerns and  l anguage confl icts. 

M r. Cha i rman  and  Committee members, the North Dakota Medica l  Imaging and  Rad iat ion Therapy Boa rd 

wou ld  req uest that the Com mittee adopt th is  amendment, and recommend a DO PASS to amended H B  

1 175 .  That conc ludes m y  forma l test imony a nd I wou ld  be happy to answer a ny questions you may have . 

Page 2 ,  
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE B ILL NO. 1 1 75 
#lo 

Page 2 ,  l ine 30 ,  remove ", performing," 

Page 2 ,  l i ne 30 , replace " interpreting" with "evaluating" 

Page 2 ,  l i ne 3 1 , after the sem icolon insert "(4) Performing a d iagnostic study or 
therapeutic procedure not involving the use of med ical imaging as defined in  section 43-
62-0 1 or rad iation therapy as defined in  section 43-62-0 1 ;" 

Page 3 ,  l ine 5 ,  after "measures" insert "not i nvolving the use of med ica l  imaging as 
defined in  section 43-62-01 or rad iation therapy as defined in  section 43-62-0 1 ;" 

Renumber accord ing ly 

3 
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My name i Dr .  Luke Ro l l e r  nd I am  here a s  a rep resentative of a loca l rad io log ist g ro up  to 
express support for the proposed cha nges as  be ing p resented today by the No rth Da kota 
Society of Rad io logic Techno logists ( N DSRT), the nat ion a l  America n Society of Rad io logic 
Techno logists (ASRT) and the nation a l  Society of Rad io logist P hysici an  Extenders (SRPE ) .  I wou ld  
a lso specifica l ly  l i ke to  add ress the l a nguage with i n  the b i l l  rega rd ing " i nte rpret" d iagnost ic 
exa m inat ions and thera peutic procedu res .  I be l ieve a l a nguage cha nge to "eva l uate" wou ld  be 
more a ppropriate . This is located on Scope of Pract ice l i ne  30 in the HB 1 175 b i l l .  

With med ica l imaging, Rad io logists have at  least 5 yea rs o f  advanced t ra i n i ng a nd  educat ion to 
pe rform the interpretat ion of medica l imag ing .  Th is is after com plet ion of med ica l schoo l .  I n  
add it ion, often rad io logist choose to do  a n  add it iona l 1 t o  3 yea rs o f  fe l lowsh ip  fo l lowing 
residency i n  o rde r  to perform interpretat ion of a l l  med ica l imaging .  The re is a lso a requ i red 
cont i nu i ng educat ion com ponent which covers the i nd ivid u a l  specific moda l it ies the rad io logist 
i nterprets i n  the i r  working env i ronment .  

I nterpretat ion o f  med ica l imag ing i nc l udes  adva nced imag ing moda l it ies l i ke Computed 
Tomogra phy (CT) a nd Magnetic Resonance I mag ing ( M R I )  which a re com p lex exam inat ions that  
req u i re adva nced ed ucat ion a nd tra i n i ng to p rovide  app rop riate i nterpretat ion and to ensure 
the safety of pat ients . 

Tha n k  you for you r  t ime .  

Respectfu I ly, 

B ismarck Rad io logy Associates 

1 
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Mr. Chairman and members of the House of Human Services Committee. My 
name is Danielle Goetz and I am the current Vice President/ Interim President of 
the North Dakota Society of Radiologic Technologists. I would like to tell you 
about myself. I have been working in Radiology for 13 years and my current role is 
working as a Quality Management Technologist with the Sanford Physics 
Department. My unique roll allows me to work within all radiology modalities. I 
not only work in big town hospitals, but also all of our satellite clinics in the rural 
parts of North Dakota. My primary focus in my job is to optimize all our radiology 
machines and make sure we provide all patients with as low of radiation as 
possible. 

I would first like to make known that we as a society are in support of HB 1175 
with a few modifications made to the language currently being used. We propose 
to amend the language and make it more specific and clear. 

The amendment is to the language under Scope of Practice line 30. 

20 43-17.:02.1 . Physician assistant - Limitations en preseribing drugsSoope of practice. 

2 1 1.. A physician assistant may preseribc A1edieati0ns as delegated ta de se by a 

22 s1:1pervisiR9 physieiaA. This may ind1:1de sehedule 11 tl=lre1:1gl=I V eeAtrolled substances. 

23 A, physieian assistant who is a delegated prescriber of cen!J:olled s1:1bstanoos must 

24 register vAth the fedeFal drug enforcement adA1inistrati0n._;_ 

25 g.. Provide a legal rnedica service for 'v'h'lich a physician assistant is prepared by 

26 education, training and experience and is competent to perform Cnduding· 
27 ill Obtaining and perfom1ing a comprehensive health history and physical 

28 examination; 

29 .(2.). Evaluating diagnosing managing aod providing medical treatment· 
30 ill Ordering, performing, and interpreting a d1agnostic study and therapeutic 

31 procedure; 
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We propose this to be changed to read " performing a diagnostic study or 
therapeutic procedure not involving the use of medical imaging as defined in 43-
62-01.5 N DCC, or radiation therapy as defined in 43-62-01.9, N DCC." 

Radiology is an ever-changing field and because of this we are required to receive 
two to four years of education depending on our specialty area. We also take a 
nationally accredited test to demonstrate our competency in addition to a 
mandatory 12 containing education credits annually that are specific to our 
specialty fields. Because of the increasing hazards of fluoroscopy, this year the 
Joint Commission is requiring everyone that operates a fluoroscopy producing 
machine to take additional training to ensure everyone understands their 
equipment and how to optimize them to safeguard against over radiation 
exposure. This is on top of other mandatory education that is required specific to 
our modalities of practice. This additional requirement is also being asked for all 
Physicians that operate fluoroscopy as well. Specialized training is being required 
for this specialty imaging modality because of the hazards of radiation. This 
demonstrates the severeness that radiation can induce and that even physicians 
are being required to take additional training. 

The second amendment is to the language under Scope of Practice top of page 
two, subsection C, line 5. 

Sixty-sixth 
Legislative Assembly 

1 W Educating a patient on health promotion and disease preventlon-
2 @ Providing consultation upon request: and 

3 .(£.). Writing a medical order; 
4 � Obtain informed consent: 

5 .£c Supervise, delegate. and assign therapeutic and d1agnostic measures to licensed 

6 or unlicensed personnel· 
7 � Certifv lhe health or disabi llty of a patient as reguired by any local, state. or 

8 federal program; 
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We propose to amend this language to be refined to read "supervise, delegate 
and assign therapeutic and diagnostic measures, not including medical imaging 
procedures as defined in 43-62-01.5, N DCC, or radiation therapy as defined in 43-
62-01.9, N DCC, to licensed or unlicensed personnel." 

While we support the expansion of this profession and the intent of this bill, we 
believe it takes additional education and a specialized body of knowledge to 
safety operate and delegate these procedures. The amendments that we offer 
support and clarify our position. If a PA or other allied health professional may 
want to perform some of these studies they have the ability to use the already in 
place pathways. 

N DSRT encourages the Health and Human Services committee to vote Do Pass 
with submitted amended language. 

Thank you for your time, 

Danielle Goetz, BSRT (R ) (QM ) 
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Mr. Chairman and members of the House of Human Services Committee .  My name is 
Carla Barrios  and I am a Radiologist Assistant (RA) working in ND. This is to express  
my support for the language changes proposed by the NDSRT, ASRT and the SRPE to 
the bill HB l 1 75 .  

To become a RA, I attended a Masters level graduate program specific to performing 
medical image guided exams and procedures .  It is a 24 month program of educational and 
clinical requirements similar to PA programs for Allied Health professionals ,  except the 
training, education and clinical requirements are specific to the medical imaging 
profession. In fact, due to the subspecialty of the program, only a Radiologic 
Technologist with BSRT degree and experience are qualified to apply and enter these 
graduate programs.  I had been a Radiologic Technologist for 20 years prior to obtaining 
RA certification. These programs include requirements of dedicated time spent directly 
with a radiologist that is equivalent to 2500-3000 hours working with a radiologist to 
perform image guided procedures and examinations. Following my completion of the 
program, I was required to pass a national board examination from the accrediting body 
to attain certification as a RA. 

As a working RA, I need to be licensed by the state NDMIRT board also to perform 
imaged guided procedures and examinations. I have to attain 50  hours of continuing 
education specific to radiology and image guided performance standards every two years 
with required re-examination of national board examination every 1 0  years to maintain 
my professional license. All of these requirements are to ensure the safety, diagnosis and 
treatment of the patients who need to have these specialized image guided procedures that 
many times expose patients to large amounts of ionizing radiation. 

Even with the vast experience prior, during and post RA graduate programs, RA's are 
explicitly forbidden to interpret final reports of medical image guided procedures and 
examinations. RA' s  also have to be under the "general supervision" of a physician during 
their employment to ensure the safety and efficacy of procedures that are performed. The 
national scope of practice along with the state licensing board, NDMIRT, explicitly state 
interpretation of medical imaging is not allowed. Interpretation of medical imaging is the 
sole responsibility of a Radiologist. The broad language within the HB 1 1 75 bill is  
concerning because not only should a scope of practice express  what al l  a health care 
provider can do, sometimes it is just as important to ensure certain procedures are 
specifically excluded to ensure patient safety and health care is performed by individuals 
whose training and education specially included the performance of those examinations. 

PA programs do not provide the in-depth education, clinical requirements or extensive 
experience in Radiology the RA programs provide. PA programs are mainly primary care 
and many differing allied health professionals are allowed to apply and attend. Many of 
these primary care health professionals have had no experience with the specialized area 
of Radiology, nor do they achieve the experience in the PA programs for any 

(� 
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equivalencies to the RA programs. Nor do their ongoing continuing education have 
medical imaging requirements. 

The medical industry is constantly changing with professionals needing to provide and 
treat increasing number of patients at a time when reimbursement i s  getting difficult. We 
need to have all mid level professionals to meet these increasing demands. But, we need 
to ensure patient safety, proper diagnosis and treatment is performed by qualified 
individuals . These mid level graduate programs do not cover all aspects of the medical 
profession which is why we also have speciality graduate programs to meet the needs of 
the patients and the industry. It will take a team of health care providers to meet the future 
needs of providing high quality and safe care while improving access  for all patients . That 
doesn't necessarily mean creating "jacks of all trades and masters of none" approach. We 
need primary care providers to take care of the majority of patients needs and care, but 
sometimes it also requires collaborating with subspecialty care specialists to ensure high 
quality and safe care and access. 

Respectfully, 

Carla Barrios MS RRA, RPA, BSRT (R)(M) 
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Phys ici a n  Assistants a re l icensed and regu l ated by the Board of M ed ic ine;  whereas, Advance 
P ractice Registered N u rses a re l i censed and regu lated by the N D  Boa rd of N u rs ing. Thus, the 
North Dakota N u rse P ract it ioner Associat ion is neutra l  on  b i l l  1 175 .  

North Da kota N u rse P ractit ioner Associat ion 
www.nd npa .o rg 
Legislation Tracking Team 
Chery l  R i s ing :  cr is i ngn p@gma i l .com 701-527-2583 
J enna  Herman :  jmherman@umary .edu 612-5 18-3647 
Ta ra Brandner :  tb randner04@gmai l .com 701-471-9745 
Additional Legislative Committee 
Tisha  Scheuer :  tscheuer28@gma i l .com 
A l l i son Pe lt ier :  a l l i son . pe lt ier@ndsu .edu 
Pau l a  Moch : p au l amochfn p@gma i l . com 



CHAPTER 43-62 
MEDICAL IMAGING AND RADIATION THERAPY 

43-62-01 . Defin itions. 
As used i n  th is  chapter: 
1 .  "Board"  means the North Dakota med ica l  imag ing and rad iation  therapy board .  
2 .  "Certificat ion organ ization" means a nat ional  cert ifi cation organ izat ion that spec ia l izes 

in the certificat ion and reg istration  of medical  imag ing and rad iat ion therapy techn ica l  
personne l  and wh ich has prog rams accred ited by the nationa l  comm ission for 
certifyi ng  agencies ,  American  nationa l  standards  institute or  the i nternationa l  
organ izat ion for standard ization , or other  accred itation  organ ization  recogn ized by the 
board . 

3 .  "L icensed practit ioner" means a l icensed physic ian , advanced p ractice reg istered 
nurse , ch i ropractor, dent ist , or pod iatr ist . 

4. "Licensee" means an  i nd iv idua l  l icensed by the board to perform med ical imag ing or 
rad iat ion therapy and operate med ica l  imag ing or  rad iation therapy equ i pment ,  
inc lud i ng  a nuclear medic ine technolog ist ,  rad iat ion therap ist ,  rad iog rapher, rad io log ist 
assistant ,  sonographer, or magnet ic resonance imag ing techno log ist .  

5 . "Med ica l  imag ing"  means the performance of  any d iagnostic o r  intervent ional 
procedure or  operation of med ica l  imag ing  equ ipment intended for use in the d iagnosis 
or visua l ization of d isease or  other  med ical cond it ions i n  human  beings ,  inc lud ing 
magnetic resonance imagi ng ,  fluoroscopy, nuclear med ici ne ,  sonography, or  x-rays . 

6 .  "Med ical physicist" means an i nd iv id ua l  who is certified by  t he  American board of 
rad io logy, American board of med ica l  physics ,  American board of sc ience in nuclear 
medici ne ,  or Canad ian col lege of phys ics i n  med ic ine i n  rad io log ica l  phys ics or one of 
the subspecialt ies of rad io log ica l  phys ics .  

7 .  "Primary modal ity" means an  i nd ividua l  practic ing a s  a nuclear med ic ine technolog ist ,  
rad iat ion therap ist ,  rad iog rapher, rad io log ist assistant , sonographer, o r  magnetic 
resonance imag ing technolog ist .  

8 .  "Protected hea lth informat ion" has the same mean ing as prov ided u nder section 
23-0 1 .3-0 1 . 

9 .  "Rad iat ion therapy" means the  performance of  any  procedure or  operat ion of rad iat ion 
therapy equ ipment i ntended for use in the treatment of d i sease or  other med ical 
cond itions in human be ings . 

1 0 . "Rad iat ion therap ist" means an  ind ivi dua l ,  other than a l icensed practit ioner or 
authorized user, who performs procedu res and app l ies ion iz ing rad iat ion em itted from 
x-ray mach ines ,  part ic le acce lerators , or sealed rad ioactive sources to h uman beings 
for therapeut ic pu rposes . 

(Contingent effective date - See note) Definitions. 
As used in th is  chapter: 
1 .  "Board" means the North Dakota med ica l  imag ing and rad iation  therapy board . 
2 .  "Certification organ izat ion" means  a nat ional  cert ifi cation organ izat ion that special izes 

in the certificat ion and reg istration of med ica l  imag ing and rad iat ion therapy techn ica l  
personne l  and wh ich has p rograms accred ited by the nationa l  commission for 
certifying  agencies , American nationa l  standards institute o r  the i nternationa l  
organ izat ion for standard ization ,  or  other  accred itation  organ ization  recogn ized by the 
board . 

3 .  "L icensed practit ioner" means a l icensed phys ician , advanced p ractice reg istered 
nurse ,  ch i ropractor, dentist, or pod iatr ist . 

4 .  "Licensee" means an i nd iv i dua l  l icensed by  t he  board to  perform med ical imag ing o r  
rad iat ion therapy and  operate medica l  imag ing or  rad iation therapy equ ipment ,  
inc lud ing a nuclear medic ine technologist ,  rad i at ion therap ist ,  rad iographer, rad io log ist 
assistant ,  x-ray operator, sonog rapher, or  magnetic resonance imag ing  technologist .  

5 .  "Med ica l  imag ing"  means the performance of any d iagnostic or  interventional  
procedu re or  operat ion of med ica l  imag ing  equ i pment intended for use i n  the d iagnosis 
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or visua l izat ion of d isease or other med ica l  cond i t ions i n  human be ings ,  inc l ud i ng  ' lailav\ C\ 
magnet ic resonance imag ing , fluoroscopy, nuclear med ic ine ,  sonog raphy, or x-rays . % / I 6 .  

7 .  

8 .  

9. 

1 0 . 

"Med ica l  physic ist" means an i nd iv id ua l  who is certified by the American board of 
rad io logy, American board of medica l  phys ics , Ameri can board of sc ience in  n uc lear 
medicine ,  or Canad ian col lege of phys ics i n  medic ine i n  rad io log ica l  phys ics or one of 
the subspecialt ies of rad io log ical  phys ics .  
"Pr imary modal ity" means an  i nd iv idua l  pract ic ing as a nuc lear med ic ine technolog ist ,  
rad iat ion therap ist , rad iographer, rad io log ist ass istant ,  sonographer, or  magnet ic 
resonance i mag ing technolog ist . 
"Protected health i nformat ion" has the same mean ing  as provided u nder sect ion 
23-0 1 . 3-0 1 . 
"Rad iat ion therapy" means the performance of any procedu re or  operation of rad iation  
therapy equ ipment i ntended for use  i n  t he  treatment o f  d isease or  other med ica l  
cond it ions i n  human be ings. 
"Rad iat ion therap ist" means an i nd iv idua l ,  other  than a l i censed practitioner  or 
authorized user, who performs procedu res and app l ies ion iz i ng  rad iat ion em itted from 
x-ray mach ines ,  part ic le acce lerators , or  sealed rad ioactive sources to human be ings 
for therapeut ic pu rposes .  

43-62-02. License requ ired. 
An i nd ividua l  may not perform or  offer to perform med ical  imag ing or  rad iation therapy on  

humans for d iagnostic or therapeutic pu rposes or  otherwise i nd i cate or  i mply that t he  ind iv idua l  
i s  l i censed to  perform med ica l  imag ing  o r  rad i at ion therapy un less that i nd iv idua l  is l icensed 
u nder th is  chapter. 

43-62-03. Exemptions. 
This chapter does not app ly to the fol lowi ng :  
1 .  A l icensed practit ioner perform ing  med ica l  imag ing or  rad iat ion therapy. 
2 .  A dental assistant or dental hyg ien ist l i censed under  chapter 43-20 .  
3 .  A student enro l led i n  and  attend ing  a school o r  co l lege o f  med ici ne ,  med ica l  imag i ng ,  

or rad iat ion therapy who performs med ica l  imag ing or rad iat ion therapy on h u mans 
wh i l e  under  the  supervision  of  a l i censed practit ioner  or  a rad iographer, rad iation  
therap ist ,  nuclear medici ne  technolog ist ,  rad io log ist ass istant ,  sonographer, or 
magnetic resonance imagin g  techno log ist ho ld ing a l icense i n  the med ical imag ing  or  
rad iat ion therapy moda l ity for which the student is  enro l led or attend i ng .  

4 .  An ind iv id ua l  adm in isteri ng med ical imag ing  or  rad iation  therapy a n d  who is  employed 
by the Un ited States government when perform ing  d ut ies associated with that 
employment. 

5 .  A nurse l i censed under  chapter 43- 1 2 . 1  who performs sonography on a focused 
imag ing target to assess specific and l im ited i nformation about a pat ient's immed iate 
med ica l  cond it ion or to prov ide rea l-time  v isua l  gu idance for another p rocedu re .  

6 .  A l im ited x-ray mach ine operator who meets the requ i rements o f  ru les adopted b y  the 
state department of hea lth under section  23-20 . 1 -04 . 

7 .  Med ica l  imag ing performed a s  a part of a post-mortem exam inat ion or on other  
non l ivi ng  rema ins .  

8 .  Medical  imag ing performed by emergency med ica l  services personne l  cert ifi ed or 
l icensed under  sect ion 23-27-04 .3 .  

(Contingent effective date - See note) Exemptions. Th i s  chapter does  no t  apply to  the 
fo l lowing :  

1 .  A l icensed practit ioner perform ing  med ical imag ing or  rad iation  therapy. 
2 .  A dental assistant or denta l hyg ien ist l i censed under  chapter 43-20 .  
3 .  A student enro l led i n  and  attend i ng a school or co l lege of  med ici ne ,  med ica l  imag i ng ,  

or rad iat ion therapy who performs med ical imag ing o r  rad iat ion therapy on h umans  
wh i l e  under  t he  supervision  o f  a l i censed practit ioner or a rad iographer, rad iat ion 
therap ist ,  nuclear medic i ne techno log ist ,  rad io log ist ass istant ,  sonographer, or 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking �ort in the 2019 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of  PA�oposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state·mandated supervisory contract betwee n  a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 175 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D . Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 20 18, meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for PAs. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide . 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providers. 
• allow PAs to open free -standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 
• change the way PAs already practice . 
• allow PAs to practice outside of their s�ope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed amendments . 

Q�,�-
Print Name 

. .  0. . �4<Y£ 0. (J 

Signature 

s k_o_ K-0 //1._ l'V10-r k. s� I ( o, 8 .  
Print Name IV f.J L. �-(.. /4 � (; 9 .3 

NDAPA 

1412 Cottonwood Avenue 

Minot, ND 5870 1 

Send to : NDAPAboard@gmail.com 

\ 

Practice Location 

Essentia Health 
52nd Avenue Cl in ic  
4110 51st Avenue 
F�1 IMDio§8 104 

_,_5........,/ ()f--....._t/ _1-t-..__,5/..L..aL..L..J�5£...I, ra ;q O Al/" Practice Location J U 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota. Academy of Physician Aseista.nts 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota phyeician assistants <PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, RB 1176, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state·mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1175 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D, Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment l!iJl: 
• allow P As to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for P As. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow P As to practice at t

h
e level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 
• ch� how P As already collaborate with physicians and other providers. 

ii1ow PAs to opeil free-standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 
the way PAs al.ready practice. 

PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 

�ou are giving your support for these proposed amendments. • 

Practice L>cation 

Practice Location 

Practice Location • 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 20 19 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, HB 1 175, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state-mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 175 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D . Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota . 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for PAs. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providers. 
• allow PAs to open free-standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 
• change the way PAs already practice . 
• allow P As to practice outside of their scope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed amendments. 

� �  

Print Name 

Signature 

�-+vv�n filltt-J< 
Print Name 
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Print Name 

NDAPA 
1412  Cottonwood Avenue 

Minot, ND 5870 1 
Send to : NDAPAboard@gmail.com 
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North Dakota Physician Colleagues :  
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North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 20 19 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, HB 1 1 75, p ropof.leA tn 
remove the current requirement of a stato·mnndntod  suporvisory contract between o.. 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 1 75 wcro unanimously approved by 
the N,D, Iloard of Medicine at their November 16 1·h

i 
20 18, meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most . 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota . 
• remove supervising physicians' legal responsibi lities for PAs. 
• kcop PAs accountable for the care that they provide . 
• remove unnecessary harriers to allow PAs to pl·actice at the level they are trained .  

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and othe r.· providers. 
• allow PAs to open free · standing cl i n i cs unless approved by the lloo.rd of Medicine . 
• change the way PAs already practice .  
• allow P As to practice outside of their scope and training. 

ou are giving your suppol't for these proposed amendments . 

Print Name 

Signaturo 

Print Name 

Signature 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues :  

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are  asking for your  support in  the  20 19 
legislative session . A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, HB  1 1 75. proposes to  
remove the current requirement of  a state -mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA a nd a p hysician .  The p roposed changes  in HB 1 1 75 were unanirnouslv approved by 
the N.D . Board of Medicine at their November 16th , 20 18 ,  meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• a llow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most . 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota . 
• remove supervising physicians' legal responsibilities for PAs. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide . 
• remove unnecessary barriers to a llow PAs to practice at the level they are trained .  

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs a lready collaborate with physician s  and other providers . 
• al low PAs to open  free -standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine .  
• change the way PAs already practice . 
• a l low PAs to pract ice outside of the ir scope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed ame ndments. 

Print Name 

Signature 

Print Name 

Signature 

Print Name 

NDAPA 

1 -1 1 2 Cottonwood Avenue 

l\hnot, ND 5870 1  

Send  to: NDAP.-\board@gmail .com 
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North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of P Ast RB 1176, proposes to 
remove the current i·equfrement of a state· mandated supervisory contract between a 

PA and a physician. The proposed changes inHB l 175 were unanimouQJ.x.aputav.t<lb->: 
the N.D. Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment mu: 

• allow P As to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for PM. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow P As to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providets. 
• allow PAs to open free·standing clinics unless approved by the Boa.rd of Medicine . 
• change the way P As already practice. 
• allow PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for thesepropoaed amendments. 
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North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 
legislative session .  A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, RB 1 17 5, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state· mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA a nd a physician .  The proposed changes in RB 1 175 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D . Board of Medicine at their November 16 th , 20 18,  meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal responsibilities·for PAs. � 

• 

• keep 1?As accountable for the care that they provide . � 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. / 

The amendment will not: 

• 
• 

change how P As already collaborate with physicians and other providers . 
allow PAs to open free·standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine .

• change the way P As already practice . 
allow P As to practice outside of the · 

• 
• 

By signing below, you are giving your support 
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North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 

legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, HB 1175, proposes to 

remove the current requirement of a state·mandated supervisory contract between a 

PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1175 were unanimously approved by 

the N,D. Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment lrlJl: 
• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 

• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 

• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for P As. 

• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 

• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment :will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providers. 

• allow P As to open free·standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 

• change the way PAs alreaay practice. 

• allow P As to practice outside of their scope and training. 

• 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed amendments. 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 20 19  
legislative se8$ion. A bill pertaining to the regulation of PAs, HB 1 175, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state·mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 1 75 were unanimously approved by 
the N,D. Board ofMedicine at their November 16Lh, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment .mll= 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for P As. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providers. • allow PAs to open free·standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. • change the way PAs already practice. • allow PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 
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By signing bel� givfug your support for these proposed amendments. 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician  Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues :  

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 
upcoming legislative session. We are submitting an amendment to the N.D.  Century 
Code that will remove the current requirement of a supervisory contract with a 
physician. These changes were unanimouslv approved by the N .D .  Board of Medicine 
at their November 16th , 20 1 8, meeting. 

The amendment wil l :  

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most . 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal and disciplinary responsibilities for PAs. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide . 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not : 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and other providers . 
• al low PAs to open free-standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine . 
• change the way PAs already practice . 
• allow PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 

By signing below, you ru·e giving your support for these proposed amendments . 
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Print Name 
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Print Name 
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Print Name 

NDAPA 
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M i not, ND 5870 1 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues : 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of  PAs, HB 1 1 75, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state-mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 1 75 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D. Board of Medicine at their November 16 th, 20 18, meeting. 

• 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most . 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal responsibilities fo,· PAs . 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how PAs already collaborate with physicians and othe1· providers.  
• allow PAs to open free-standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 
• change the way P As already practice. 
• allow PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed amendments. 
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NDAPA 
North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

North Dakota Physician Colleagues: 

North Dakota physician assistants (PAs) are asking for your support in the 2019 
legislative session. A bill pertaining to the regulation of P As, HB 1 175, proposes to 
remove the current requirement of a state-mandated supervisory contract between a 
PA and a physician. The proposed changes in HB 1 175 were unanimously approved by 
the N.D. Board of Medicine at their November 16th, 2018, meeting. 

The amendment will: 

• allow PAs to practice in areas where medical providers are needed most. 
• improve access to care for the citizens of North Dakota. 
• remove supervising physicians' legal responsibilities for P As. 
• keep PAs accountable for the care that they provide. 
• remove unnecessary barriers to allow PAs to practice at the level they are trained. 

The amendment will not: 

• change how P As already collaborate with physicians and other providers. 
• allow PAs to open free-standing clinics unless approved by the Board of Medicine. 
• change the way PAs already practice. 
• allow PAs to practice outside of their scope and training. 

By signing below, you are giving your support for these proposed amendments. 
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Rep. Bill Devlin Testimony- Senate Human Services Committee - HB 1175 

Good morning, Chairman Lee and esteemed members of the Senate Human 
Services Committee. For the record, I am Rep. Bill Devlin of District 23. Our district 
is a rural legislative district in eastern North Dakota. 

I am proud to introduce HB 1175 at the request of Physician Assistants from my 
area and across the state for your consideration. 

As I have watched medicine evolve to meet the needs of N orth Dakota citizens 
there is one undisputable fact that jumps out at me and everyone else observing. 
The practice of medicine in many rural areas of the state would not be possible 
without P hysician Assistants. Without those highly trained professionals 
practicing medicine, many clinics and even hospitals would have a difficulty if not 
impossible time providing care to our residents and the facilities might not even 
survive. 

The other fact that is undisputable is that we have come to recognize that 
certain practitioners of medicine do not need some of the over-sight originally 
spelled out in code to practice within their scope of practice, safely and effectively 
and to provide the best possible care for our citizens. 

HB1175 recognizes that fact and calls for changes in the direct oversight of 
Physician Assistants by physicians. The bill will not change how Physician 
Assistants already collaborate with physicians and other providers but will remove 
some of the unnecessary restrictions I want to you to know the proposed 
changes in HB 1 1 75  were unanimously approved by the N.D .  Board of 
Medicine at their November 16th, 2 0 18, meeting. 

Committee members, I know some of you might have questions but prefer to let 
you hear from the experts that will follow me to the podium. I f  there is specific 
information needed later, I can obtain it for the committee. 

For now, I urge your thoughtful consideration of HB1175 and I hope eventually a 
unanimous do pass recommendation. Thank you, Chairman Lee and esteemed 
members of the Senate Human Service Committee. 
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Madam Chairman , Members of the Senate Human Services 
Comm ittee, my name is Duane Houdek. I represent the N D  Academy of 
Phys ic ian Assistants with regard to HB  1 1 75 .  

To accom modate the  schedu le o f  one  of  our  presenters, Dr. Gordon 
Lei ngang , I request that I be perm itted to introduce h im  to testify now, and 
resume my test imony when he is done.  Thank you , Madam Chairman .  

Dr. Leingang i s  especial ly able to provide test imony regard ing the 
tra in i ng  and regu lat ion of physician assistants . He is a mu lt ip le award-

• 
winning protessor ot Physician Assistant courses at Des Moines 
U n ivers ity-Osteopath ic Med ical Center. He has taught at the Un iversity of 
Mary i n  the Nu rse Pract it ioner program . He is  a former member of the 
North Dakota Board of Med ic ine. He is the former Fl i ght Surgeon for the 
North Dakota Nat ional Guard ,  and has supervised med ical personnel of al l 
types of train ing  during two tours of I raq . 
*** 

Madam Chairman and members of the comm ittee , as we began to 
prepare testimony for th is hearing,  it became clear the committee wished 
to be i nformed about the educat ion , train ing and practice of physic ians 
assistants, especia l ly as compared to nurse pract it ioners , to help you with 
your assessment of th is bi l l .  Through the generous col laborat ion of Stacy 
Pfenn i ng of the North Dakota Board of Nurs ing , we have put together a 

• table  that we a l l  agree compares the most mean i ngfu l components of 
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educat ion and trai n ing  of each profession . Jay Metzger, who works with 
the PA admission criteria and curricu la at UNO wi l l  add ress that portion of 
our test imony as those points of comparison relate to physic ian assistants . 
I understand Ms.  Pfenn i ng wi l l  testify with regard to the comparison poi nts 
as they relate to nurse pract it ioners .  It is our bel ief that th is  is the most 
objective and mean ingfu l  way we could help the comm ittee u nderstand 
the subject . 

I wi l l  add ress only the current pract ice of phys ic ian assistants and 
the way the superv·1sory contract needlessly gets in the way of addressing 
North Dakota's shortage of health care providers , especia l ly i n  ru ral areas . 

Th is b i l l  effects one essentia l  change in  the regu lat ion of physician 
ass istants in North Dakota: It removes the written supervisory contract 
that is now requ i red between a specific physician and a physic ian 
assistant by the Board of Med ic ine,  whose requ i rement is based on a 
statutory phrase passed 44 years ago when PA's were fi rst l icensed by the 
state i n  1 975.  

Here 's wnat tne bi l l  does not do : 
1 . I t  does not expand the perm issible scope of practice of physic ian 

assistants i n  North Dakota. 
2 .  With one  except ion I wi l l  explai n ,  it does not authorize independent 

pract ice by physic ian assistants . 
3 .  I t  does not remove the  pract ice requ i rement that physician assistants 

must col laborate with al l appropriate health care workers , espec ial ly 
physic ians. 

1 .  Scope of Practice. To help address the scope of pract ice, I have 
attached to th is  test imony a current Del i neat ion of Pr iv i leges of a PA in an 
emergency room of one of the eight larger hospitals of the state. 
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Please note that th is document is  approved by both the department 

chair  and the ch ief of staff of the hospital . I t  is  the same document that 
de l i neates the pract ice of nurse practit ioners and is based on a current 
assessment of that particular al l ied health professional 's train i ng ,  abi l it ies 
and ski l ls .  

You wi l l  see th is particu lar PA may inst itute emergency measures and 
treatment for a l l  types of trauma care ; may adm it to the appropriate level 
of care (with supervis ion) ;  formulate a d iagnosis and establ ish priorit ies to 
meet patient's needs; perform and order and i nterpret non-invasive 
d iagnostic  tests ; prescribe and order pharmacolog ic i ntervent ions; and do 
al l types of sp l i nt ing and cast ing , i nsertion of catheters , tubes and IV's , 
repair lacerat ions and perform many other general procedures you wou ld 
expect to need to uti l ize in  an ER.  You wi l l  see some priv i leges are not 
granted , such as perform ing certain i nvasive procedures , l umbar 
punctures and ai rway management . Presumably, th is PA was not felt to 
have the requ i red train i ng to do so. 

You wiii atso note that it requ ires consultation with a qualified 
med ical staff member when the PA's expertise does not meet the c l i n ical 
needs of the pat ient or it is otherwise in the patient's best i nterest . It 
requ i res i ndependent i nsurance, DEA reg istrat ion , current BLS ,  ACLS,  
PALS and ATLS certificat ions, i n  add it ion to a PA l icense and certif ication . 

Th is  is  how the scope of pract ice of a PA or Advanced N P  is 
determ ined .  I t  is t rue i n  al l departments of a faci l ity. Th is  wi l l  not change 
one iota by removing the supervisory contract of the board of med ic ine. 
PA's scope of practice wi l l  not change.  Everyth i ng ,  and more ,  that is  
requ i red by the supervisory contract is  covered by the del ineation of 
pr iv i leges and the balance of the b i l l  before you . 
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2 .  Practice independence. The bi l l  expressly states that PA's wi l l  
not pract ice independently, with a possib le except ion i f  i nd ividual ly and 
specif ica l ly approved as a un ique need by the Board of Med ic ine .  PA's do 
not want to practice independently; that has never been part of the i r  
tra in i ng nor is that thei r ambit ion . 

3 .  Physician collaboration. PA's w i l l  cont inue to  col laborate with 
qual if ied phys ic ians in  thei r area of pract ice. You have seen that this is 
requ i red i n  privi leg ing documents ; it is a requ i rement i n  th is  b i l l .  I t  is  
·i nherent ·i n a PA's tra·i ning . The physician contract now signed does not 
add to th is  col laborat ion at al l .  Let me g ive you an example :  I n  the largest 
faci l ity i n  North Dakota, Sanford Fargo,  when I was at the Board of 
Med ic ine ,  I saw PA's with as many as 30 substitute physic ians on the 
board 's requ i red contract - 30 ,  to be uti l ized when the main physic ian is 
not avai lable .  Th is  is noth ing more than a reflect ion of the real ity that PA's 
now pract ice with al l physicians of a department - it is  a team effort . I t 
renders the s ing le physic ian/s ing le PA contract ant iquated and out of 
touch with today's practice real i t ies .  

So,  in conclus ion , the b i l l  before you wi l l  not change the way PA's 
practice now and have pract iced for years . There is  no pat ient safety 
downside .  And may I add ,  PA's are very safe providers .  At the board of 
med ic ine ,  I was part of a team invest igat ing d isci p l i nary comp lai nts fi led 
against a l l  physic ians and physic ians assistants for a period of over a 
decade. During tnat time and for about five years before ,  we had one 
qual ity of care d iscip l i nary act ion against a PA. One. And we were no lax 
board . We took pr ide i n  protect ing the pub l ic and were among the top 
d iscip l i nary boards  in the nat ion based on assessments made annual ly by 
pat ient advocates . There real ly is no patient safety downside to th is  bi l l .  
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But there is  a tremendous upside:  Because the current statute 
states PA's must perform serv ices "under the supervis ion , contro l  and 
responsib i l i ty" of a specific physic ian (emphasis suppl ied) , and the board 
of med ic ine contract echoes those concepts, some,  especial ly rural , 
fac i l i t ies hesitate to h i re PA's , not because they can 't perform , but because 
of the potentia l  l iabi l ity and admin istrat ive imped iments that language 
causes . 

You can he lp healthcare access i n  North Dakota, that we al l know 
needs ·,m provement ,  by getting rid of this antiquated language.  The Board 
of Med ic ine ,  wh ich instituted the contract , has concluded that it is  no 
longer necessary and unan imously endorses th is  b i l l .  We urge you r  
support o f  HB  1 1 75 with a "Do Pass" recommendat ion . 

Thank you . 
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Request Request all privlleges listed below. 
Uncheck any privileges that you do not want to request. 

D 
Assessment of Health Status, Diagnosis and Development of Treatment Plan 

� 
I nstitute emergency measures and emergency treatment or appropriate measures in 
situations such as cardiac arrest, shock, hemorrhage, convulsions, poisoning and 
trauma care 

B'" Admit to the aooropriate level of care with supervision 
D-' Perform h istory and physical examination 

Provide patient education and counseling covering such things as health status, test -- results , d isease process and discharoe o lannin!l 
g---- Perform , order and interpret preventive and non-invasive diagnostic tests 

� Formulate a diagnosis and establish priorities to meet the patient's health and medical 
needs 

� Prescribe/order pharmacologic and non-operative therapeutic interventions 

D Complete official documents such as death certificates and birth certificates and other 
simi lar documents required bv law 

¥.:.r Instruct and educate patients to reduce return vis its to the Emergency Room 
General Procedures 

• Simple superficial debridement; wound closure and general care for wounds including 
� performance of topical or field infiltration of anesthetic solutions. Select and apply 

appropriate wound dressings including l iquid or spray occlusive materials, removal of 
drains, aooiication of immobil izino dressing (soft or riaid) 

liJ.-- I ncision and drainage of palpable superficial mass 
rg.----- Management of blood component therapy 
rn...-- Casting, straooing and splinting of routine orthopedic injuries 
� Appl ication of traction 
0-- Foreign body removal 
g--- Insert indwel l ina urinary catheters 
� Insertion of nasogastric tubes 
R- Placement of intravenous l ines 
g--. Eye care ,  including superficial foreign body removal including cornea 
e--- Local anesthesia ,  digital block 
� Nasotracheal intubation 
a-- Endotracheal intubation 
Er I n itiation of Advanced Life Suooort in all patients and in a l l  settlnQs 
g.--- Anterior nasal packing for epistaxis 
rz;v---- Removal of impacted cerumen 
D Tracheotomy 
e-- Chest tube insertion 
CT Orthopedic devices, appl ication/removal 
i:g...--- Sl it lamp examination including removal of fore ign body; Conjunctiva/Cornea 
� Laceration repair including sin!lle and mu ltilaver closures 
� Incis ion and dra inage of subungual hematoma, abscess and paronychia 

• Publ ished: lpubdale Physician Assistant-Emergency Medicine 
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[applicant] 

f=iemoval of foreign body 
Trephination of nai l including nai l  removal 
Care of simp le fractues including extremity, rib and clavicle ; includ ing skeleta l 
immobi l ization 
Care of simple strains and sprains including immobil ization and appl ication of spl ints 
Reduce simple d islocation including diQita l ,  radial head , shoulder, hip and patel lar 
Posterior nasal packing and � If"' It) 

Anterior nasal packinQ for epistaxis 
Emergent decompressive thoracostomy 
Direct fiberoptic larvnQoscoov and airway manaQment includinQ intubation 
Local anesthesia 
Lumber puncture 
Jntraveneous/l ntraosseous 
Cardioversion/defibri lation 

_._.r 
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1 have requested only those privi leges for which by education ,  train ing, current experience and demonstrated competency I am 
entit led to perform and that I wish to exercise at the hospital at which I am requesting privileges. 

1 also understand that by making this request, I am bound by the appl icable Medical Staff Bylaws and/or policies of the hospital. 
I also attest that my professional l iabi lity insurance covers the privileges I have requested. 

1 affi rm that I will obtain consultation with a qual ified medical staff member when it is in the best i nterest of the patient and/or 
when my expertise does not meet the clin ical needs of the patient. 

Any restriction on the cl inical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation my actions are 
governed by the appl icable section of the Medica l Staff Bylaws or related documents. 

{( -- 1- ( - f ':t-
Date 

I have reviewed the requested cl inica l privi leges and supporting documentation and make the fol lowing recommendation(s) : 

� Recommend al l  requested privileges 
D Do not recommend any of the requested privileges 
D Recommend pr ivi leges with the following conditions/modifications/deletions (listed be low) 

Publ ished : [pubdate Physician Assistant-Emergency Medicine Page 3 of 4 
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SENATE HU MAN SERVICES COM M ITTEE  

H B  1 175 

Testimony of Jay Metzger, PA-C 

North Dakota Academy of Physician Assistants 

March 19, 2019 
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Chairman Lee, Members of the Senate Human Services Com mittee, my 

na me is Jay  Metzger and I a m  a p hysician assistant ( PA) and current president of 

the North Da kota Academy of Physician Assistants ( N DAPA) . I a m  spea king on 

beha lf  of our members and asking for your support on HB 1175 . 

As Mr .  Houdek and Dr. Leingang have a lready mentioned, HB 1175 

addresses some wel l overdue changes to the regul ation of PAs in North Da kota . I 

would l ike to echo the sentiments from their testimonies and address a few 

different areas of our profession and this bi l l .  

The P A  profession was created a mere 52  years ago. I n  the grand scheme 

of medicine, we are re l ative newcomers. Our profession has significant ly evolved 

over the years and there have been hundreds of studies that prove our ability to 

safe ly practice medicine and fi l l  a much-needed role in the care of our citizens. 

PAs have been com pared to physicians and/or nurse practitioners in most studies. 

The main ta ke away from the studies as a whole :  PAs practice safe and effective 



�,;:171€" # 3  f-}(j ,J 
med i c i ne  a n d  a re va l u ed m e m be rs of the hea lth ca re tea m .  I h ave p rovided a l i st 

that s u m m a ri zes  ma ny of these stud ies  fo r you r refe rence .  

F rom  a n  ed u cat iona l  perspect ive, PAs a re tra i ned i n  a med i ca l  mode l  s im i l a r  

t o  that  o f  a phys i c i a n b u t  i n  a more condensed ve rs i on .  PA  p rogra ms  have a 

strong p refe rence fo r stu dents with p rev ious  expe r ience i n  hea l th  ca re . I 

persona l ly was a n  Army med i c  a nd pa ramed i c  fo r n i ne yea rs befo re I beca me a 

PA. The re i s  a w ide  va r iety of backgrou nds  represented i n  t he  PA p rofess ion such  

a s  fo rmer  resp i ratory the ra p i sts, n u rses, pa ra med i cs, ra d io l ogy tec h n i c i a ns, a n d  

ath l et i c  tra i n e rs t o  j u st na me a few.  N at ion a l ly, PA  stude nts come  i nto t h e i r  PA 

tra i n i ng with a n  ave rage of ove r 4000 hou rs of fu l l -t ime hea l th  ca re exper ience .  

No rth Da kota h a s  o n ly one  PA  p rogra m with a n  ave rage o f  12,000 hou rs of pr ior  

hea l thca re expe r ie nce o r  a pp rox i mate ly s ix yea rs of  fu l l -t i m e  hea l th  ca re 

expe rie nce .  The No rth Da kota PA progra m i s  a 6 semeste r, 24-month ,  90 cred it 

hou r Maste r' s degree p rogra m .  D u r i ng the i r  matr icu lat i on ,  stud ents a re 

com m itted fu l l -t i me  to the i r  e du cat ion a nd receive more tha n  1800 hou rs of 

hand s-on ,  c l i n i ca l  expe r ience .  Once comp leted with the i r  t ra i n i ng, PAs mu st ta ke a 

nat io na l cert ify i ng  exa m to be l i censed i n  North Da kota a nd co m p l ete 100 hou rs 

of cont i n u i ng med ica l ed ucat ion  eve ry two yea rs a nd retest eve ry 10 yea rs .  I 

wou ld be h a ppy to a nswe r a ny q uest ions  on PA educat i on  a t  t he  conc l u s i o n  of my 

test i mony.  
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HB 1175 was carefu l ly drafted by t h e  N DAPA with conside rab l e  in put from #3- fJ- 3 

the  N D  Board of M edicine,  N D  Medical Association ,  and t he  Ame rican Academy of 

PAs. Oth e r  s u p porte rs of HB 1175 incl ude the  N D  R u ra l  Hea l th  Association ,  the 

Com m u nity Hea l t h Care Association of t he  Dakotas (CHAD) ,  m u l ti p l e  ru ral and 

u rban N D  hea l th  care facilities, and many p hysician s  f rom across t he  state .  I have 

p rovided t hese l ette rs of s u pport .  

PAs a re  not p hysician s  and we do not p retend to  be .  I n  ou r SO- p l u s  years of 

existe nce, we have p roven  that we are re l iab l e, com petent  and val uab l e  mem be rs 

of t he  h ea l th  care team . We are we l l  t rained in t he  areas that we p ractice a nd 

know when  to con s u l t with ou r physician col l eagues .  With more p hysicians going 

into non -p rimary care p ractices, PAs are especial ly needed to h e l p  a l l eviate access 

to care issues. Chairman Lee and Mem bers of the Senate Hu man Se rvices 

Com mittee, I and the mem bers of the N DAPA as k for you r s u p port and a DO PASS 

on HB 1175 . 

Than k you for you r time .  
/! -�?? 

I 
I 

Jay R .  M etzger ,  PA-C 

P resident, North Dakota Academy of P hysician Assistants 

N DAPAboa rd@gma i I .com 



U n ivers ity of North Dakota Physici an  Assistant Progra m Curricu lum 
Credits Cr/Semester 

Summer Year 1 
PA 507 M ed i c a l  H u man  Anatomy a n d  Rad io l ogy I 3 

PA 5 10 H u ma n  Phys io logy a n d  Pathophys io logy I 4 

PA 517  P h a rmaco logy I 2 

PA 5 12  H is tory and  Phys ica l Exam I 2 

11  
Fa l l  Year  1 

PA 508 Med i c a l  H u ma n  Anatomy and Rad io l ogy I I  3 

PA 5 1 1  H u m a n  Phys io logy a nd  Pathophys io logy I I  4 

PA 518  P h a rmaco logy I I  2 

PA 513  H isto ry a nd  Phys i ca l  I I  2 

PA 5 2 1  D i agnost ic  Stu d ies I 2 

PA 5 16  EKG I nterpretat ion 1 

14 
Spring Year 1 

PA 522  D i agnost ic  Stu d ies I I  2 

PA 540 P r ima ry Ca re I D idact i c  5 

PA 541 P r ima ry Care I C l i n i ca l 5 

PA 550 P r ima ry Care I I  D idact i c  5 

PA 566 P rofess iona l I s sues & Ro le Deve lopment I 2 

19 
Summer Year 2 

PA 523  D i agnost ic  Stud ies I l l  2 

PA 551  P r ima ry Care I I  C l i n ica l 4 

PA 567 P rofess iona l  I s sues & Ro le Deve lopment I I  1 

PA 525  Scho l a r ly Project Deve lopment 3 

PA 57 1 R u ra l  P rima ry Ca re ( c l i n ica l )  3 

PA 570 P r ima ry Ca re C l i n ica l Conti n u at ion  ( c l i n i ca l )  2 

15 
Fal l  Year 2 

PA 560 P r ima ry Care I l l  D idact i c  3 

PA 561  P r ima ry Ca re I l l  C l i n i ca l  4 

PA 570 P r i m a ry Ca re C l i n i ca l  Cont i n u at i on  ( c l i n i ca l )  5 

PA 568 P rofess i ona l  I ss ues & Ro le  Deve lopment I l l  1 

PA 995 Scho l a r ly Project 3 

16 
Spring Year 2 

PA 580 Spec i a lty C lerks h i p  ( c l i n ica l )  6 

PA 581  Eme rgency Depa rtment C l e rks h i p  ( c l i n i ca l )  4 

PA 582  Gene ra l  Su rgery C lerksh ip  ( c l i n ica l )  4 

PA 569 Profess iona l  I s sues & Role Deve lopment IV  1 

15 
Tota l  Credits 90 

#-(s l /7) 
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Physician Assistant Education Nationally 

Background of PA students nat iona l ly at the sta rt of matriculat ion 1 

• Average age of 26 

• Hea l thca re expe r ience :  4 ,032 hou rs ave rage 

• M ust have Bache lo r' s  degree to a pp ly i n  96% of schoo ls  

National  PA Program Curr icu lum Overview 
• Tota l  ave rage p rogram l engt h :  27 months  

• Nationa l  PA School D idact ic ( c l a s s room )  Averages 2 

o 58 weeks 

o Ave rage c l a s s room hou rs i n  some of the  s pecif ic a reas of t h e  cu rr icu l u m  

• 450 i n  Bas i c  Sc iences 

• 650 i n  C l i n i c a l  P rep 

• 90 i n  Behav iora l  a n d  Soc ia l  Sciences 

• 140 i n  He a lt h  Po l i cy a n d  Profess i ona l  P ract i ce 

• Nat ional  PA School C l in i ca l  (pat ient contact) Hours : 3 

• 54 weeks average 

o Over 2000 hou rs ave rage 

lfB I 17f" 
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o M a ny progra ms  use  t he  n u m ber of fu l l  t ime weeks i n  report i ng ,  no  s pec if ic  hou rs 

University of North Dakota Physician Assistant Program 
( Most Recent  Grad uat i n g  C l a ss of 2018 )  

Background of PA students at UND at the start of matricu lat ion 4 

• Average age of 3 1  

• Hea lth ca re expe r ience :  12 ,000 hou rs ave rage 

• Mu st have Bache lo r' s  degree to a pp ly 

UND PA Program Curri cu lum Overview 
• 24-month program ( 104 weeks )  

• 45 weeks of ded i cated d i d a ct i c, but  u n i que  des ign has d i dact i c  pa rt i a l ly i nt eg rated i n  to c l i n i ca l s  

• 49 weeks of c l i n i ca l s  ( pat ient  contact )  

o 1,800 hou rs average of pat ient contact t ime .  

o Students a lso h ave d id a ct i c  edu cat ion du r ing the i r  c l i n i c a l  t ra i n i n g  

• Those hou rs a re not i n c l uded  i n  the  1800 hou rs l i s ted . 

Continuing Education for Physician Assistant licensure in North Dakota 

• PAs must be nat io n a l ly cert ifi ed  fo r l i cen su re i n  ND  

o N at io n a l  cert ificat i on  requ i res 100 hou rs of cont i n u i ng edu cat ion  eve ry 2 yea rs and  

rece rt ificat i on  test i ng eve ry 10  years 

1 Physician Assistant Education Association, By the Numbers:  Program Report 32: Data from the 201 6 Program Survey, 
Washington, DC: PAEA; 201 7. doi: 1 0. 1 7538/PR32.201 7 
1 Physician Assistan t Education Association, By the Numbers: Curriculum Report 2: Data from the 201 6 Didactic Curriculum 
Survey. Washington, DC: PAEA; 201 8. doi: 1 0. 1 7538/CR2.201 8 
3 Physician Assistan t Education Association, By the Numbers: Curriculum Report 3: Data from the 201 7 Clin ical 
Curriculum Survey, Washington, DC: PAEA; 201 8. doi: 1 0. 1 7538/CR3.201 7. 001 . 
4 U N O  PA Program - CASPA Statist ics 
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SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE  

HB  1175 

March 19, 2019 

Supporters of H B  1175 

• No rth Da kota Boa rd of Med i c i n e  

• No rth Da kota Ru ra l  H ea l th Assoc i at i o n  

• Com m u n ity H ea l thCa re Assoc iat i on  of the  Da kotas 

o Coa l  Cou ntry Com m u n ity H ea lth  Centers 

• Beu l a h , Cente r, H a zen ,  a nd  K i l l d ee r  

o Com m u n ity H ea lth Se rv ice I n c .  

• G rafton 

o Fa m i l y H ea l thCa re 

• F a rgo, West Fa rgo, a n d  Va l l ey C ity 

o No rth l a n d  Com mun ity H ea l th Cente rs 

• B i sma rck, Bowman ,  M cCl u sky, M i n ot, Ray, Ro l ette, 

Ro l l a ,  Tu rt l e La ke, a n d  Wi l l i ston 

o Va l l ey Com m u n ity He a lth Cente rs 

• G ra nd  Fo rks a n d  La r i more 

• West R iver  H ea l th Se rv ices 

o H ett i nger, Bowma n, Mott, New Eng l a nd ,  a n d  Scra nton 

• M i d  Da kota C l i n i c  

o B i sma rck 

• Assoc i at i o n  of Cou nt i es 

• No rthwood Dea coness H ea lth Cente r 

o N o rthwood,  B i nfo rd,  a n d  La r i mo re 

• Ameri c a n  Acad emy of P hys i c i a n  Ass i sta nts 



SENATE H U MAN SERVICES COM M ITTEE  

North Dakota Physic ia ns i n  Support of  HB 1175 

March 19, 2019 

Physic i an  Name Locat ion 

Ada m  N i cho l son ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo r ks 

And res M a ka rem ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Anthony Chu ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Anthony J oh nson ,  M D  M a n d a n  

As h l ey Kreme r, M D  R ugby 

Atta s  Bout rou s, M D  B is m a rc k  

Casey Rya n ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Cas m a i r  Nwa igwe, M D  M i n ot 

Chen e l l e  J oseph ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Cord e l l  Dav is ,  DO G ra n d  Fo rks 

Co rey Dea n Arce l ay, M D  Be l co u rt 

Doug l a s  H ess, DO Fa rgo 

E m m a n ue l  A .  G a i d ,  M D  Be l co u rt 

E r i c  J o h nson ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Er ic Tee ,  M D  Fa rgo  

t+e , ns-
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F re de r i c k  K .  N ess, M D  Be l co u rt 

J o n  W .  A l l e n ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Kate Kess l e r, DO West F a rgo 

Ku l v i nde r  S umra ,  M D  Cava l i e r  

La ra Lu nde, MD  F a rgo 

M a rk Langm u i r, M D  Sta n l ey 

Patr i ck  Ka ne, M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

P a u l a  Be rc i e r, M D  Be l cou rt 

R i c h a rd La rson ,  M D  Be l co u rt 

Rona l d  Kn utson ,  M D  B i sm a rc k  

Rya n H oovesto l ,  M D  B i sm a rck  

S a ra N a u sheen ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

S h a n non M a rk Se l l ,  DO F a rgo 

S h a nta G a utham ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Sreej ith  Gop i ,  M D  F a rgo 

Stefa n J oh nson ,  M D  G ra n d  Fo rks 

Steven M eek, M D  F a rgo 

Susa n Th om pson ,  M D  Cava l i e r  

Tom Thorson ,  M D  M a n d a n  



Wi l l i a m  Za ks, M D  

Steve Schonebe rg, M D  

G ordon  Le i ngang, DO 

J o h n  B a i rd ,  M D  

Una n imous Approval by N D  Boa rd of 

Med ici ne  Physici ans  on 1 1/18/2018 

Robert J .  O l son ,  M D, Cha i r  

Genev ieve G aven ,  M D, V i ce Ch a i r  

R u p ku m a r  N aga l a ,  M D, Trea su re r  

B re nd a  M i l l e r, MD  

W i l l i am  H a ug, J r . ,  MD  

Sa ra So l be rg, M D  

Thomas  Ca rver, DO 

Robert St i cca ,  M D  

Cathe r i ne  H o u le ,  M D  

Gopa l  Chem it i ,  M D  

G ra n d  Fo r ks 

R ugby 

B i sm a rc k  

Locat ion 

F a rgo 

Va l l ey C ity 

Oa kes 

B i s m a rc k  

G ra n d  Fo r ks 

W i l l i ston 

M i n ot 

G ra n d  Fo r ks 

Hett i nge r  

F a rgo  

ltf> l (l, )  
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C;l CHAD 
Community Hea l thCare Assoc iat ion of  th� Dakotas 

M a rch 15 ,  2 0 19 

Cha i rm a n  Senator J udy  Lee and  Mem bers of the  Sen ate H u ma n  Serv ices Com m ittee 

State Ca p ito l  

600 East Bou l eva rd 
B i smarck ,  ND 58505-0360 

Re: House Bill 1 1 75, rela ting to the regulation of physician assistants .  

Cha i rm a n  Senato r J udy  Lee and Mem bers of the  Sen ate H u m a n  Serv ices Com m ittee 

H-� I llf 
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On beha lf of the Com m u n ity Hea lthCa re Assoc iat ion of the Da kotas (CHAD ) ,  I a m  wr it i ng  you i n  
su pport o f  H B  1175 perta i n i ng t o  the  regu lat ion of phys ic ia n ass ista nts ( PAs) .  C HAD is  a non-prof it 

mem bersh i p  o rga n izat ion  that serves as the Pr i m a ry Care Assoc iat ion for North Da kota a n d  South 
Da kota , s u p port i ng  com m u n ity hea lth cente rs (CHCs) in t he i r  m iss ion to prov ide  a ccess to q u a l ity 
hea lth ca re fo r a l l  Da kota ns.  CHAD m e m be r  c l i n ics e m p loy a var iety of p rovi d e rs i n c l u d i n g  PAs, n u rse 
p ract it io n e rs ,  phys i c i a ns a n d  others to work as a team in the  ca re of o u r  pat ients. 

Phys i c i an  ass ista nts a re va l u a b le  c l i n i c ians  on  the hea lth care tea ms at o u r  m e m ber  c l i n i cs .  HB 
1175 wou l d  i m p rove ou r m e m ber  c l i n ics·  a b i l ity to recr u it a n d  reta i n  hea lth ca re p rov ide rs inc l u d i n g  
PAs a n d  phys i c i a n s  b y  a l low i n g  PAs to practice i n  the a reas they a re t ra i ned a n d  com petent to 
perform w h i l e  ta k i n g  away the ad m i n i strative a n d  regu l atory b u rden  o u r  phys ic i ans  h ave u nder  the 
cu rrent regu lat ions .  U nd e r  the tenets of the b i l l ,  we fee l  that PAs w i l l  sti l l  co l l a borate w ith  phys ic ians 
when  wa rra nted a s  they have a lways. 

I n  s u m m a ry, CHAD s u p po rts HB 1175 a n d  asks that the Senate H u m a n  Services Com m ittee 

recom mend  a d o  pass. 

Please fee l  free to contact me if  you h ave a ny q u est ions .  

S i ncere ly, 

S h e l ly Ten N a pe l ,  M SW, M PP 

CEO,  Com m u n ity Hea lthCa re Assoc iat ion of the Da kotas 

300 S Ph i l l i ps Ave. Su ite L105 Sioux Fal l s ,  SD  57 104 I 1800 E B roadway Ave . Su ite 100A B ismarck .  ND  58503 

Phone :  (605 )  27 5-2423 I Pr1one :  ( 7 0 1) 22 1-9824 

www.commun i tyhea l thcare . net 



SENATE H U MAN SERVICES COM M ITTEE  

Letter  in Support of HB  1 175 

North Dakota Rura l  Hea lth Associat ion 

Ben Bucher, FNP  
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The No rth  Da kota R u ra l  H ea l t h  Assoc iat ion  w ishes to p rov id e  t h i s  l ette r  i n  s u pport 

of H B  1175 . Ben  Bu che r, CEO of Towner  Cou nty Med i c a l  Center  i n  Ca ndo  a n d  

Mountra i l  County M ed i ca l Cente r i n  Sta n l ey, N D  wrote t h e  fo l l ow i ng  a s  test imony 

to why No rth  Da kota ,  a n d  spec if i ca l l y the cr i t i ca l a ccess ho sp ita l a n d  r u r a l  hea l th 

c l i n i c  i n  Ca ndo  s uppo rt H B  1 175 . 

The re i s  a l ready  a s ho rtage of p r i m a ry care access i n  N o rt h  Da kota . 

A l l ow ing  phys i c i a n  a ss i sta nts to pract i ce co l l a borat ive ly  w i th  phys i c i a n s  a n d  

othe r  hea l thca re p rov i de rs w i l l imp rove access t o  pat i e nt c a re .  Accord i ng 

to N o rth  Da kota Cent u ry Code 50-03-0 1-06, "A PA m ay p rov i de  pat ient c a re 

on l y  i n  t hose a reas  of med ica l p ract ice where the  s u pe rv i s i n g  phys i c i a n  

p rov ides  s u pe rv i s i ng  ca re . "  The refore, what t h a t  mean s  fo r u s  i s  when  one  

o f  o u r  phys i c i a n ass i sta nts on  staff has  a supe rv i s i ng  p hys i c i a n ,  t ha t  PA's 

scope of p ract i ce  i s  l i m ited to the a reas of where that  s u pe rv i s i ng  p hys i c i a n  

p ra ct i ces .  N ow, we know that  the  n eeds o f  pat ie nts i n  u rba n a rea s  d iffe r 

from the  needs  of pat ient i n  rura l a reas  a n d  so, with t h i s  b i l l ,  a PA i s  a b l e  to 

ta i l o r  ca re to t he  specif i c needs  of t he  pat ient .  Fo r  exa m p l e , G ra nt La n noye 

i s  a p hys i c i a n  ass ista nt in Ca ndo .  G ra nt has  the  req u i red  e d u ca t i on ,  l i cense, 
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cert i fi ca t ion  a nd exper ience to p resc r i be  med i cat i on  ass isted t reatment fo r 

op i o i d  u se  d iso rde r . U nfo rt u n ate ly, afte r  M r . La n n oye obta i n ed  t h i s  

t ra i n i ng and  ce rt i fi cat ion  he  h ad  to  fi n d  a d ifferent s u pe rv i s i ng  phys i c i a n to 

ove rsee  h i m  in t h i s a rea of med i c i ne  because  h is c u rrent s u pe rv i s i ng  

p hys i c i a n d i d  not p rov i de  med icat ion ass isted t he ra py a s  a pa rt o f  t he i r  

p ra ct i ce .  Th i s  l ed  to a de l a y  i n  pat i ent ca re a n d  i t  a l so  l ed  to a n  i n crease i n  

cost for o u r  fa c i l ity t o  fi nd ,  yet a n othe r, s u pe rv i s i ng  phys i c i a n .  We have 

seen  fi rst- h a nd ,  h e re in o u r  state, t he  i n crease in a ccess to pat i ent to ca re 

a n d  t he  i n c rease to q u a l ity of r u ra l  h e a l t h  ca re by a l l ow ing  n u rse  

p ra ct it i o n ers to p ra ct i ce i n  a s i m i l a r  way .  A l l ow i ng  phys i c i a n  ass i sta nts th i s  

a b i l ity to p ra ct i ce  co l l a bo rat ive ly w it hout a need  fo r a spec if i c s u pe rv i sory 

ag re ement w i l l  i m prove the  q u a l ity a n d  a ccess of h e a lt h c a re i n  ru ra l  No rth 

Da kota a n d  it w i l l  a l so decrease the cost of p rov i d i ng h e a l t h  ca re to ru ra l 

N o rth  Da kota res i dents .  

Th a n k  you for you r  t ime .  

Fo r  q u est i on s, p l ease  contact Ben  Buche r  at  ben b@tcmedcente r . org o r  ( 701 )  968-
441 1 .  
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My n ame  i s  G ra nt La n noye, I a m  a pract i c i ng  phys i c i a n a s s i sta nt ( PA )  i n  Ca ndo, N D  
at Towne r  Cou nty M ed i c a l  Center .  W e  a rea a ru ra l  hea l t h  c l i n i c  a n d  c r it i c a l a ccess 
hosp ita l that p rov i des eme rgency depa rtment serv ices ,  ou tpat i e nt se rv i ces, 
i n pat ient  se rv i ces,  l ong  term care ( such  as swi ng bed ,  n u rs i ng h o m e, ba s i c  care ) ,  
p r i m a ry/p reventat ive ( c l i n i c -based ) care and Med i cat i on  Ass i sted Treatment fo r 
op io i d  use d i sorde r .  

I h ave com posed t h i s  co rrespondence i n  hopes o f  ga i n i n g  you r s u ppo rt i n  the  
p rocess of  a pp rov i ng  HB  1 175 .  As  you a re awa re, t h i s  b i l l  p e rta i n s  to  the  
regu l at i on  of  phys i c i a n  ass i sta nts ( PAs ) i n  No rth Da kota . 

As I a m  s u re a l l  of you a re awa re, the  op io id  ep i dem i c  i s  h e re a n d  it i s  a n  
enormous  p rob l em  that  spa n s  a l l  ages,  ra ces, gende rs, a n d  geogra p h ies  w ithout 
bou nd a r i es .  I a m  one  of few N D  PAs that a re DEA wa ivered to  p rov i d e  M ed i cat ion 
Ass isted Treatment ( MAT) fo r op io i d  use d i sorder  (OU D) . I h ave pe rson a l l y  
witn essed t rem endous  s u ccess with m y  MAT pat ients . Th ey h ave t u rned  t he i r  
l ives a rou nd ;  from l os i ng  t he i r  j ob ,  t he i r  home, t he i r  s pouse  and  even  t he i r  
c h i l d re n .  I h ave pe rson a l l y h a d  pat ie nts rega i n  a l l  o f  th ese and  m a i nta i n  a 
fo reseea b ly  su sta i n a b l e  sobr i ety/recove ry. H owever, t he re i s  a l a c k  of MAT 
p rov id e rs a n d  certa i n l y a l a c k  of MAT PAs . 

One  of t he  l a rgest ba r r i e rs of me  beco m i ng DEA wa ivered fo r M AT was t he  i s sue 
of  hav ing  an  a p p rop r iate su pe rv i s i ng  physi c i a n .  At  that  t ime my  c u rrent  
s upe rv is i ng  phys i c i a n  was a p r i m a ry ca re phys i c i an  and u n d e r  c u r rent  N D  centu ry 
code ,  "A phys i c i a n  ass ista nt may  p rovide  pat ient care o n ly i n  t h ose  a reas  of 
med i ca l p ra ct i ce  whe re t he  s upe rv i s i ng  phys i c i an  p rovi des  pa t i en t  ca re . " ( N D  
centu ry code 50-03-0 1-06 ) .  The refo re, I h ad  to l ocate a phys i c i a n  who  wou l d  be 
wi l l i ng to become  one  of my s u pe rv i s i ng  phys i c i ans  a n d  a ccept t h e  l i a b i l ity fo r my 
p ra ct i ces .  Fort u n ate ly ,  I h a d  a l ready  deve loped an exce l l e nt p rofess i o n a l 
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re l at i on sh i p  w i th  o ne  of t he  State's l ea d i ng c hem i ca l  d ependen cy phys i c i a n s  a nd  
she  gra c i ou s l y  took  on  t he  respons i b i l ity o f  becom i ng o ne  o f  m y  s upe rv i s i ng  
phys i c i a ns ,  spec i fi ca l ly fo r  th is  a rea  o f  my pract i ce .  H owever, n ot a l l  PAs a re 
fortu n ate  e nough  to  h ave these re l at ionsh i ps a s  MAT phys i c i a n s  a re re l a t ive ly 
u ncom mon  a s  we l l .  

E l i m i na t i ng  t h e  need  fo r s u perv isory agreements wou l d  ce rta i n ly i n crease the  
a pp l i ca nt poo l  fo r ru ra l/u n de rserved a reas  potent i a l l y expa n d i ng ru ra l  hea l thca re 
a ccess i b i l i ty . I t  a l so  h a s  the  strong potent i a l  to i m p rove t he  n u m be r  of MAT 
serv ices  v i a  PAs . Treat i ng  op io i d  overdose s u rv ivors with M AT was  l i n ked to a 40% 
to 60% d rop  i n  m o rta l ity 1 yea r l ater ( La roche l l e  M R, Bernson  D, La nd  T, Stopka 
TJ , Wang  N ,  X u a n  Z, et a l .  Medication for Opioid Use Disorder After Nonfatal 
Opioid Overdose and Association with Mortality: A Cohort Study . An n I ntern  Med .  
; 169 : 137-145 . d o i :  10 . 7326/M 17-3107 ) .  

P l ease  stro ng ly  con s i d e r  su ppo rt i ng  HB  1 175 a n d  t he  pos it ive i nf l u en ce th i s  b i l l  
cou l d  h ave . I o n ly t ou ched  on ru ra l  hea l th a ccess a n d  MAT fo r O U D, however, I 
a m  certa i n  t h at t h e re i s  a vast amount of futu re g a i n  fo r N o rt h  Da kota to be had  
from t he  su ccess of t h i s  b i l l .  

I wou l d  b e  h a p py t o  speak  with a ny of you fu rt he r  i f  you de s i re ,  p l ease contact m e  
v i a  e m a i l  o r  ce l l p hone  ( l i sted be l ow)  i f  you h ave a ny q u est i on s .  I w i l l  spec if ica l l y 
be ava i l a b l e  fo r contact at t he  t ime of th i s  meet i ng .  Th a n k  you for you r  t ime .  

S i n cere ly, 

G ra nt La n noye, PA-C 
Ca ndo, N D  
Mob i l e :  ( 701 )  2 30-15 19 
gra nt l a n noye@out l ook . com 
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Heal thCare 

March 6, 2019 

Senato r Judy Lee 
North Dakota State Senate 
1822 B rentwood Court 
West Fargo, N D  58078-4204 

Dea r Senato r Lee, 

301 NP Ave Fargo ND 58102 
phone: 701 .271 .3344 • fax: 701 .271 . 1480 

www.famhealthcare .org 

On beha lf of Fa m i ly Hea lthCa re, I a m  p rovid ing th i s  letter exp ressi n g  ou r  fu l l  s upport of H B  
1 175, wh ich w i l l  repea l  the req u i red  s u pervi sory agreem ents between  p hysi c i a n  ass istants ( PAs) 
a n d  physici ans .  The b i l l  won't change how our  PAs or phys ic ia n s  p ractice, but wi l l  a l low PAs to 
p ract ice to the l eve l  they a re t ra i n ed wh i l e  taking the adm i n i strative a n d  regu latory b u rden off 
our  physic i a n s . The bi l l  wi l l  i n crease our ab i l ity to recru it and reta i n  both phys ic ians and PAs to 
he lp  p rovide qua l ity hea lthca re to our patients and commun it ies .  

Fam i ly Hea lthCare is  a nonp rofit, Federa l ly  Qua l ifi ed Hea lth Center t h at p rovid es services in 
Cass and Ba rnes Counties, North Dakota and Cl ay County, M i nnesota . Fam i ly H ea lthCare offe rs 
a l l  pat ients access to comprehensive p rima ry hea lthca re i nc l ud i ng  med ica l ,  denta l, a n d  
pha rmacy serv ices .  F am i ly Hea l thCa re a lso  admin isters t h e  o n ly fed era l ly funded Home less 
Hea lth Services p rogram i n  North Dakota a nd  western Min nesota .  

We ask that you p lease support HB  1175 .  

S in� 

�� /1. A-------
Patrick Gu l b ra nson 
Ch ief Executive Officer 
Fam i ly Hea lthCare 
(701) 239-2285 
pgu l b ranson@fam hea lthcare.o rg 
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701 -5 87-6900 - Northwood C l i n i c  & B i nford Cl i n ic 701 -43 1 -2999 - Lari more Cl i n i c  

March 15, 2019 

Cha i rman Lee a nd Members of the Senate H uman Services Committee, 

Northwood Deaconess Hea lth Ce nter ( NDHC) in Northwood, N D, wou ld  l i ke to express ou r  support fo r 
H B  1 175 .  N DHC has  c l i n ics in No rthwood, La r imore, and  B i nfo rd , a s  we l l  as a cr it ica l a ccess hospita l  and  
nurs ing home i n  Northwood . A l l  of  ou r  faci l it ies have PAs a nd nu rse practit io ne rs tha t  provide ca re to 
ou r  commun it ies .  Without ou r  PAs a nd nurse p ract it ioners, we wou ld  not be ab le  to p rov ide the ca re we 
do to a l l  the ru ra l commun it ies that we serve . 

H B  1175 wou ld  improve our  ab i l ity to recru it and  reta i n  hea lth  ca re prov iders i nc lud ing PAs and  
physic ia ns by  a l lowing PAs to practice i n  the  a reas  they a re tra i ned a nd competent to  pe rform whi le 
ta king the admin istrative a nd regu latory burden  that requ i res our  physicians  to take responsi b i l ity for 
the PAs actions .  Whi le  we have fu l l  fa ith i n  ou r  PAs, having to take on  a supervisory ro le for some 
physic ians i s  an  unwanted burden .  Under the te nets of the b i l l ,  we fee l  that PAs w i l l  st i l l  co l l a borate with 
physic ians when wa rra nted as they have a lways. 

I n  summary, N DHC  supports H B  1 175 and a sks that the Senate Human  Se rv i ces Comm ittee recommend 
a do pass .  

P lease fee l  free to contact me if yo u have any questions .  

Northwood Deaconess Hea l th  Center 

� Lead i ng ,  Se rvi ng and Car i ng s i n ce 1 902 � 



March 1 6 , 20 1 9 

Senator Judy Lee, Cha i r  
Senate Comm ittee on Human Services 
State Cap itol 
600 East Bou levard 
B ismarck ,  North Dakota 58505 

I n  re : H . B . 1 1 75 ,  re lat ing to PA (physic ian assistant) practice 

Dear Senator Lee:  

H!3 1 1,s--
3 1 11 I '  c, 
#L-f (j. I;;). 

On behalf of the more than 1 3 1 , 000 PAs (phys ic ian assistants) represented by the Am erican Academ y of 
PAs (AAPA) - approx im ate ly 400 of whom are l icensed in North Dakota - I a m  writi ng  to express our  
support for H . B .  1 1 75 .  Th is  leg is lat ion wou ld update severa l provis ions re lated to PA pract ice i n  the state , 
and u l t im ately , im prove patient access to health care . 

Background 

PAs are l i censed to practice i n  a l l  50 states ,  the District of Col um b ia ,  a l l  U . S .  terr itor ies , and the un iformed 
services. PAs perform physical  exam inations ,  d iagnose and treat i l l nesses , order and i nterpret lab tests , 
prescribe medications ,  perform m ed ica l  procedures, assist in surgery ,  and  enhance hea lth care 
coord inat ion .  In North Dakota , PAs practice i n  pr imary care and al l m edica l  and su rg ica l  su bspecia l t ies ,  
and they are authorized to prescri be Schedu le 1 1 -V contro l led m ed icat ions .  

Most PA educat iona l  p rograms award master's degrees, and those wh ich do not wi l l  be req u i red to  do so 
by 2020 .  The typ ical PA program extends over approx im ately th ree academ ic  yea rs . Du ri ng  th is t ime ,  PA 
students rece ive c lassroom tra i n i ng  in anatomy, physiology, pharm acology ,  p hysical  d iagnos is ,  
behavioral sciences ,  and m edica l  eth ics .  Th is d idactic phase is  fol l owed by at least 2 , 000 hours of 
superv ised , c l in ical practice rotat ions in m ed ical  and surgical d iscip l i nes i nc lud ing  fam i l y  m edic ine ,  
i nterna l  medici ne ,  general  surgery ,  pediatr ics, obstetrics and gynecology ,  emergency m ed ic ine ,  and 
psychiatry. 

H . B . 1 1 75 

Under H . B . 1 1 75 as passed i n  the House of Representatives , PAs wou ld  cont in ue  to practice on health 
care teams with physic ians and other prov iders.  However, the PA-phys ic ian re lationsh ip  wou ld  be 
descr ibed as "co l laborative , "  rather than "superv isory . "  This change better reflects the nature of PA­
physic ian practice . H . B . 1 1 75 wou ld  a lso cla rify that PAs are respons ib le  for the heal th care they provide 
to patients .  

Importance of H . B .  1 1 75 to North Dakota Patients 

North Dakota i s  experi enc ing a hea lth care provider shortage ,  part icu larl y  in rural a reas . 1 However, PAs -
especia l l y  those who rece ive the i r  education i n  the state - are work ing  to m it igate th is  shortage.  I n  fact , a 

1 University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Services Advisory Counci l .  Fifth B ienn ia l  Report 201 9 :  Health Issues for 
the State of North Dakota . https ://med . und .edu/publ ications/biennial-report/ fi les/docs/fifth-bienn ia l -report- interactive.pdf. Accessed 
February 22, 20 1 9 . 

2318 Mill Road, Suite 1300, Alexandria ,  VA 2231 4  P 703.836.2272 F 703.684 . 1 924 aapa@aapa.org 
www.aapa.org 
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recent report by the Un i vers ity of North Dakota (UNO) School of Medic ine and Hea lth Services Advisory 
Counc i l  showed that a pproxim ately ha lf of PAs who g raduated from U N O  (the sole PA program i n  the 
state) chose to practice in rural areas,  and nearly 40 percent of U N O  PA prog ram g raduates pract ice rura l  
primary care . 1 I m prov ing PA flex ib i l ity through the provis ions i n  H . B .  1 1 75 wou ld  better a l low these PAs to 
care for patients in h i gh-need areas .  

Summary 

AAPA and the North  Dakota Academy of PAs ( N DAPA) urge your  support of H . B .  1 1 75 ,  which wi l l  
improve patient access t o  hea l th care in  the state . Thank you for t h i s  opportun ity t o  com m ent on th is 
im portant leg is lati on ,  and shou ld  you have any questions ,  p lease do not hes itate to contact me at 
em i l ler@aapa .o rg or 57 1 -3 1 9-4342 . 

S i ncere ly ,  

Er ika M i l le r  
D i rector ,  State Advocacy & O utreach 
Am erican Academy of PAs 
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WEST RIVER HEALTH S ERVICES 

January l 7 , 2 0 l 9  

Dmu,rn HOUDEK 
4 4 0 0  ALAMO DRIVE 
B I SMARCK , ND 5 8 5 0 4 

RE : Support for  House  B i l l  l l 7 5  regarding the 
s up e rv i s o ry regulat ion of phys i c i an as s i s tant s . 

Dear Mr . Houdek and Members of Leg i s lat ive Commit tee , 

Thi s i s  a l e t t e r  of  support in favor o f  propos e d  House 
B i l l  l l 7 5  t o  revi se  supervisory cond i t ions of  phys i c ian 
as s i s t ant s in  North Dakota . 

We s t  Rive r C l ini c s  in He t t inger , North Dakota , has a long 
h i s t ory o f  inc orporat ing phys i c i an as s i s tant s as team 
members  for  c are of pat i ent s in  the We s t  Rive r area s inc e 
the early 1 9 8 0 s  when S i s te r  Michae l Emond was the f i rst  
PA to  work at  We s t  River . We  have also  been ac t ive in  
t raining and superv i s ing phys i c ian as s i s t ant s and have 
incorporat e d  phys ic ian as s i s tant s in our sate l l i t e  sys tem 
fer  op t imum care a�d acce s s  fer our pa� � 0 � � a . 

As s tated in  the bi l l , i t  doe s make s ens e that di rect  
supervi s i on o f  phys i c ian as s i s tant s should  be based on 
s i t e  and s cope of prac t i c e  as de t e rmined by the i r  place 
o f  emp l oyment and prac t ice . Thi s is  much more dire c t  and 
app l i cab l e  t o  each s i tuat ion as oppo s e d  to the broadly 
s t ated  rul e s  that exi s t  current ly . As medic ine has 
evo lved to ut i l i z e the e l e c t roni c hea l th re cord , there i s  
more empha s i s  o n  pat i ent management bas e d  o n  a team 
concep t . As such , a s ingl e  phys i c ian i s  supervi s ing a 
numbe r  o f  PAs to  be t t e r  de l egate re spons ibi l i t ie s  and 
c are o f  the pat i ent to mee t  qua l i ty me tri c s . 

1 000  H I G H WAY 1 2  ma 1i111i H E T T I N G E R ,  N D  5 8 6 3 9 - 7 5 3 0  ii1111i1 rm 7 0 1 5 6 7 - 4 5 6 1 .. - w w w . w rh s . c o m  

OUR MISSION: TO PROVlDE COMPR EHENSIVE HEALTH AND WELLNESS SERVICES TO THE RESIDENTS AND VISITORS OF THE REGION. 
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WEST RIVER HEALTH S ERVICES 

January 1 7 , 2 0 1 9  
Page 2 

I appre c i ate the governanc e o f  the Beard o f  Medi c ine as  a 
previ ous member o f  the board in revi ewing any s c ope of  
prac t i c e  by  a phys ic ian as s i s tant that would  indi cate 
solo prac t i c e  and be approved by the board . 

Thank you for  your cons idera t i on . 

S inc e re ly ,  

KRH/ l e s  

HETTI N G E R ,  N D  5 8 6 3 9 - 7 5 3 0  - - 7 0 1  5 6 7 - 4 5 6 1 - - w w w . w rh s . c om  

OUR MISSION: TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH AND WELLNESS SERV ICES T O  THE RESIDENTS AN D V1S1TORS O F  THE REGION. 





SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COM M ITTEE 

HB 1175 

Testimony of Kate Larson, PA-C 
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Chairman Lee, Members of the Senate Human Services Committee, 

thank you for the opportunity to provide testimony on this important bill. 

My name is Kate Larson and I am a physician assistant ( PA) and I am 

speaking in support on HB 1175. 

I have been a physician assistant for the past 23 years, practicing for 

21 years in rural health care in N D, and currently practice for the Veteran's 

Health Administration. I am also currently a Board Member on the North 

Dakota Board of M edicine, and have been on this board for nearly 8 years. 

Physician Assistants are certified by the National Com mission and 

Certification of Physician Assistants, or N CCPA. This certification is required 

to start practice, and must be completed every 10 years. We are then 

licensed by the N orth Dakota Board of Medicine. We must also maintain 

100 hours of Continuing Medical Education every 2 years. These continuing 

education hours must be submitted to the National Commission and 



Certification of Physician Assistants every 2 years for certification 

maintenance. This may also be audited by the NCCPA , and I know this is 

done as I have been audited twice, and may be also audited by the North 

Dakota Board of Medicine. 
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This bill is an important step in improving access to care for patients 

in N orth Dakota. Currently, we are required to have a supervisory contract 

with a physician. H B  1175 would eliminate this contract and allow us to 

work with the healthcare team at the practice level. When working in rural 

health, this contract creates many difficulties. There may only be one 

physician in some rural areas or no physician at some satellite clinics. 

Physicians are sometimes supervising multiple providers and this creates an 

unnecessary burden for them. Therefore, less physicians are chasing to 

supervise Physician Assistants. It is fortunate for rural communities, and in 

fact any community in North Dakota, to have adequate physician providers, 

however, that is not always possible. Statistics are showing that we are 

facing family practice provider shortages, and this is continuing to challenge 

us. Physician assistant's can continue to help fill this gap, and this bill will 

help us do that, by working at the practice level with all providers. The 
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supervisory contract also creates difficult situations when supervising 

physicians are on vacation, or emergent situations that arise. 

HB 1175 will also improve practice opportunities for physician 

assistants in N orth Dakota. This will improve patient access to the care they 

need. There have been recent instances where physician assistants were 

not considered for practice positions that they were more than qualified to 

fill due to the required supervisory contract obligation. There are physician 

assistants that are qualified to practice in rural emergency rooms, urgent 

care clinics, and hospitals, and the changes proposed in HB 1175 would 

provide opportunities for PAs to be considered for these open positions. 

I believe we have proven ourselves as a profession and will continue 

to work collaboratively at the practice level with physicians and other 

members of the health care team. 

Thank you again for this opportunity, your consideration for this bill, 

and for your service to North Dakota. 

Sincerely, 

Kate Larson, PA-C 
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ND Med ica l Imaging and Radiation Therapy Board test imony 

Presented by Board President Shi rley Porter 

Senate Human Services Committee 

Engrossed HB 1175 

March 19, 2019 

Chairman lee and Members of the Senate Human Services Committee, I am Shirley Porter and I 

serve as President of the North Dakota Med ica l Imaging and Rad iation Therapy Board (NDM IRT) . 

The North Dakota Medica l Imaging and Radiation Therapy Board has the responsib i l ity to protect 

the pub l ic by l icensing and regu lat ing personne l  performing med ica l imaging procedures and 

rad iation therapy treatments. Th is respons ib i l ity inc ludes sett ing min imum standards for l icensu re, 

estab l i_sh ing scopes of practice, enforcing d iscip l inary actions, fu rther developing standards, and - ·  ' ' '· . 

adopting rules f9r the imp�ov�ment 9f the admin istration of medica l  imaging or rad iation therapy 

p rocedu res in North Dakota . As of January ,2019 we currently have about 1500 medical imaging 

and rad iation therapy professiona ls  l icensed . 

The perfqrmance of medical imagi,ng or  rad iation therapy is safely accomplished by a Registered 

radio logic technologists - known as " R.T.s" - they must complete at l east two years of formal 

education i n  a n  accredited hospita l-based p rogram or a two- or fou r-year educationa l  program at 

an academic institution and must pass a nat ional certification examinat ion. To remain registered, 

they must earn continu ing education cred its. To b riefly summarize, they a re educated in anatomy, 

patient posit ioning, examination techn iques, equipment protocols, rad iat ion safety, rad iation 

p rotection and basic patient care. They a re responsib le for accurately positioning patients and 

ensuring that a qua l ity d iagnostic image is produced . A Registered rad iation therapist is tra ined to 

perform rad iation therapy, usua l ly on cancer patients a iming h igh doses of p recision rad iation at 

the affected a rea, and a re a lso requ i red to earn cont inuing education  credits. Continu ing 

education a l lows imaging p rofessionals to stay flu id  with the ever-changing practice of medica l  

imaging a nd  rad iation therapy; a s  new areas evolve other areas may phase-out with t he  a rriva l of 

new technologies. 

We appear before you today in support of Engrossed H B  1175. We understand the need for 

p roviders in our  rural commun it ies and offer our assistance in  making access easier and more 

conven ient for our patients. When the Board reviewed HB  1175, we viewed it as overly broad i n  

scope i n  order t o  achieve the goals of access. 
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Presented by Board President Shi rley Porter 

We felt there were sbme concerns in regards to patient safety in the a reas of med ical imaging, 

specifica l ly ioniz ing rad iation .  We worked with Mr. Duane Houdek who was representi ng the 

North Dakota Academy of Physician  Assistants {NDAPA} to add ress the patient safety concern and 

confl ict ing language that was i n  the origina l  b i l l .  

The Board offered an amendment that was a lso agreed upon by the N DAPA during a previous 

h earing before the House Human  Services Committee with a 12-0 Do Pass recommendation and 

the House vote of 92-0 Do Pass. 

Once again compromises have been agreed upon by the NDMIRT Board and by the ND ·Academy 

of Physician Assistants in the House to clarify what we believed was confl icting language and a 

patient safety concern in regards to medical imaging. 

Chairman Lee and Committee members, the North Dakota Med ica l Imaging and Radiation Therapy 

Board wou ld request that the Committee adopt Engro·ssed HB 1 175, and  recommend a DO PASS. 

That conc ludes my f
o

rma l  test imony and  I would be happy to answer any questions you may have . 

, (  
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Senate Human Services Committee 

North Dakota Board of Nursing Testimony 
HB 1175 Relating to Regulation of Physician Assistants 

Chairperson Lee and members of the Committee . I am Dr. Stacey Pfenning, Executive 
Director for the North Dakota Board of Nursing (NDBON), and I am here today at the 
request of the committee. 

The NDBON is neutral on H B  1175. 

To address the committee's request for information related to the education of 
Advanced Practice Registered Nurses and Physician Assistant , the NDBON worked 
with the ND Academy of Physician Assistants to develop the table in attachment A. In 
addition, attachment B provides an example curriculum from a ND Family Nurse 
Practitioner program offering a Doctor of Nursing Practice degree. 

I would be happy to answer any questions. 

Dr. Stacey Pfenning DNP APRN FNP FAANP 
Executive Director , North Dakota Board of Nursing 
Phone: 701-328-9781 
spfenning@ndbon.org 



Definitions 

Licensure 

Requ ired Continuing 
Education 

Education for NPs and PAs 
in North Dakota 

Atta t A  
N D  APRN and PA Defi n it ion, L ie nsure, Ed ucat ion, and  Practice 

ND APRN 

43-12 . 1-02 Adva nced Practice Registered Nu rse (APRN ) :  Ho lds 
a cu rrent l icense to practice as a n  APRN, wh ich inc l udes nu rse 
pract it ioner ( N P) ,  and  fu nct ions in one of the popu lat ion foci 
(fam i ly, adu lt-gero, neonata l, ped iatrics, women's health, 
psych-menta l hea lth ) .  AANP  defi n it io n :  "Cl i n ic ia ns who assess, 
d iagnose and treat acute and chron ic  d iseases as we l l  as 
counsel ,  coord i nate ca re and ed ucate patients rega rd i ng the i r  
i l l nesses, NPs br ing a comprehens ive pe rspective to hea lth 
ca re ." 
ND  Boa rd of Nu rs ing 43-12 . 1-09 (2, c) & NDAC 54-05-03. 1-04 : 

• Must possess a cu rrent, unencumbered l icense to 
practice as a registe red nu rse; 

• Evidence of complet ion of a n  accred ited grad uate 
level APRN program; 

• Evidence of cu rrent nat iona l cert ificat ion in  APRN ro le 
& popu lat ion foci re lated to educat iona l  preparat ion; 

• Comp lete FB I  cr im ina l  h istory record check . 
• Renewa l of l i censure occurs eve ry 2 yea rs 

o 15 cont i nu i ng educat ion hours i n  
pha rmaco logy, evidence of  practice hours, and  
ma intenance of  nat iona l  certificat ion .  

54-03 .2-06-07 (5 ) :  Adm ission Requ i rements/Curricu l um :  
• Adm iss ion requ i res grad uat ion from a bache lor's i n  

nu rs ing program which is nat iona l ly accredited/State 
Board approved .  Bache lor's degree i n  nu rs ing cons ists 
of about 122 cred it hours and about 600 hours of 
c l i n ica l experiences in d i rect pat ient ca re a reas ( l ong­
term ca re, subacute and acute ca re, i n-pat ient a nd 
out-pat ient sett i ngs, a nd commun ity) .  

N D PA 

Physic ia n Assista nt ( PA) : 
PAs a re med ica l  profess iona ls  who d iagnose i l l ness, deve lop 
a nd manage treatment p la ns, prescr ibe med icat ions, a nd 
often serve as a patient's princ ipa l  hea lthca re provider i n  
co l la borat ion with phys ic ians and  other hea l th  ca re prov iders .  

ND Boa rd of Med ic ine NDCC 43-17-02 (9 )  & NDAC 50-03-01-14: 
• Evidence of current certif icat ion by the Nat iona l  

Certify ing Comm iss ion of Physic ia n Assista nts ( NCCPA) 
• NCCPA req u i res recert ificat ion eve ry 2 yea rs and  re­

exam inat ion eve ry 10 yea rs .  
• M ust grad uate from a nat iona l ly accredited PA 

program to be e l ig ib le  for NCCPA certificat ion .  
• Comp lete FB I  crim ina l  h i story reco rd check 
• Renewa l of l i censure occurs a n nua l ly 

o 100 hours of cont i nu i ng ed ucat ion (CM E) 
req u i red every 2 yea rs ( req u i red i n  N DAC a nd 
fo r NCCPA ce rt ificat ion )  

Adm iss ion Req u i rements/Curricu l um i n  PA  ed ucat ion a re not 
defined i n  N DCC, the refo re the U N O  PA P rogram wil l be used 
as an exam ple :  

• Ad m iss ion req u i res a bache lor's  degree with c l i n ica l 
a nd sc ience based pre-requ is ite courses from a 
regiona l ly accred ited i nstitut ion with in  the Un ited 
States. Most Bache lor's degrees a re i n  the c l i n ica l or 
bas ic sc iences . Bache lor degrees a re typica l ly 120 
cred it hours m i n imum .  W :t'. -=- o,  • PA programs must be accred ited by the Accred itation .So\ _ 
Review Comm iss ion for PAs (ARC-PA) . -::::- � 

I----�-----+----------------------+-------------'-----'-------� � ( � 
Education ND Programs • 3 un ive rs it ies offe r graduate pre- l icensure programs • I n  N D, there is one PA progra m a nd it i s  a part of  the -, 
Continued for N Ps (4 Doctor of Nu rs ing Practice (DN P) ,  1 MSN ) :  School o f  Med ic ine and  Hea l t h  Sc iences at UNO .  

� o UNO :  DNP  for fam i ly nu rse practit ioner ( FNP) • Curri cu lum is at the graduate leve l and  students obta in ..J 
& adu lt-gero; MSN for Psych-menta l hea lth NP  a Master's  degree at comp letion .  c:B 

sV 



Attachment A 
N D  APRN and  PA Defi n it ion, Licensu re, Educat ion, a nd  P ractice 

0 N DSU :  D N P  fo r FNP .  
0 Un ive rsity of Ma ry: D N P  for FNP .  

Student • One N D  FNP  progra m reported yea rs of RN  experience • Students ente r ing the U N O  PA P rogram ave rage ove r 
experience of a ppl ica nts ra nged from 1 . 5-20.5 yea rs with a n  12,000 hours o f  pr ior  hea lthca re exper ience .  
prior to ave rage of 8 .7 yea rs .  • Most common previous  p rofess ions fo r PA students : 
matricu lation 0 Resp i rato ry thera p ists, pa ramed ics, m i l ita ry 

med ics, ath let ic t ra i ne rs, n u rses, rad io logy 
tech n ic ia ns, d iet ic ia ns, n u rse ass ista nts, 
physica l thera p ists, a nd  med ica l l a b  scient ists. 

Curricu lum • Adva nced hea lth assessment, adva nced • Foundat ion cou rses such as a natomy with rad io logy, 
pathophys io logy, adva nced pha rmaco logy.  physio logy and pathophys io logy, and pha rmaco logy. 

• C l i n ica l  cou rses with d i rect pat ient-ca re i nc l ude  • C l i n ica l med ic ine cou rses such as  pat ient a ssessment, 
com prehens ive and  p rob lem focused assessments, d iagnostic stud ies, p rima ry ca re med ic ine, emergency 
pathophysio logy, d iagnostics ( l a b, rad iogra ph ic, E KG med ic ine, genera l  su rgery, E KG i nte rpretat ion .  
i nterpretat ion ) ,  d iffe rent ia l d iagnoses, c l i n i ca l  • Cou rses re lat ing to PA p rofess iona l  p ractice and  ro le  
ma nagement, pha rmacologic/nonpha rm deve lopments. 
intervent ions .  

• Evidence-based practice, theory, ro le deve lopment, 
and  po l i cy/lega l/eth ics cou rses. 

Program • Number  of semeste rs fo r 5 of the 6 grad uate degrees • N u m ber  of semesters: 
Credits and (DNP ) :  0 24 months, 6 semeste rs, fu l l -t ime  
length 0 8 semeste rs • PA students a re not perm itted to work 

0 86 cred its outs ide of the i r  t ra i n ing fo r the 
• One MSN p rogram :  57 cred its ( 2  yea rs) d u rat ion of the PA program 

0 90 cred its 
Requ i red • C l i n ica l hou rs :  600-900 h rs fo r MSN;  1000 h rs fo r DNP  • C l i n ica l hou rs :  1800 hours of d i rect pat ient contact 
Cl inical Hours 

Practice • Practice acco rd ing to 43-12 . 1  N u rse P ractices Act, • The PA's scope of p ractice is determ ined at the 
N DAC 54-05-03 . 1  APRN Sta nda rd s  fo r pract ice, and p ractice leve l th ro ugh the credent ia l i ng and p riv i leg ing 
fac i l ity p rivi leg ing .  p rocess as  dete rm ined by their ed ucat ion a nd 

• Prescriptive a utho rity exper ience, and  a re req u i red to have a state-
• ATLS, PALS, ACLS as  app l ica b le  mandated supervisory agreement with a physic ia n .  

• P rescri ptive a utho rity 
• ATLS, PALS, ACLS a s  app l ica b le  

• 



Fal l  Year 1 I nstitute 3 days 
NUR 510  Healthcare Across the 

Pooutation 
NUR 5 1 9  Advanced 

Pathophysiology 
NUR 551 Critique and Design of 

Nursing Research 

NUR 586 Cl in ical Anatomy 

Semester Credit Hours 

Fal l  Year 2 I nstitute 5 .5 days 
NUR 582 Human Responses, 

C l in ical Decision 
Making and Diagnostic 
Testi nq 

NUR 620 Care of Women and 
Ch i ldren 

NUR 759 Primary Care Cl in ical 
(200 Clinical Hours) 

Semester Credit Hours 

Fal l  Year 3 

NUR 648 Healthcare Law and 
Policy 

NUR 850 Teach ing and Learn ing 
i n  Nurs ing 

NUR 859 Women and Ch i ldren 
C l in ical 
(150 Clinical Hours) 
or 

NUR 869 Special Popu lations 
C l in ical 
(150 Clinical Hours) 

NUR 930 DNP Project & Nu rs ing 
Scholarsh ip I l l  
(25 Leadershio Hours) 

Semester Credit Hours 

Attachment B 
F N P  Doctor of N u rs ing P rogra m Degree P l a n  

H-� 1 17 '5""  
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Spring Year 1 Summer Year 1 I nstitute 5 .5 days 
3 NUR 567 Advanced Health 4 NUR Pharmacology for 4 

Assessment 562 Advanced Practice 
4 NUR 569 Family Theory 2 NUR Common and Chronic 4 

589 Health Management 
3 NUR 584 Health Promotion and 3 NUR Resi l ient Nursing 4 

Cl in ical Prevention 6 1 4  Leadersh ip 
(80 Leadership 
Hours) 

3 NUR 601 EBP and Strategic 2 
Healthcare Decision 
Makina 

1 3cr Semester Credit Hours 1 1 cr Semester Credit Hours 1 2cr 

Spring Year 2 Summer Year 2 I nstitute 5 .5 days 
3 NUR 830 DNP Project & 7 NUR Professional Rotes in 3 

Nursing Scholarsh ip I 612 Advanced Nursing 
(75 Leadership 
Hours) 

4 NUR 837 Acute and Emergent 4 NUR DNP Project & 1 
Health Problems 840 Nursing Scholarsh ip I I  

(25 Leadership 
Hours) 

4 NUR Women and Chi ldren 3 
859 Cl in ical 

(150 Clinical Hours) 
or 
Special Popu lations 3 

NUR Cl in ical 
869 (150 Clinical Hours) 

1 1 cr Semester Credit Hours 1 1 cr Semester Credit Hours 7cr 

Spring Year 3 Institute 4 days January, 
4 days Apri l 

3 NUR 940 DNP Project & 3 
Nursing Scholarsh ip 
IV 
(75 Leadership 

Hours) 
3 NUR 960 Seminar and 8 

Practicum (400 
Clinical Hours) 

3 NUR 975 Program Competence 0 
Examination 

3 
Program Tota l Credit Hours :  

86 
1 HUM 999 Doctorate Studies 0 

Program Total C l in ical Assessment - Nursing 
Hours :  1 1 80 

1 0cr Semester Credit Hours 1 1 cr 



CHAPTER 54-05-03.1  

ADVANCED PRACTICE REGISTERED N U RSE 

Statement of Intent 
Board Authority - Title - Abbreviation 
Definitions [Repealed] 
Standards of Practice for the Advanced Practice Registered Nurse 
Scope of Practice as an Advanced Practice Registered Nurse 
Initial Requirements for Advanced Practice Registered Nurse Licensure 
Temporary Permit 
Requi rements for Advanced Practice Registered Nurse Licensure Renewal 
Reactivation of a License 
Scope of Practice 
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Section 
54-05-03.1-01 
54-05-03.1-02 
54-05-03.1-03 
54-05-03.1-03.1 
54-05-03.1-03.2 
54-05-03.1-04 
54-05-03.1-05 
54-05-03.1-06 
54-05-03.1-06.1 
54-05-03.1-06.2 
54-05-03.1-07 
54-05-03.1-08 
54-05-03.1-09 
54-05-03 .1-10 
54-05-03 .1-11 
54-05-03 .1-12 
54-05-03.1-13 
54-05-03.1-14 
54-05-03.1-15 

Disciplinary Action Against Advanced Practice Registered Nurse License [Repealed] 
Prescriptive Authority Review Committee [Repealed] 
Requirements for Prescriptive Authority 
Authority to Prescribe 
Prescriptive Authority Renewal 
Change in Physician Collaboration Regard ing Prescriptive Authority [Repealed] 
Suspension or Enjoining of Prescri ptive Authority 
Encumbered License [Repealed] 
Recognition at Effective Date 

54-05-03 .1 -01 . Statement of i ntent. 

The 1977 legislative assembly enacted legislation that recognized the performance of add itional 
acts to be performed by registered nurses practicing in expanded roles and gave the board of nursing 
the power to set standards for nurses practicing in specialized roles. From 1980 to 1991, the board 
licensed advanced practitioners in nursing as nurse clinicians, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse 
specialists, certified nurse midwives, and certified registered nurse anesthetists. The 1991 legislative 
assembly added prescriptive practices to the acts an advanced practice registered nurse may perform, 
if qualified. The 1995 legislative assembly further defined the educational requirements for the 
advanced practice registered nurse. 

The scope of practice for a registered nurse with advanced licensure is based upon an 
understand ing that a broad range of health care services can be appropriately and competently 
provided by a registered nurse with validated knowledge, skills, and abilities in specific practice areas. 
The health care needs of citizens in North Dakota requi re that nurses in advanced practice roles 
provide care to the fullest extent of their scope of practice. The advanced practice registered nurse 
retains the responsibility and accountability for that scope of practice and is ultimately accountable to 
the patient with in the Nurse Practices Act. 

The advanced practice registered nurse is responsible and accountable to practice accord ing to the 
standards of practice prescribed by the board and the profession. The purpose of the standards is: 

1. To establish practice parameters for safe nursing practice. 

2. To serve as a guide for the board to regulate the practice of the advanced practice registered 
nurse. 

History: Effective March 1, 1992 ; amended effective November 1, 1996; April 1, 2004. 
Genera l  Authority :  N DCC 43-12.1-08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43-12.1-02(1)(7) 

1 
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The board shal l  authorize advanced nursing practice to a reg istered nurse who has submitted 
evidence of advanced knowledge, ski l ls ,  and ab i l it ies in a defined area of nurs ing practice. Ind iv iduals 
are l icensed as advanced practice reg istered nurses in  the roles of certified nurse practitioner, certified 
reg istered nurse anesthetist, certified nurse m idwife ,  or certified cl in ical nurse special ist and in the 
popu lation foci of fami ly across the l ifespan ,  adu lt-gerontology, neonata l ,  ped iatrics , women's hea lth or 
gender related or psychiatric menta l  health . Each advanced practice registered nurse shal l  use the 
designation APRN and appl icable ro le designation for pu rposes of identification and documentation .  No 
person may use the advanced practice reg istered nurse (APRN) title plus the person's respective role 
title without the express authority of the board of nurs ing to do so. 

History:  Effective March 1 ,  1 992;  amended effective November 1 ,  1 996; Apri l 1 ,  201 1 ;  Apri l 1 ,  20 1 4 . 
General Authority : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Implemented : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08( 1 )  

54-05-03. 1 -03. Definitions. 

Repealed effective Apri l 1 ,  2004 .  

54-05-03. 1 -03. 1 .  Standards of practice for the advanced practice reg istered nurse. 

The standards of practice for the reg istered nurse found in chapter 54-05-02 are the core standards 
of practice for a l l  categories of advanced practice reg istered nurses. The advanced practice reg istered 
nurse has evolved into the ro les of certified nurse practit ioner, certified reg istered nurse anesthetist, 
certified nurse m idwife , or certified c l in ica l  nurse specia l ist. 

The advanced practice reg istered nurse functions in  any sett ing as a member of the 
interd iscip l inary team and provides care to the fu l lest extent of the scope of practice wh ich i ncludes : 

1 .  Complete the assessment of the health status and health needs based on interpretation of 
hea lth-related data and preventive health practices ; 

2 .  Ana lyze mu lt iple sources of  data , identify a lternative poss ib i l it ies as  to  the nature of a hea lth 
care problem and select appropriate treatment; 

3. Coord inate human and material resources for the provis ion of care ;  

4 .  Ma inta i n  accountab i l ity and responsib i l ity for the qua l ity of nurs ing care provided ; and 

5. Col laborate with the i nterd iscipl i nary team .  

History:  Effective November 1 ,  1 996 ; amended effective Apri l 1 ,  2004 ; March 24 , 2004 ; Apri l 1 ,  20 1 4 . 
General  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Implemented : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08( 1 ) 

54-05-03. 1 -03.2. Scope of practice as an advanced practice reg istered nurse. 

The scope of practice must be consistent with the nurs ing education and advanced practice 
certification .  

1 .  Practice as an advanced practice reg istered nurse may include: 

a .  Perform a comprehensive assessment of cl ients and synthesize and analyze data with in  
a nurs ing framework; 

b. Identify, develop, plan ,  and mainta in  evidence-based , cl ient-centered nurs ing care ;  

2 
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c. Prescribe a therapeutic reg imen of hea lth care ,  inc lud ing d iag nos ing , prescrib ing ,  

admin istering ,  and d ispensing legend d rugs and contro l led substances ; 

d .  Eva luate prescribed health care reg imen ; 

e .  Assign and delegate nursing intervent ions that may be performed by others; 

f. Promote a safe and therapeutic environment; 

g .  Provide hea lth teach ing and counsel ing to promote , atta i n ,  and mainta in  the optimum 
health level of  c l ients; 

h .  Commun icate a n d  col laborate with the i nterd iscip l inary team in  the management of 
health care and the implementation of the total hea lth care reg imen ; 

i .  Manage a n d  evaluate the clients' physical a n d  psychosocial hea lth- i l l ness status; 

j . Manage ,  superv ise ,  and eva luate the practice of nu rs ing ;  

k .  Uti l ize evolv ing cl ient information management systems;  

I .  I ntegrate qua l ity improvement pri nciples i n  the del ivery and evaluat ion of cl ient care ;  

m .  Teach the theory a n d  practice of nu rs ing ;  

n .  Ana lyze,  synthesize , and apply research outcomes in  practice ;  and 

o.  I ntegrate the princ iples of research in  practice . 

2 .  Notwithstand ing the above, a l l  services rendered by the l icensee shal l  be commensurate with 
the academic preparatio n ,  knowledge ,  ski l l s ,  and ab i l it ies of the advanced practice l icensed 
nu rse's experience, continu ing education , and demonstrated competencies. The nurse must 
recogn ize i nd iv idua l  l im its of knowledge, sk i l ls ,  and ab i l it ies and plan for situations beyond the 
l icensee's expert ise. 

History : Effective Apri l  1 ,  2004 ;  a mended effective March 24 , 2004; Ju ly 1 ,  2008 ; Apri l 1 ,  20 1 4 . 
Genera l  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08( 1 ) 

54-05-03.1 -04. I n it ial  req u i rements for advanced practice reg istered nurse l icensure. 

Appl icants for advanced practice reg istered nurse l icensure must: 

1 .  Possess a current l icense to practice as a reg istered nurse in  North Dakota or i n  a compact 
state ; 

2 .  Subm it evidence o f  completion of an accred ited g raduate level advanced practice reg istered 
nu rse program in one of the four  roles and with at least one popu lation focus;  

3 .  Subm it evidence o f  current certificat ion b y  a nationa l  nu rs ing certifying body i n  the advanced 
practice reg istered nu rse role and populat ion foci appropriate to educationa l  preparation .  
Primary sou rce verificat ion of  certification is requ i red ; 

4 .  Not have an encumbered l icense o r  privi lege to practice i n  any state o r  territory; 

5 .  Submit a completed notarized appl ication and pay the fee of one hundred dol lars; 

6. Certify that scope of practice is consistent with their nu rs ing education and nurs ing 
certifi cation ; and  

3 
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7 .  After December 3 1 , 20 1 5 , a l l  appl icants for advanced pract ice reg istered nurse l icensure must 
meet the l icensure requ i rements in  th is chapter. 

History: Effective March 1 ,  1 992 ; amended effective November 1 ,  1 996 ;  December 1 ,  1 997 ;  June 1 ,  
2001 ; Apri l 1 ,  2004 ; Ju ly 1 ,  2008 ; Apr i l  1 ,  20 1 1 ;  Apri l 1 ,  20 1 4 .  
General  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Implemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -09(2)(c) (d) 

54-05-03.1 -05. Tem porary perm it. 

An appl icant for advanced l icensure who possesses a cu rrent reg istered nu rse l icense, and has 
submitted a complete appl ication ,  the requ i red fee ,  and evidence of meet ing a l l  educationa l  
requ i rements, may be issued a n inety-day temporary advanced practice reg istered nurse perm it for 
practice in  an  advanced practice reg istered nurse category if the app l icant: 

1 .  I s  applying for l icensure under section 54-05-03. 1 -04 ; 

2 .  Has appl ied a s  a fi rst-t ime cand idate to the next nationa l  nu rs ing certification  examinat ion for 
the advanced practice reg istered nurse category; 

3 .  I s  awa it ing certification resu lts based upon in it ial app l ication ; o r  

4 .  Temporary permit wi l l  not inc lude prescriptive authority. 

History : Effective March 1 ,  1 992 ; amended effective November 1 ,  1 996 ;  Apri l  1 ,  20 1 1 .  
General  Authority :  N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -09(2)(c)(d) 

54-05-03. 1 -06. Req u i rements for advanced practice reg istered n u rse l icens u re renewal .  

The advanced practice reg istered nurse l icense is val id for the same period of t ime as the 
appl icant's reg istered nurse l icense. Appl icants for renewa l of the advanced practice reg istered nurse 
l icense must possess a cu rrent l icense to practice as a reg istered nu rse in North Dakota or in a 
compact state and must comply with the fo l lowing :  

1 .  Complete the advanced practice reg istered nurse l icense renewal appl ication ; 

2 .  Pay an advanced practice reg istered nurse l icensure renewa l fee of forty do l lars ;  and 

3 .  Submit evidence of current nationa l  certificat ion i n  the appropr iate advanced practice 
reg istered nurse role and with at least one popu lat ion focus ,  or part ic ipate in  a competence 
maintenance prog ram recogn ized by the board .  

Any ind ividua l  ho ld ing a l icense to pract ice nursing a s  a n  advanced practice l icensee i n  th is state that is 
val id on December 3 1 , 201 5 ,  shal l be deemed to be l icensed as an  advanced practice reg istered nurse 
under the provis ions of th is chapter with the indiv idual 's current priv i leges and sha l l  be e l ig ib le for 
renewal of such l icense under the cond itions and standards prescribed i n  th is chapter. 

History : Effective March 1 ,  1 992 ; amended effective November 1 ,  1 996 ;  June 1 ,  200 1 ; Apri l 1 ,  2004 ;  
Apri l  1 ,  201 1 ;  Apri l  1 ,  20 1 4 . 
General  Authority : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 - 1 0( 1 )  

54-05-03. 1 -06. 1 . Reactivation of a l icense. 

An advanced practice reg istered nurse previously l icensed i n  North Dakota who appl ies for 
reactivat ion of APRN on ly must meet board requ i rements and i nc ludes the fol lowing :  

4 
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1 .  Complete the appl ication and submit to a crim ina l  h istory record check accord ing to section 
54-02- 1 2-0 1 ; 

2 .  Pay  the  nonrefu ndable renewal fee and  th i rty dol lar  reactivat ion fee;  and  

3 .  Meet the requ i rements i n  sect ion 54-02-05-05 . 1 ,  practice requ i rements for l icense renewal ,  
sect ion 54-02-05-08 ,  continu ing education requ i rement for l icense renewal and section 
54-05-03 . 1 -06 requ i rements for advanced practice reg istered nurse l icensure renewal ;  or 

4. Submit other evidence the appl icant wishes to submit wh ich would provide proof of nu rs ing 
competence acceptable to the board . 

History :  Effective J u ly 1 ,  2008 
Genera l  Authority : N DCC 1 2-60-24 .2(0) , 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -09. 1 ,  43- 1 2 . 1 - 1 0( 1 ) 

54-05-03 . 1 -06.2.  Scope of practice. 

The scope of practice of the advanced practice registered nurse must be consistent with the 
nurs ing education and nu rs ing certification .  

History : Effective Apri l  1 ,  20 1 1 ;  amended effective Apri l  1 ,  20 1 4 . 
Genera l  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 - 1 0( 1 ) 

54-05-03.1 -07. Discip l inary action agai nst advanced practice reg istered nurse l icense. 

Repealed effective Apri l 1 ,  2004. 

54-05-03. 1 -08. Prescri ptive authority review comm ittee. Repealed effective October 1 ,  201 1 .  

54-05-03. 1 -09. Req u i rements for prescriptive authority. 

Appl icants for prescri ptive authority sha l l :  

1 .  Be currently l icensed as an advanced practice reg istered nurse in  North Dakota . 

2 .  Submit a complete , notarized prescri ptive authority appl ication and  pay the fee of  fifty dol lars .  

3 .  Submit a completed transcript with degree posted from an accred ited graduate leve l advanced 
practice reg istered nurse program and wh ich i ncludes evidence of completion of advanced 
pharmacotherapy, physical assessment, and pathophysio logy. 

4 .  Provide evidence of completion o f  th irty contact hours of education or  equivalent in  
pharmacotherapy related to the appl icant's scope of  advanced practice that: 

a .  Have been obta ined with in  a th ree-year period of t ime immediately pr ior to the date of 
app l ication  for prescriptive authority; or 

b .  May otherwise be  approved by  the  board .  

History: Effective March 1 ,  1 992 ;  amended effective November 1 ,  1 996;  December 1 ,  1 997;  Apri l 1 ,  
2004 ; March 24,  2004 ; Apr i l  1 ,  20 1 1 ;  October 1 ,  201 1 .  
Genera l  Authority :  N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -02(7) ,  43- 1 2 . 1 -09(2)(c) (d) 

5 
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The advanced practice reg istered nurse plans and in itiates a therapeutic reg imen that includes 
order ing and prescrib ing med ical devices and equ ipment, n utrit ion , d iagnostic and supportive services 
inc lud ing home health care ,  hospice, and physical and occupationa l  therapy. 

1 .  A permanent advanced practice reg istered nurse l icense with the add it ion of prescriptive 
authority shal l  be issued upon meeting al l  requ i rements . 

2 .  The advanced practice reg istered nu rse with prescriptive authority may  prescri be d rugs as  
defi ned by  chapter 43- 1 5-0 1 pursuant to appl icable state and  federal laws . 

3 .  A prescriptive authority advanced practice reg istered nu rse l i cense does not inc lude d rug 
enforcement admin istrat ion authority for prescr ib ing contro l led substances . Each l icensee 
must apply for and receive a d rug enforcement admin istration number before writ ing 
prescript ions for control led substances . 

4 .  An  advanced practice reg istered nu rse with prescriptive authority who prescribes contro l led 
substances has access to the North Dakota prescri ption d rug mon itor ing prog ram and sha l l  
uti l ize the prescription d rug mon itoring program in  the fo l lowing manner :  

a .  Sha l l  eva luate a prescription  d rug monitoring program report for a c l ient i n  the fo l lowing 
s ituations :  

( 1 ) New or unestabl ished cl ient requ i ring prescription for contro l led substance ;  

(2) Every six months du ring treatment of cl ient with a control led substance; 

(3) Cl ient requests ear ly refi l ls or engages i n  a pattern of tak ing more than prescri bed 
dosage;  and 

(4) Upon suspic ion or known d rug overuse, d ivers ion , or abuse by c l ient .  

b .  Sha l l  document eva luat ion of the prescript ion d rug mon itor ing program reports made 
under th is  rule. 

c. May evaluate the prescri ption d rug monitoring program report in the fol lowing situations :  

( 1 ) Long-term care settings ;  

(2) Control led sett ings in  wh ich control led substances are locked and admin istered to 
cl ient; 

(3) Treatment of cl ient with term ina l  i l lness, cancer, or  cancer-related d isorders ;  and 

(4) Hospice or pal l iative care sett ings. 

5 .  The l icensee may prescribe, admin ister, s ign for, d ispense over-the-counter, legend ,  and 
contro l led substances, and procure pharmaceutica ls ,  inc lud ing samples fol lowing state and 
federal regu lations.  

6 .  The s ignature on documents related to prescriptive practices must clearly i nd icate that the 
l icensee is an advanced practice reg istered nurse. 

7 .  The advanced practice reg istered nurse with prescriptive authority may  not prescribe , sel l ,  
admin ister, d istribute , or g ive t o  oneself o r  to one's spouse or  ch i ld a n y  d rug lega l ly classified 
as a control led substance or recogn ized as an addictive or  dangerous d rug . 
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8 .  Notwithstand ing any other provision , a practit ioner who d iagnoses a sexual ly transmitted 
d isease, such as chlamyd ia ,  gonorrhea , or any other sexual ly transmitted infection ,  in an 
i nd iv idua l  patient may prescribe or d ispense, and a pharmacist may d ispense, prescription 
ant ib iotic d rugs to that patient's sexual partner or partners, without there having been an 
examinat ion of that patient's sexual  partner or  partners. 

History: Effective March 1 ,  1 992 ; amended effective November 1 ,  1 996;  Apri l  1 ,  2004 ; January 1 ,  
2009 ; Apri l  1 ,  20 1 1 ;  Apri l  1 ,  20 1 4 ; October 1 ,  20 1 6 . 
Genera l  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08( 1 )  

54-05-03 . 1 -1 1 .  Prescriptive authority renewal.  

Prescriptive authority is val id for the same period of t ime as the appl icant's advanced practice 
reg istered nu rse and reg istered nurse l icense. The appl icant for renewal must :  

1 .  Renew the app l icant's reg istered nu rse l icense. 

2 .  Submit verification of current certificat ion by a nationa l  nurs ing certificat ion body i n  the specific 
area of nu rs ing practice. 

3 .  Submit a completed advanced practice reg istered nu rse with prescriptive authority renewa l 
appl ication .  

4 .  Pay the advanced practice reg istered nurse renewal fee of forty do l lars a n d  the fifty dol lar 
renewal fee for prescriptive authority. 

5 .  Provide evidence of  completion of fifteen contact hours o f  education du ring the previous two 
years i n  pharmacotherapy related to the scope of practice. These contact hours may fu lfi l l  the 
reg istered nu rse renewal continu ing education requ i rement. The education or its equ ivalent as 
approved by the board may include academic cred its , attendance at approved seminars and 
cou rses , or participation in  approved correspondence or home study conti nu ing education 
cou rses. 

History: Effective March 1 ,  1 992;  amended effective November 1 ,  1 996; J une 1 ,  200 1 ; Apr i l  1 ,  2004 ; 
March 24 , 2004 ; Apri l  1 ,  20 1 1 .  
General  Authority : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Im plemented : N DCC 43- 1 2 . 1 - 1 0( 1 )  

54-05-03 .1 -1 2. Change i n  physic ian collaboration regard ing prescriptive authority. 

Repealed effective October 1 ,  20 1 1 .  

54-05-03 . 1 -1 3.  Suspension or enjo in ing of prescriptive authority. 

The prescriptive authority granted to an advanced practice reg istered nu rse may be temporari ly 
suspended or  enjo ined accord ing to provis ions of North Dakota Century Code chapters 28-32 and 
32-06 , when the advanced practice reg istered nurse has: 

1 .  Fa i led to ma inta in current l icensure as an advanced practice reg istered nurse or  fa i led to meet 
prescriptive authority requ i rements; 

2 .  Prescribed outside the scope of practice or for other than therapeutic purposes; 

3 .  Violated any state or federal law or  regu lation appl icable to prescriptions ;  or  
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Fol lowing fina l  board act ion notice of suspension or injunctive action regard ing prescriptive authority wi l l  
be forwarded to the board of pharmacy. 

History:  Effective March 1 ,  1 992;  amended effective November 1 ,  1 996; October 1 ,  201 1 .  
General Authority :  NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Implemented : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 - 1 0( 1 ) 

54-05-03. 1 -1 4. Encum bered l icense. 

Repealed effective Apri l  1 ,  2004 .  

54-05-03. 1 -1 5. Recognition at effective date. 

Any reg istered nurse with an advanced l icense as a nurse practit ioner, c l in ical nurse special ist, 
nurse m idwife ,  or certified reg istered nurse anesthetist on November 1 ,  1 996 , must continue to be 
recogn ized as an advanced practice reg istered nurse, and is el ig ible for renewal of the advanced 
practice reg istered nurse l icense under the provis ion of this title .  These rules may not be construed to 
l im it or restrict the advanced practice reg istered nurse's scope of practice statement previously 
approved by the board .  

History:  Effective March 1 ,  1 992;  amended effective November 1 ,  1 996; Apri l 1 ,  20 1 4 . 
General Authority : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
Law Implemented : NDCC 43- 1 2 . 1 -08 
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Cha i r  Senator  Lee a n d  m e m bers of the Senate H uman  Services Com m ittee .  My n ame  i s  Car la  Ba rr ios and  
I a m  a Rad io log ist Ass ista nt ( RA) work ing i n  ND .  Th is  i s  to express my s uppo rt fo r the b i l l  H B 1 175, with 
the adopted amendment rega rd ing med i ca l  image gu ided  exa m i nat ions  a n d  p roced u res that pa ssed the 
House Cham be r  92-0 do  pass vote .  

To become a RA,  I a tte nded a Maste rs leve l grad uate p rogra m spec ific to perfo rm i ng med i ca l  image 
gu ided exams  a n d  p roced u res .  I t  i s  a 24 month progra m of ed ucat ion a l  a n d  c l i n i ca l req u i rements s im i l a r  
t o  PA  p rogra ms  fo r A l l i ed  Hea lth p rofess iona ls, except the t ra i n i ng, ed ucat ion  a n d  c l i n i ca l req u i rements 
a re spec ific to the med i ca l  imag i ng profess ion .  In fact, d ue to the su bspec ia l ty of the p rogram,  on ly a 
Rad i o log ic  Techno log ist with BSRT degree and exper ience a re q u a l ified to a pp ly  a nd  e nte r these 
gra d uate p rogra ms .  These p rogra ms  i nc l ude  req u i rements of ded icated t ime spent  d i rect ly with a 
rad io l og ist that  i s  e q u iva l ent to 2500-3000 hou rs wo rki ng with a rad i o log ist to perfo rm image gu ided 
procedu res a nd exa m i nat ions .  Fo l lowing my com p let ion of the program,  I was req u i red  to pass a 
nat ion a l  boa rd exa m i nat ion  from the acc red it i ng body to atta i n  ce rt ifi cat ion as  a RA. 

As a work ing RA, I need to be l i censed by the state N D M I RT boa rd a l so to perfo rm imaged gu ided 
proced u res a nd exa m i nat io n .  I have to atta i n  50 hou rs of cont i n u i ng ed ucat ion spec ifi c  to rad io logy and  
image gu ided  pe rfo rma nce sta nda rds  eve ry two yea rs w i t h  req u i red re-exa m i nat ion  o f  nat io na l  board 
exa m i nat ion  eve ry 10 yea rs to ma i nta i n  my profess iona l l i cense .  A l l  of these req u i rements a re to ensu re 
the safety, d iagnos i s  a n d  treatment of the pat ie nts who need to have these spec i a l i zed image gu ided 
procedu res that  m a ny t imes expose pat ients to l a rge amounts of i on i z i ng  rad iat io n .  

Eve n with t h e  vast expe r ience pr ior, d u ri ng  a nd  post RA  grad uate p rogra ms, RA's a re exp l i c it ly fo rb idden 
to i nterpret fi n a l  reports of med ica l  image gu ided p rocedu res and exa m i nat ions .  RA' s a l so have to be 
under  the "gene ra l  s u pe rv is ion" of a physic ia n d u ri ng  the i r  emp loyment  to en su re the  safety and 
efficacy of p roced u res  that  a re perfo rmed .  The nat ion a l  scope of p ract ice a long with the state l i cens ing 
boa rd, N D M I RT, exp l i c i t ly state i nterpretat ion i s  not a l lowed . I nte rpretat ion  of med ica l  imag ing  is the 
so le  respons i b i l ity of a Rad io logist .  The broad l a nguage wit h i n  the H B 1 175  b i l l  i s  concern i ng  beca use not 
o n ly shou l d  a scope of p ra ct ice express what a l l  a hea l th  ca re p rov ider  ca n do,  somet imes i t  is just as 
i m po rtant  to e n s u re ce rta i n  p rocedu res a re spec ifi ca l ly exc l uded  to en su re pat ient safety and hea lth 
ca re i s  perfo rmed  by i n d iv id ua l s  whose t ra i n i ng a nd  educat ion  spec ia l l y  i n c l uded  the perfo rma nce of 
those exa m i n at ions .  

PA p rogram s  do  not p rovide the i n -depth ed ucat ion ,  c l i n i ca l req u i rements o r  exte ns ive exper ience i n  
Rad io logy t h e  RA  p rograms  provide .  PA  programs  a re ma i n ly p rima ry ca re a nd  many d iffe ri ng  a l l i ed 
hea lth p rofess io n a l s  a re a l lowed to a pp ly and atte nd .  M a ny of these p rima ry ca re hea l th  p rofess iona l s  
have had  no expe r ie nce w i th  the spec i a l ized a rea of Rad i o l ogy, no r  do they ach ieve the exper ience i n  
the PA  p rogra m s  fo r a ny equ iva le nc ies to  t he  RA  p rogra ms .  No r  do  the i r  o ngo i ng cont i n u i ng ed ucat io n 
have med i ca l  i mag ing  req u i rements .  

The med i ca l  i n d ustry i s  consta nt ly cha nging with p rofess iona l s  need i ng  to p rov ide and treat i ncreas ing 
n u m be r  of pat ie nts a t  a t ime when re imbu rsement is gett ing d iffi cu l t .  We need to have a l l  m id  leve l 
p rofess io na l s  to meet  these i ncreas ing demands .  But, we need to en su re pat ient  safety, p roper  
d iagnos i s  and t reatme nt is perfo rmed by qua l ified i n d iv i dua l s .  These m i d  l eve l g raduate p rograms do 
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not cove r a l l  aspects of the  med ica l profession wh ich is why we a l so have spec ia l ity g ra d uate p rograms 
to meet the needs of the  pat ients and the i nd ustry .  

Respectfu l ly, 

Ca r la Ba rr ios M S  R RA, RPA, BSRT ( R ) (M )  
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